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Corporate Profile
ANiliivly

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in purchasing, processing,
designing, production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery
products and operation of strategic investment and financial services, with the
objective to include investments in real estate agency business and real estate
investment funds and other potential investment opportunities.

The Company was spun-off from Man Sang International Limited and listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange’) by way of introduction on 17 October 2014 under the stock code
of 1466. In March 2017, the name of the Company was changed from Man
Sang Jewellery Holdings Limited to Affluent Partners Holdings Limited.

The Group is one of the world’s largest merchants, purchasers and processors
of pearls. The processing and production of pearls and jewellery are conducted
at the Group's production facilities in Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC").

During the current financial year, the Group has maintained its investment in
the co-working space industry which are included in the strategic investment
and financial services operating segment.

The Group will continue to explore new business opportunities so arising in
order to maximise shareholders’ value in the coming future.
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Year ended 31 March
BE3AMALEE

Consolidated Income Statement  ZHRE&WFH XK 2021 2020 Change

202145 2020 4F ZE) %
Revenue (HK$'000) WA (FET) 43,324 111,978 (68,654) 613)
Gross (loss)/profit (HK$'000) (FE8) /=M (FTBT) (8,623) 28,549 (37,172) (130.2)
Loss before income tax (HK$'000) BRETISHIRIEE (F45T) (52,077) (280,402) 228,325 814
Loss for the year attributable to REZ 2 ARRARRE

equity holders of the Company FEIEEE (FABT)

(HK$'000) (51,785) (281,822) 230,037 816
Basic and diluted loss per share FREARNEEEE (Restated)

(HKS) (BIT) (&EF)

(0.23) (1.55) 132 852
As at 31 March
M3A31H8
Consolidated Balance Sheet GEEEARER 2021 2020 Change
202145 20204F #E) %
Net assets (HK$'000) BEFE(TAT) 45,945 85,132 (39,187) (46.0)
Cash and cash equivalents Be RERRE (FHT)

(HK$'000) 24,424 34,491 (10,067) (29.2)
Shareholders’ equity (HK$'000) R (FAT) 45,945 85,132 (39,187) (46.0)
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS TR B LR

2021 2020 Change
20215 2020 FF k=)
Gross (loss) profit margin® (FEXR)EREO (19.9)% 25.5% (45.4)
percentage points
@sHEE DI
Return on equity® fRERE S EH (112.7)% (331.0)% 2183
percentage points
2183 & B 72
Current ratio (times)® TRENLL R (fF) e 2.0 2.1
Gearing ratio® BRBELEXR® 0.65 036

(1) Gross profit margin represents gross profit divided by revenue of the Group.

(1) ENEEAREENRALA

) Return on equity is defined as the ratio of loss attributable to equity holders of the Company ~ (2) KREESEHRATE AN BREEGEBRUAR

to total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company.

(3) Current ratio is defined as the ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities.

BIRREGEER LK -

Q) RBLERER/RBDEELERUARBABRRL
-

(@) Gearing ratio represents total borrowing, including current and non-current portion, divided ~ (4) BRAGBHEEEERE(BERDRIEREDIH)

by total equity.
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Chairman’s Statement
Ry

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), | hereby
present the results of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021 ("FY21").

PERFORMANCE

Since January 2020, many countries have imposed travel restrictions, public
health measures and quarantine requirement of travellers in order to contain
the outbreak of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) (the “Outbreak”) which
resulted in the weakened consumer sentiment in the world which reduced the
total Group's sales contribution in pearl and jewellery products. While the
Outbreak is yet stable, we expect that the revenue from pearls and jewellery
business will continue to further deteriorate. The Group will continue to
observe the high-consumption products market, to review and adjust business
development strategies in a timely manner and deploy cost control measures
in a bid to deploy for steady performance in the future.

As the Group had recognised the impairment loss of its investment in the co-
working spaces (“Campfire Group”) during last year, the Group further
derecognised the investment in Campfire Group as investment in associate
and recognised the investment as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income during FY21.

The Group, having considered the property market of the United Kingdom
after Brexit and having regard to the outlook of global economy under the
Outbreak, has endorsed the rescission of the sale and purchase agreement in
respect of the UK property invested by the Sub-Fund and the release of the
Company'’s obligation in respect of the guarantee on the sale and purchase
agreement. As a result, the Group has no remaining capital commitment to the
Sub-Fund subsequent to the balance sheet date and the Group has recognised
the impairment loss of its investment in the Sub-Fund during FY21.
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PROSPECTS

Looking forward, with the real estate investment business and the co-working
space industry, our targets are the countries along the Eurasia. We anticipate
that the Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment will diversify the
income streams of the Group, and generate additional investment returns on
the available funds of the Company from time to time. We expect that the
segment will be the growth driver of the Company and will actively make
continuous efforts to find appropriate investment projects in the future.

The Group will further use its resources as a listed company to add value for
the acquisition project to increase its profitability and return. Meanwhile, the
Group will continue enhancing the development of the mature pearls and
jewellery business, actively participating in various important jewellery & gem
fairs around the world and optimising operation efficiency and productivity in
a bid to stay competitive.

With the existing Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment, the
Group will focus its investments and operations more in the real estate, co-
working spaces and investment and asset management sectors especially in
Europe and Asia.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to all our
shareholders, customers and other business partners for their long-term
attention and support to the Group over the years. | would also like to thank
the senior management team and all the staffs of the Group for their
dedication, hard work and contributions to the Group during the past year.

Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o L o i S o3 A

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The Board hereby reports the results of the Company and the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021 (“FY21"). During FY21, the consolidated loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company was HK$51.8 million (year ended
31 March 2020 ("FY20"): HK$281.8 million), representing a substantial decrease
of 81.6% as compared with that in FY20. Basic loss per share was HK$0.23 (FY20:
HKS$1.55 (as restated)), representing a substantial decrease of 85.2% as
compared with that in FY20 mainly due to the absence of impairment losses
on investments in associates and the loss on disposals of property, plant and
equipment and the decrease in fair value loss on unlisted property fund in
FY21.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Pearls and Jewellery Business Segment

The Group is one of the world’s largest merchants, purchasers and processors
of pearls, with its customers spanning through 50 countries and regions
around the globe. Leveraging its own competitive advantages, which include
the close and stable relationship with customers and suppliers, the Group has
offered vertically integrated product chain and built a renowned reputation in
the pearl and jewellery industry.

The global market sentiment for pearl and fine jewellery continued to be very
weak during the year which had an adverse impact on demand of the Group's
pearl and jewellery products. Since January 2020, many countries have
imposed travel restrictions, public health measures and quarantine
requirement of travellers in order to contain the Outbreak which resulted in the
weakened consumer sentiment all over the world which substantially reduced
the total Group's sales contribution pearl and jewellery products (FY21: 41.2
million; FY20: HK$109.8 million). For FY21, the return on capital of pearls and
jewellery products was (57.0) % (FY20: (24.7)%).

The Group will continue to strictly control costs and improve operation
efficiency and productivity in a bid to stay competitive. The Group will continue
to actively participate in various important jewellery and gem fairs around the
world when the Outbreak is stable in order to maintain its diversified customer
base.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment

During FY21, the Group maintained the real estate investment business
through the Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment. This
segment has been in operation and its objectives include investments in real
estate agency business, real estate investment funds and co-working space
industry as well as other potential investment opportunities.

On 22 February 2018, the Group entered into a subscription agreement with
Orient Capital Opportunity Fund SPC (the “Investment Fund") pursuant to
which the Group has agreed to subscribe for participating shares of the value
equivalent to HK$76 million in the Investment Fund in respect of the Orient
Capital Real Estate Fund SP (the “Sub-Fund”) in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the subscription agreement and the private placing
memorandum. The principal investment objective of the Sub-Fund is to
achieve capital returns by investing solely in a residential estate project (the
"Project’) in West London. As at 31 March 2021, the Group has contributed
HKS$41.8 million to the Sub-Fund.

Upon negotiations between the vendor of the Project (the “Vendor”) and the
Investment Fund, the Vendor has expressed its agreement to (i) rescind the
sale and purchase agreement of the Property (the “SPA”") and release the
purchaser, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Sub-Fund, (the “Purchaser”) from
all its liabilities and obligations under the SPA; and (ii) release the guarantors
(including the Company) from their liabilities and obligations in respect of the
guarantee (collectively, the “Rescission and Release”) whereas the deposit
and instalments will be forfeited in favour of the Vendor (the “Forfeiture”).

The Company, having considered the property market of the United Kingdom
after Brexit, having regard to the outlook of global economy under the
continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the opportunity of the
Group to be released and discharged from its onerous obligations of making
further payments in the aggregate amount of approximately HK$34.2 million
for a property project with major risks and uncertainties associated with it, has
endorsed the Rescission and Release and the Forfeiture.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Company has been informed by the
Investment Fund that the Rescission and Release has become effective
pursuant to a rescission agreement entered into between the Vendor and the
Purchaser and a deed of release given by the Vendor in favour of the Company.
During FY21, the Group further recognised a fair value loss on the investment
in the Sub-Fund amounting to approximately HK$4.7 million.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 22 February 2018, 2
March 2018 and 14 May 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o B ) i S o0 AT

On 10 June 2019, the Group and the vendors entered into the sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the vendors have agreed to sell and
the Group had conditionally agreed to acquire the sale shares (“Acquisition”),
representing 30% of the issued share capital of Guardian City Limited (the
“Guardian City"), at the total consideration of HK$176,005,000 (the “Total
Consideration”). The Total Consideration shall be HK$176,005,000 which shall
be satisfied by the Group by (i) cash in the sum of HK$10,000,000 and (ii)
procure the allotment and issuance of 153,000,000 consideration Shares at the
issue price of HK$1.085 per consideration Share by the Company to the
vendors upon the completion. On 25 June 2019, the consideration Shares were
allotted and issued to the vendors under the general mandate approved by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28
September 2018. At the completion, the Group, the vendor 1 and the vendor 2
were interested in 30.0%, 20.4% and 14.4% equity interests in Guardian City
respectively. As such, Guardian City became an associate of the Company.
Guardian City is principally engaged in investment holding which holds 62.55%
equity interest in Campfire Holdings Company Limited (“Campfire Holdings").
Campfire Holdings is principally engaged in investment holding and Campfire
Holdings and its subsidiaries (“Campfire Group”) are principally engaged in
the operation of co-working spaces in Hong Kong under the Campfire brand.
Details of the Acquisition were disclosed in the announcements made by the
Company on 28 May 2019, 10 June 2019 and 25 June 2019.

Since June 2019, the social movement has been dampening the economic
activities in Hong Kong. The business operating environment in Hong Kong
became uncertain and challenging, as well as weaker consumer sentiment,
decline of visitor arrivals from mainland China to Hong Kong. As a result, the
clients of Campfire Group have been affected significantly and it attributed to
the decline of the demand of co-working spaces of Campfire Group. In
addition, since the Outbreak in January 2020, the travel restrictions, public
health measures and quarantine requirement of travellers which were imposed
by Hong Kong government and other countries have adversely affected the
operation of Campfire Group, which has in turn affected the demand of co-
working space, as well as the average rental income of co-working space. In
order to reduce losses and maintain the business of Campfire Group, the
management of the Campfire Group has downsized the co-working space
network in Hong Kong. As a result, Campfire Group has closed down 11 out of
the 13 sites in Hong Kong and the Group has recognised the impairment loss
of investment in Guardian City of approximately HK$147,391,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2020 based on the above assessment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During FY21, the Group has derecognised the investment in Campfire Group
as investment in associate and recognised the investment as financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income.

Looking forward, with the completion of the loan notes, its subsequent real
estate agency business and the investment in the co-working space industry,
we expect that our strategic investment and financial services segment will
diversify the income streams of the Group and generate additional investment
returns on the available funds of the Company from time to time. In view of
the recent market downturns and the uncertainty in Brexit, we considered to
minimise our investments in the United Kingdom. We expect that the segment
will be one of the growth drivers of the Company in the future and we will
make continuous efforts to find appropriate investment projects. The Group
will further use its resources as a listed company to add value for the
acquisition projects, so as to increase its profitability and return.

PROVISION OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO AN
AFFILTIATED COMPANY

On 1 August 2019, Thriving Oasis Limited (the “Lender”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Campfire Holdings, entered into the loan
agreement (the “‘Loan Agreement”). Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the
Lender has agreed to grant the loan (the “Loan”) in the principal amount of up
to HK$25,000,000 at the interest rate of 15% per annum to Campfire Holdings
for the period of 12 months from the drawdown date to the final repayment
date subject to the terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement. From 1
August 2019 up to the balance sheet date, no amount of the Loan was utilised.
For more details of the Loan Agreement, please refer to the Company's
announcement dated 1 August 2019.

MAJOR TRANSACTION — DISPOSAL OF
PROPERTY

In March 2018, the Group entered into an acquisition agreement in relation to
the acquisition of the sale shares and sale loan of Summit Pacific Group Limited
("Summit Pacific’) at the consideration of HK$70 million in cash. Summit
Pacific held a property (the “Property”) with a saleable area of approximately
2,567 sq. ft. located in Wanchai, Hong Kong. The acquisition, the terms of which
were amended by a supplemental agreement entered into by the parties on
19 April 2018, was completed on 4 October 2018 and the Property had been
occupied as the headquarters of the Group as from 4 April 2019.
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On 5 December 2019, Summit Pacific, the purchaser and the agent entered
into the provisional agreement, pursuant to which Summit Pacific would sell
and the purchaser would acquire the Property at the consideration of HK$53
million in cash (the “Disposal’). The Disposal constituted a major transaction
for the Company under the Listing Rules and was therefore subject to the
Shareholders” approval in the EGM. At the EGM held on 16 January 2020, the
Disposal was duly passed by the Shareholders by way of poll.

The completion of the Disposal took place on 16 January 2020. Upon the
completion, the Property was no longer the asset of the Group and the Group
recorded a loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately HK$17.7 million during FY20.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 23 March 2018, 19 April
2018, 28 September 2018, 4 October 2018, 4 April 2019, 5 December 2019, 7
January 2020 and 16 January 2020 and the Company'’s circular dated 31
December 2019.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE
As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no financial guarantee.

LITIGATION

On 16 March 2020, the Company and its subsidiary received a writ of summons
endorsed with a statement of claim under action number HCA 248 of 2020
issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “High Court”) by the solicitors acting for Great View
Finance Limited (the “Plaintiff’) against the Company and its subsidiary for
demand immediate repayment of overdue borrowing of approximately
HK$3,084,000 (the “Claims”) and the interest on the Claims at the rate of 18%
per annum from 17 January 2020 to the date of settlement.

After the settlement of the Claims by the Group, on 8 June 2020, the Group
had received a notice of discontinuance filed in the High Court by the Plaintiff,
confirming that the legal proceedings closed.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 17 March 2020 and 8
June 2020.

Other than the above, as at the balance sheet date, the Group was not involved
in any other material litigation or arbitration.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 1 June 2020, a total of 369,900,000 placing Shares were placed by Kingston
Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”) to not less than six placees at placing
price of HK$0.025 per placing Share pursuant to the terms and conditions of
the placing agreement entered into between the Company and the Placing
Agent on 14 May 2020, representing approximately 16.66% of the issued share
capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the placing
Shares immediately upon completion of the placing.

The above placing Shares were allotted and issued under the general mandate
granted to the Board at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
27 September 2019. The net proceeds from the placing, after deduction of the
placing commission and other related expenses, amounted to approximately
HK$8.72 million will be used for general working capital for the Group including
the settlement of the writ of summons as detailed in the Company’s
announcement dated 17 March 2020. Details of the transaction were disclosed
in the Company’s announcements dated 14 May 2020, 15 May 2020 and 1 June
2020.

During FY21, the Company received the net proceeds of approximately
HK$8.82 million of which HK$3.29 million was used to settle the Claims and the
remaining amount of around HK$5.53 million was utilized as working capital.

On 21 January 2021, a total of 44,392,000 placing Shares were placed by the
Placing Agent to not less than six placees at placing price of HK$0.116 per
placing Share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the placing agreement
entered into between the Company and the Placing Agent on 7 January 2021,
representing approximately 16.67% of the issued share capital of the Company
as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the placing Shares immediately upon
completion of the placing.

The above placing Shares were allotted and issued under the general mandate
granted to the Board at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
10 September 2020. The net proceeds from the placing, after deduction of the
placing commission and other related expenses, amounted to approximately
HK$4.9 million will be used for partial repayment of the Group'’s loan and
accrued interests of approximately HK$3.8 million and the remaining amount
will be used for the general working capital for the Group. Details of the
transaction were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 7 January
2021 and 21 January 2021.

As at the date of this report, the Company received the net proceeds of
approximately HK$4.9 million of which HK$3.8 million was used to partially
settle the outstanding Group's loan and accrued interests and the remaining
amount of around HK$1.1 million was utilized as working capital.
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EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Rescission of Sale and Purchase Agreement in respect of
the Project and Release of Guarantee

For details, please refer to “Strategic Investment and Financial Services
Segment” sections.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, with the real estate investment business and the co-working
space industry, our targets are the countries along Eurasia. We anticipate that
the Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment will diversify the
income streams of the Group, and generate additional investment returns on
the available funds of the Company from time to time. We expect that the
segment will be the growth driver of the Company and will actively make
continuous efforts to find appropriate investment projects in the future.

Overall speaking, the social movement in Hong Kong and the Outbreak is
expected to adversely impact on the business performance of the Group but
the actual impact has yet to be quantified. Based on the Company’s current
observation and estimation, the downtrend on the Group's revenue is
expected to be carried forward to certain extent for the second half of 2021
due to the slow down of economic activities and the change of consumption
pattern caused by the Outbreak. The Group is taking all practicable measures
to cope with the challenges ahead, while striving for the highest caution
standard to protect the health and safety of our staff and our customers. The
Company will continue to monitor the development of the Outbreak and its
impact on the Company’s operations and react actively to its impacts on the
financial position and operating results of the Group.

The Group will further use its resources as a listed company to add value for
the acquisition project to increase its profitability and return. Meanwhile, the
Group will continue enhancing the development of the mature pearls and
jewellery business, actively participating in various important jewellery & gem
fairs around the world and optimising operation efficiency and productivity in
a bid to stay competitive. While the Outbreak being yet stable, the Directors
expected that the revenue from pearls and jewellery business will continue to
further deteriorate.

With the development of the existing Strategic Investment and Financial
Services Segment, the Group will focus its investments and operations more in
the real estate, co-working spaces and investment and asset management
sectors especially in Europe and Asia.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group currently is principally engaged in purchasing, processing,
designing, production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery
products and operation of strategic investment and financial services.

Revenue and Gross Profit

Revenue decreased to HK$43.3 million for FY21 (FY20: HKS112.0 million),
comprised sales of pearl and jewellery of HK$41.2 million (FY20: HK$109.8
million) and interest income on strategic investment and financial services of
HKS$2.1 million (FY20: HKS2.2 million), mainly as a result of the substantial
decrease in the sales of pearl and jewellery.

Gross profit decreased by HK$37.1 million to gross loss of HK$8.6 million (FY20:
gross profit of HK$28.5 million). The gross loss margin of 19.9% during FY21
was mainly due to the provision for impairment loss on inventories amounted
to HK$10.0 million (FY20: gross profit margin of 25.5%).

Selling and Administrative Expenses (the “S&A
expenses”)

S&A expenses mainly comprised selling expenses of HK$0.6 million (FY20:
HKS$4.2 million) and administrative expenses of HK$20.7 million (FY20: HK$65.8
million). S&A expenses decreased by HK$48.7 million or 69.6% to HK$21.3
million (FY20: HK$70.0 million) in FY21. The decrease in S&A expenses was
mainly due to the decrease in share-based payments expenses in
administrative expenses and as a result of cost control measures deployed by
the Group during FY21.

Loss Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company substantially decreased
by HK$230.0 million or 81.6% to HK$51.8 million in FY21 (FY20: HK$281.8
million) was mainly due to the absence of impairment losses on investments in
associates and the loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment during
the year as compared to FY20.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the year, the Group funded its operations through a combination of
cash generated from operations and equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company and proceeds from placing of new shares. As at 31 March 2021,
the Group’s total equity was HK$45.9 million (2020: HKS$85.1 million),
representing a decrease of 46.1% from last year.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of HK$24.4
million (31 March 2020: HK$34.5 million). Cash and cash equivalents were
mainly denominated in United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
The Group's net current assets were HK$44.5 million (31 March 2020: HK$74.6
million). The current ratio, represented by the total current assets divided by
the total current liabilities, was 2.0 (31 March 2020: 2.1).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had outstanding borrowings of HK$30.0 million
(31 March 2020: HK$30.7 million) of which a borrowing amount of HK$28.0
million (2020: HK$25.7 million) is secured by other receivables reclassified from
convertible loan notes with carrying value of HK$31.3 million and is at interest
rate of 15% per annum and the tenor of which is 18 months (2020: such
borrowing was provided by a company of which Mr. Leung Alex was a
common director and was at interest rate of 15% per annum and the tenor of
which was 12 months). With the available cash and cash equivalents and cash
generated from operations, the Group has adequate financial resources to
meet the anticipated future liquidity requirements and capital expenditure
commitment.

Capital Structure and Share Consolidation

As at 31 March 2021, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
266,376,964 (31 March 2020: 1,849,949,645) of HK$0.02 each (31 March 2020:
HK$0.002 each) (the “Shares”) and its issued share capital was HK$5,327,539 (31
March 2020: HK$3,699,899).

On 25 June 2019, as part of the payment of the Total Consideration in the
Acquisition, the Company allotted and issued 153,000,000 consideration Shares
at the issue price of HK$1.085 per consideration Shares to the vendors.

On 14 May 2020, the Company entered into the placing agreement with the
placing agent pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
place, through the placing agent on a best-efforts basis, up to 369,900,000
placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.025 per placing share to certain
independent placees. Accordingly, the Group’s share capital increased by
approximately HK$740,000 and the remaining balance of approximately
HK$8,047,000 was credited to the share premium account.
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On 7 August 2020, the Company proposed on the basis that every ten (10)
issued and unissued ordinary Shares be consolidated into one (1) consolidated
Share (the "Share Consolidation”). The Directors also proposed to change the
board lot size for trading on the Stock Exchange from 2,000 existing Shares to
8,000 consolidated Shares (the “Change in Board Lot Size") upon the Share
Consolidation becoming effective. The Board considered that the Share
Consolidation would bring about a corresponding upward adjustment in the
trading price of the Shares. As such, the Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) were of the opinion that the Share Consolidation was in
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Share
Consolidation was approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 3 September 2020 and the Share
Consolidation and the Change in Board Lot Size have become effective on 7
September 2020. Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 7
August 2020, 12 August 2020, 13 August 2020, 20 August 2020 and 3
September 2020 and the Company’s circular dated 11 August 2020.

On 7 January 2021, the Company entered into the placing agreement with the
placing agent pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
place, through the placing agent on a best-efforts basis, up to 44,392,000
placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.116 per placing share to certain
independent placees. Accordingly, the Group’s share capital increased by
approximately HK$888,000 and the remaining balance of approximately
HK$4,033,000 was credited to the share premium account.

Save as disclosed above, there was no movements in either the Company’s
authorised or issued share capital during the year under review.

Capital Commitments

At 31 March 2021, the Group had commitment, which was contracted but not
provided and subject to fulfilment of conditions precedent, to make the
remaining capital commitment to the unlisted property fund of HK$34.2

million (2020: HKS$34.2 million).

Save for the above, the Group had no other significant commitments
outstanding at 31 March 2021.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries
during FY20 and FY21.
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Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

The Group principally operates its businesses in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations from various currencies,
such as United States dollars, Great Britain Pounds, Renminbi and South Korean
Won, which were the major foreign currencies transacted by the Group during
FY20 and FY21.

Since Hong Kong dollars remain pegged to the United States dollars within a
defined range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risk against the United States dollars. The Group has subsidiaries operating in
the PRC, in which most of their transactions, including revenue, expenses and
other financing activities, are denominated in Renminbi. The Group has
investments operating in England and South Korea and these investments are
denominated in Great Britain Pounds and South Korean Won.

The Group manages its foreign currency risk against other currencies by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates and may use hedging
derivative, such as foreign currency forward contract, to manage its foreign
currency risk as appropriate.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a total workforce of 49 (31 March 2020:
201), of whom 18 (31 March 2020: 22) were based in Hong Kong. The total staff
costs, including Directors’ emoluments and mandatory provident fund, was
approximately HK$16.0 million in 2021 (2020: HK$49.1 million). Employees were
remunerated on the basis of their performance and experience. Remuneration
packages, including salary and year-end discretionary bonus, were determined
by reference to market conditions and individual performance.
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Key performance indicators

The Company has defined the following key performance indicators ("KPIs")
which are closely aligned with the performance of the Group.

o B ) i S o0 #T

TR B

ARBERENTERNEERBTYIEBZ E
SZRAER((EBRBER] -

For the year ended 31 March
HZE3A3MBLEE

2021 2020
2021 5§ 20205
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
BsE FHET FET
Revenue Hazs HK$43,324 8 T HK$111,978 87T
Loss for the year attributable to equity EEEARRBIRREIGERE
holders of the Company HK$(51,785) & T HK$(281,822) % 7T
Equity attributable to equity holders ADERFEIGER
of the Company HK$45,945 /& T HK$85,13278 7T
Return on capital employed in sale HELHKEKEERA
of pearls and jewellery products B2 B 1 (57.0)% 24.7)%
Return on capital employed in strategic RIS E RIS IRFEFT B
investment and financial services VWA EIE: 2 (7.5)% (390.7)%
Notes: ik

(1) Return on capital employed in sale of pearls and jewellery products represents segment profit
or loss from sale of pearls and jewellery products business divided by average capital
employed and is measured as a percentage.

(2) Return on capital employed in strategic investment and financial services represent segment
profit or loss from strategic investment and financial services divided by average capital

employed and is measured as a percentage.

Commentary on the performance of the Group against each of these KPIs is set
out in “BUSINESS REVIEW” above.

These KPIs are reviewed regularly and amended occasionally to correspond
with the changing mix of the Group’s principal activities.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s management reviews the Group's internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. They have determined the
operating segments based on these reports. The Group is principally engaged
in purchasing, processing, designing, production and wholesale distribution of
pearls and jewellery products and operation of strategic investment and
financial services. Accordingly, the Group has identified two operating
segments — sales of pearls and jewellery products segment and strategic
investment and financial services segment.

() HERPKRRAFERMBEAZDREHEDKK
KREEMEH 2D EEN B RRIAFARRER -
WEtERBEDLL

Q  REEEARMBRBMBEARZ BRIERERER
BRI D EREN K EREAFHAAEAR - X
READLE -

PARBRRZ ZEBRBAER
X [E#BEE] -

mEN L

ZETERBARGETE PRI L TRER - A
RarEEBTHES s T2EKES -

Zigiegs

REEERERMANEE 2 AIREAFTHE
REDHER - BERBEZEREETEED
& o K’Eﬁli%%%ﬁﬂiwﬂi%éuuzwﬁ .
T - REr - AERMEDHE - USRI E
NSRS EE - Bt - NEED TR EE
BN — HERHNKEERD I - AKK
B & R B 75 AR s 0 &6 o
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A summary of the principal risks and uncertainties which may impact the
Group's financial conditions, results of operations or future performance and
how the Group mitigates these risks is set out below.

This summary should not be regarded as a complete and comprehensive
statement of all potential risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, but rather
those risks which the Group currently believes may have a significant impact
on the Group's performance and future prospects.

B0 NP RN ES

AIREREARERE ZMHINN - BEREIRE
KRz T BB RN ABAREERE RAKE LN
AR S RBEN T -

SRR B TR AR E S A SR E E b < TR B R

@ RTHBAR R Z TBFRRUL - HEARER
RS ZFE R “&%TL"’EIZ%%EE&%XH\J
SBRERTE

Principal risks Description Mitigating actions

FERK RE FEEE

Strategjic risk Strategic risk is the risk that medium and long term Extensive investment management
KBS LB profitability and/or reputation of the Group could be experience of the Board.

adversely impacted by the failure either to identify or
implement the correct strategy, or to react
appropriately to changes in the business environment.
SRS 1 R\ B A IR oK B 38 Bl S B Bt LE MR SR S Sl
AREZIFLEEREMEAEETH MKH
BFIRE N RSB BER TR R 2 R o

Economic risk Economic risk is the risk of any downturn in economic
17 [ e conditions which could impact the Group's

performance through higher bad debts as a result of
customers’ inability to repay loans and lower asset
values.

RERRAEAEERREZ TITRAR  HEEB
BEPENEEERMEEURRIE NN EEEER
BEMPEAEERR -

Credit risk Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a
=ER customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails

to meet its contractual obligations.
f:.%ﬂ e RHERMITAZEPARIHF REE
THAENERE  AEBAXMBEER AR -

Business risk Business risk is the risk that any of our major customers

%= b ceases their business relationship with us.
EBEBRAENEETFPKILERMEBHEZ
E e

EXeRREER EEKR -
Regularly review on strategy and
performance of each business unit.
EHRE B EBEL 2 R NKRI
Perform comprehensive due diligence on all
potential acquisitions.

AT EBENESTRETEHEMES -

Regularly review forward looking indicators
to identify economic conditions.

E MR S AT IR R IR DURB B R IR -

Fully understand customers and carry out
credit quality assessment on customers
before granting loans.

REHERAN2E TREPLH TP E
TEEE &L -

Regularly monitor loans and interest
receivable and assess for their recoverability.
EHERBREREAME - WA
BN

Continually review market trends and
maintain a competitive position by retaining
product quality.

BBRFEMEER  #HERIMSBY
I 4 H5 R HAL o
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Principal risks

FERME

Description
R

Mitigating actions

B R

Operational risk
EER R

Liquidity risk
MENE & AR

Price risk

el

Exchange risk
PEE 3¢ [l Fex

Operational risk is the risk of increasing labour costs
and labour shortages which could have a material and
adverse impact on the Group’s operation and
profitability.

EERR RS TR LT R TR H AL
LERBMEIEKEATNEZE 2 R -

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
nRBETRARAAERBEEBITHIRZHE
BEzRER -

Price risk is the risk that changes in equity prices will
affect the Group's income and the value of its holdings
of equities.
BERERASBTZEREBRAREMFREEE
ZIREHE 2 A

Exchange risk is the risk that changes in foreign
exchange rates will affect the Group’s income and the
value of its holdings of assets.
ELRBRABTEAEERANEMBEEER
2 SNEFE R B E 2 B -

Regularly assess the requirements of labours
based on forecasts.

REFAEHFEBITHK -

Regularly monitor liquidity and statement of
financial position.
EHERREE S MIBRREK
Maintain appropriate liquidity to cover
commitments.
RBEERDE AR BAGE -

Limit liquidity risk exposure by investing only
in securities listed on stock exchanges.
BRERENESFRGM LT ZESM
PREIRBE 2R o

Ensure acceptable and appropriate finance
in place, or believed to be available before
committing investment projects.
AEREEE AR BIEE AIER
NEEER -

Regularly monitor equity portfolio to address
any portfolio issues promptly.
TEHERRFEIREHE AR IE
WEHEERHE -

Spread price risk exposure by investing a
number of equities.

BREZERFEUDBRERERR -

Closely monitor statement of financial
position and cashflow exchange risk

exposures.
B BRSO R LR & R E S R
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Principal risks

FERME

Description
R

Mitigating actions

B R

People risk

AERR

Legal and
regulatory risk

FREEERR

People risk is the risk of loss of the services of any
directors, senior management and other key personnel
which could have a material adverse effect on the
Group's businesses.

AFERBEMNEE SRAEEAEBRHEMEE
AB K IEIRE AT B E AR R B R T E K E R T AR
E27EkK -

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a breach of laws
and regulations could lead to litigation, investigations
or disputes, resulting in additional costs being incurred,
civil and/or criminal proceedings and reputational
damage.
ERNEERRAERER AR FIRESI BERAA
AES AL BREEEINA - RER A
EFREFRBEXBZAR -

Provide competitive reward and benefit
packages that ensure our ability to attract
and retain the employees we need.

R AT ) 2 52B) R AE A B A RE (R
REBEFENRSINEERFZES
Ensure that the staff of the Group have the
right working environment to enable them
to do the best job possible and maximise
their satisfaction at work.
WRAEE 7 ETHAE  TIEREL
SEIZHAARMTITEREERT
THEMEE -

Monitor changes and developments in the
regulatory environment and ensure that
sufficient resources being made available to
implement any required changes.
ERRERR 2P RERLERATA
ZERRAEBIRIEAIRE 2 EE -
Seek legal or other specialist advice as
appropriate.
BERSRERIHEMERZER -



CHAIRMAN

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, aged 53, was appointed as an executive director and the
Chairman of the Board of the Company on 27 September 2019 and 18 October
2019 respectively. He obtained a Degree in Business Studies from University of
Glamorgan in 1992 and a Master Degree in Business Administration from
Cardiff Business School in 1993. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
International Accountants. He is also a Chartered Marketer of The Chartered
Institute of Marketing and a member of Institute of Management Accountants.
He has over 26 years of working experience in merger and acquisition, finance
and accounting, banking, asset management and funds operations in various
industries including real estate developments, infrastructure developments,
real estate investment trusts (REITS), securities investments and natural
resources industries. Mr. Cheng was an executive director of Ming Lam
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Sino Haijing Holdings Limited) (stock
code: 1106), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from February 2017 to August 2018. He was also a non-executive
director of IRC Limited (stock code: 1029), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2017 to March 2020.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Alex, aged 42, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 11 April 2016. Mr. Leung obtained his Bachelor of Commerce
degree from the University of Auckland, New Zealand in May 2000. Mr. Leung
had worked in two international accounting firms from December 2000 to
February 2012. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accounting and the CPA Australia. He has more than 20 years of
experience in auditing, accounting and corporate management. Mr. Leung is
currently an executive director of China Healthwise Holdings Limited (stock
code: 348), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Leung was an executive director and the group chief financial
officer of Man Sang International Limited (stock code: 938), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from October 2014 to
November 2018.
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Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, aged 52, was appointed as an executive director,
company secretary and the chief financial officer of the Company on 1 April
2018. He is also an independent non-executive director of Ocean Line Port
Development Limited, a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
(GEM) Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8502) since November 2020
and an independent non-executive director of Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 524) since March 2021.

Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has accumulated over 20 years’ working
experience from an international audit firm and public listed companies. He
had spent about 8 years in the international audit firm and was an audit
manager before he left the firm. Thereafter, Mr. Cheung has held different
senjor positions in various public listed companies. He was an executive
director and chief financial officer of Dingyi Group Investment Limited (stock
code: 508), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from October 2011 to March 2018.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chiu Sin Nang Kenny, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 30 September 2020. Mr. Chiu has over
30 years of experience in accounting. Mr. Chiu has held various senior
accounting and finance positions in sectors of property investment and
development, and information technology development business. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the CPA Australia. Mr. Chiu received a Master of Accountancy Degree from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2006, a Bachelor of Laws Degree
from the Peking University, the People’s Republic of China in July 1998, a
Degree of Master of Commerce in Accounting from The University of New
South Wales, Australia in May 1989, a Bachelor of Administrative Studies Degree
and a Bachelor of Arts (Economics) Degree from the York University, Canada in
June 1986 and June 1985 respectively. Mr. Chiu is currently an executive
director of Kin Shing Holdings Limited (stock code: 1630) and an independent
non-executive director of Kingston Financial Group Limited (stock code: 1031),
KEYNE LTD (formerly known as Nine Express Limited) (stock code: 0009) and
Sincere Watch (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 444), all companies are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Lee Kin Keung, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 19 November 2016. He graduated from
the University of New South Wales with a bachelor of commerce degree and a
master of commerce degree. He also holds a master of applied finance degree
from Macquarie University. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of CPA Australia. Mr. Lee has
experience in finance, management, auditing and accounting fields and had
worked in Touche Ross & Co. from 1985 to 1990, and in Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu from 1990 to 1992 and from 1995 to 1997. Mr. Lee was appointed as
a director of Kandour Consultants Limited, a consultancy and advisory
company in Hong Kong, in 2013. He has been a director of Crater Gold Mining
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange,
since 2014.

Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 30 September 2020. Mr. Dong has
extensive management experience in the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Dong
was an executive director of Greater Bay Area Dynamic Growth Holding
Limited (stock code: 1189) from August 2019 to August 2020 which is listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and the chairman and an executive
director of Tech Pro Technology Development Limited (stock code: 3823) from
February 2019 to March 2020, the issued shares of which had been formerly
listed on The Stock Exchange. In addition, from 2002 to 2004, Mr. Dong was a
member of the Standing Committee of the Chamber of Hong Kong Listed
Companies, which functions as an effective communication channel between
listed companies and regulatory authorities in Hong Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group recognises the importance of achieving the highest standard of
corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements of its
businesses and the best interests of all of its stakeholders, and the Board is fully
committed to doing so. The Board believes that high standards of corporate
governance provide a framework and solid foundation for the Group to
manage business risks, enhance transparency, achieve high standard of
accountability and protect stakeholders' interests.

The Group has adopted a corporate governance statement of policy which
provides guidance on the application of the corporate governance principles
on the Group, with reference to the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code’) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all code
provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2021
and, where appropriate, the applicable recommended best practices of the CG
Code, except for the deviations disclosed below.

1. There is currently no officer carrying the title of Chief Executive Officer
("CEQ") up to the date of this report. In the absence of a CEO, the duties
of the CEO have been/will continue to be collectively undertaken by all
executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, Mr. Leung Alex and Mr.
Cheung Sze Ming. In the opinion of the Directors, the present
arrangement is effective and efficient.

2. Under code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days
should be given of a regular board meeting to all Directors an
opportunity to attend. During the year ended 31 March 2021, certain
regular Board meetings were convened with less than 14 days' notice to
enable the Directors’ to react timely and make expeditious decisions in
respect of transactions which were of significance to the Group's
business. As a result, the aforesaid regular Board meetings were held
with a shorter notice period than required with no objection by all the
Directors. The Board will do its best endeavours to meet the requirement
of code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code in future.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “"Model Code") set out in Appendix 10 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules") as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon specific
enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group, which
includes leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group's
businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk management and
performances. The management team is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day management of the Group. The
delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (1) the preparation of interim and annual reports and announcements
for the Board's approval before publishing; (2) implementation of adequate
systems of internal controls and risk management procedures; and (3)
compliance with relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations. It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances
and to ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve the Company's
corporate governance objectives.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of the Group and for
the exercise of independent judgement. The Directors with various professional
qualifications, experience and related financial management expertise have
contributed to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate
checks and balances to safeguard to the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”). Hence, the Board believes
that the current Board composition satisfies the balance of expertise, skills and
experience to the corporate governance requirements of the Group as well as
the ongoing development and management of its business activities.

The Board currently comprises 3 executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin,
Mr. Leung Alex and Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny, Mr. Lee Kin Keung and
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic.

The biographies of the Directors are set out in “Profile of Directors” on pages 23
to 25 of this annual report.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Company, and to review and
approve the Company'’s interim and annual results. During the year ended 31
March 2021, 10 Board meetings were held and the attendance of each Director
at the Board meetings is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees
Meetings” of this report.

Under code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days should be
given of a regular board meeting to all directors an opportunity to attend.
During the year ended 31 March 2021, certain regular Board meetings were
convened with less than 14 days’ notice to enable the Directors to react timely
and make expeditious decisions in respect of transactions which were of
significance to the Group's business. As a result, the aforesaid regular Board
meetings were held with a shorter notice period than required with no
objection by the Directors. The Board will do its best endeavours to meet the
requirement of code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code in future. In addition to
Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board met with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors. The Company
Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings to comply
with all applicable rules and regulations. The agenda and the accompanying
Board papers are normally sent to the Directors at least three days before the
intended date of a Board meeting. Draft minutes of each Board meeting are
circulated to the Directors for their comments before being approved. All
minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), all
Directors appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at the meeting. At each annual general meeting, one third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Save as disclosed in the “Profile of Directors” set out on pages 23 to 25 of this
annual report, the Directors do not have material financial, business or other
relationships with one another.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the executive Directors are clearly segregated to
ensure independence and proper checks and balances. The Chairman focuses
on the business strategy and direction of the Company, provides leadership to
the Board and ensures proper and effective functioning of the Board in
discharge of its responsibilities. The executive Directors are collectively
accountable to the Board for the overall implementation of the Company’s
strategies and the co-ordination of overall business operations.

There is currently no officer carrying the title of Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ”)
up to the date of this annual report. In the absence of a CEO, the duties of the
CEO have been/will continue to be collectively undertaken by all executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, Mr. Leung Alex and Mr. Cheung Sze Ming.
In the opinion of the Directors, the present arrangement is effective and
efficient.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Directors, appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after their appointment
and be subject to re-election at that meeting; and those Directors appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and be eligible for re-
election.

Moreover, all non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are appointed for an initial term of one year, which are renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year from the day immediately after
the expiry of the current terms of their respective appointments, subject to
expiration on the earlier of either (i) the conclusion of the annual general
meeting of the Company in the year of the third anniversary of the
appointment or re-election of that Director; or (i) the expiration of the period
within which the annual general meeting of the Company is required to be
held in the year of the third anniversary of the appointment or re-election of
that Director; or (iii) earlier determination in accordance with the Articles and/
or any applicable laws and regulations.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received confirmation of
independence from all three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Lee Kin Keung, Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny and Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent non-executive
Directors and concluded that all of them are independent within the definition
of the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of
any events which would cause it to believe that the independence of any of
the independent non-executive Directors has been impaired up to the date of
this report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy’) in
October 2014 which was amended in December 2018. The Board Diversity
Policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees
increasing diversity at Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of the Company’'s strategic objectives and sustainable
development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience. The Company will also
take into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time
to time. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits
of diversity on the Board.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 6 Directors, amongst them, 3
are independent non-executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review
and control of the management process. The Board is also characterized by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of age, professional
experience, skills and knowledge.

Appointment of Directors is based on meritocracy and the Board Diversity
Policy is among the criteria used in selecting members to join the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established by the Board with specific written
terms of reference and all members of the Audit Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. Pursuant to its terms of reference, the Audit
Committee is authorised to commit the Company funds in order to obtain
advice from outside legal counsel, accountants, investigatory services or other
expert advice. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee detailing the
authority and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee comprises 3 independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny, Mr. Lee Kin Keung and Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic.
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings
to review the interim and the annual results, internal control review report and
risk assessment report before their submission to the Board. The attendance of
each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the section headed “Board
and Committees Meetings” of this report.

The audit committee of the Company, which comprises three independent
non-executive Directors of the Company, has reviewed with the management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
the internal control, risk management and financial reporting matters including
the review of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2021.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board with specific
written terms of reference and the majority of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee detailing the authority and
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee comprises 3 independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny, Mr. Lee Kin Keung and Mr. Dong
Bo, Frederic, and an executive Director, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin. Mr. Dong Bo,
Frederic is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Remuneration Committee held 2
meetings to review and recommend the proposed emolument of a new
executive Director and the proposed adjustment to the emolument of an
executive Director. The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees Meetings”
of this report.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March
2021 are set out in note 37(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board with specific
terms of reference. The Nomination Committee is responsible for, amongst
other things, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members, considering the reappointment of the Directors and succession
planning for Directors and making recommendations to the Board in respect
of the aforesaid matters. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
detailing the authority and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee comprises 3 independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny, Mr. Lee Kin Keung and Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic,
and an executive Director, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin. Mr. Lee Kin Keung is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The Board adopted a Director nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 21 December 2018 to formally set out the criteria and process on the
selection, nomination and appointment of Directors. According to the
Nomination Policy, the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of
Directors rests with the entire Board or the Shareholders in general meeting as
the case may be. The Board has delegated the relevant screening and
evaluation process to the Nomination Committee, which identifies suitable
candidates for directorships and recommends them to the Board. In assessing
the suitability of the proposed candidate(s), the Nomination Committee takes
into consideration the candidates’ character, integrity, personal attributes
including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, experience and
expertise that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy,
and the ability to provide insights and practical wisdom based on those
attributes, his commitment to devoting adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member, fulfilment of the independence requirements as set out in the
Listing Rules (for independent non-executive Directors) and diversity on the
Board. After reaching its decision, the Nomination Committee nominates the
relevant candidate(s) to the Board for approval of appointment. The Board will
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election
of Directors at general meeting.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Nomination Committee held 2
meetings to review the structure, size and composition of the Board; to assess
the independence of all independent non-executive Directors; to recommend
to the Board on the nomination of retiring Directors for re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company; and to recommend the proposed
appointment of a new executive Director, a member of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee; and to
recommend the proposed appointment of the Chairman. The attendance of
each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the section headed
“Board and Committees Meetings” of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

Upon appointment, new Directors receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory
obligations of being a Director to ensure that they are sufficiently aware of their
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, receive amendments to or updates on the
relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the Company encourages the
Directors to enrol in a wide range of professional development courses and
seminars relating to the Listing Rules, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
corporate governance practices so that they can continuously improve their
relevant knowledge and skills.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the year ended 31 March 2021
to the Company. The Company has also continuously updated the Directors
on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness
of good corporate governance practices.
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The participation by each Director in continuous professional development for

the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out below:
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Reading materials relating
to rules and/or attending
trainings and seminars

MESRRAZ

MER R

Name of Director EERA HEEIRAFE

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin B ER S A 4

Mr. Leung Alex R A v

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming SRS A v

Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny TSRS E 4

Mr. Lee Kin Keung eyt 4

Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic e v
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen Rm IR A&

(resigned on 30 September 2020)

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny

(resigned on 30 September 2020)

(7202049 A 30 HEHT)

(2020459 A 30 HEHT)

BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The individual attendance records of each Director at the general meetings

HHEEMAEZHE
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and the meetings of the Board and various Committees during the yearended =~ A& - EEGREZE @ 8H 2 AR HF ok

31 March 2021 are set out below: AT
Audit Remuneration Nomination
General Board Committee Committee Committee
meetings meetings meetings Meetings Meetings
Exe EHRZEE FHWZEE REZES
Name of Director EENE BRAE = =t =t a3
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin BrEas 22 10/10 - 22 22
Mr. Leung Alex DI H & 0/2 8/10 - - -
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming RAFBLAE 2/2 10/10 - - -
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny (Note 1) =884 (FT5E1) - 4/5 1”1 - _
Mr. Lee Kin Keung X 02 8/10 22 22 22
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic (Note 2) E St o) - 4/5 11 - -
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen (Note 3) BRREE (e 3) 012 1/5 N 172 12
Mr.Leung Ka Kui, Johnny (Note 4) 2R En5e 4 (FiizE4) 0/2 2/5 1/1 12 1/2
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30

September 2020.

)] Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30
September 2020.

(3) Mr. Lai Yat Yuen resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 30 September 2020.

4) Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 30
September 2020.

Apart from formal meetings, matters requiring Board approval were arranged
by means of circulation of written resolutions.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2021 which gives a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of the results and cash flows for
year then ended. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2021, the Board has selected appropriate accounting policies, applied
them consistently in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards which are pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial
statements, made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable,
and ensured the preparation of the financial statements on the going concern
basis.

The Group endeavours to present a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects. The interim
and annual results of the Company are announced in a timely manner within
the limit of two months and three months, respectively, after the end of the
relevant periods in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for preparing all
information and representation contained in the financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the services provided by the Company’s
auditor, Moore Stephens CPA Limited, to the Group and associated
remuneration were as follows:
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Audit of financial statements
Other non-audit services

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the design and
implementation of internal controls and risk management which covers
financial reporting, operations, compliance and risk management of the
Company, as well as continuous monitoring the effectiveness of such internal
controls and risk management. The Board has delegated such responsibility to
the management of the Company. The management, under the supervision of
the Board, has established an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and
managing significant risks faced by the Group.

The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk management that
are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee also
considers the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, as well as their
training programmes and budgets.

In light of the size and scale of the Group's businesses, the Company does not
establish a separate internal audit department. The Group has engaged an
independent professional firm to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control and risk management systems annually. The
independent professional firm engaged has performed a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems covering
the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. The review covered all key
controls and based on inquiry, observation and analytical review procedures
supplemented by testing of transactions, reports and reconciliation. The overall
opinion on the internal control and risk management systems of the Group are
satisfactory.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system in place covering all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions for the year under review and up to the date of
issuance of the annual report is reasonably effective and adequate.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, the Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the
Company. Mr. Cheung reported to the Chairman of the Company and is
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance matters. Mr.
Cheung confirmed that he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training for the year under review and has complied with the
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, registered Shareholders holding not less than one-
tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company (the “EGM Requisitionists”) can deposit
a written request to convene an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM’) to the
Board at the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Office A,
6/F Valiant Commercial Building, 22-24 Prat Avenue, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. The EGM Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the objects
of the EGM and such request(s) must be signed by all the EGM Requisitionists
and may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more
of the EGM Requisitionists.

The Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong will
verify the EGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the EGM Requisitionists’ request.
Promptly after their confirmation that the EGM Requisitionists’ request is in
order, the Company Secretary will arrange with the Board to convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice to all the registered Shareholders in accordance
with all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On the contrary, if
the EGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in order, the EGM Requisitionists
will be advised of the outcome and a EGM will not be convened as requested.

The EGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-tenth of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM if within
twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the EGM Requisitionists’ request, the
Board does not proceed duly to convene an EGM provided that any EGM so
convened is held within two (2) months from the date of the original EGM
Requisitionists’ request. An EGM so convened by the EGM Requisitionists shall
be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
a General Meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands for
Shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph. Shareholders can also send enquiries and proposals putting forward
for Shareholders’ consideration at Shareholders’ meetings to the Board in
writing to the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong as shown
below or directly by raising questions at the general meeting of the Company.

Office A, 6/F

Valiant Commercial Building
22-24 Prat Avenue

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East,
Hong Kong, or call its customer service hotline at (852) 2980 1333.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The public are welcomed to give their comments and make enquiries through
the Company's website and by means of emails to the investor relations
department (email address: ir@affluent-partners.com). The management
always provides prompt responses to any such enquiries. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, there were no changes in the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association. An up-to-date consolidated version of the
Company's memorandum and articles of association is available on the
Company's website.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in December
2018. The Group considers stable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders
to be its goal. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account, inter alia, the operating results, cash flow, financial condition and
capital requirements of the Group and the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole. The Company'’s distribution of dividends shall also be subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles
of Association of the Company as well as all applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

The Dividend Policy allows the Board to declare special dividends from time to
time in addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. There is no guarantee
that any particular amount of dividends will be distributed for any specific
periods. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time.

By Order of the Board
Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021

Jik B BUR
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The Directors herein present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the Group
was principally engaged in the purchasing, processing, designing, production
and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery products and operation of
strategic investment and financial services.

The principal activities of the Company’s major subsidiaries are set out in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31 March 2021 by
operating segment is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the Group's future
business development during the year ended 31 March 2021 including a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are provided
in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 to 7 and the Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 8 to 22 of this annual report.

Financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 134 of this
annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights on page 5 of this
annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on its principal activities and the
risk of non-compliance with such laws and regulations could lead to litigation,
investigations or disputes, resulting in additional costs being incurred, civil
and/or criminal proceedings and reputational damage.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to promoting an environmentally conscious work
place and aims and places significant emphasis on minimising our
environmental impact and to create a more sustainable future for future
generations.

Our production operations are carried out by the production facilities of Hui
Bao Feng Jewellery (Shenzhen) Limited (“"HBF Jewellery”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, in Shenzhen, which is subject to certain PRC
environmental laws and regulations. The primary waste generated from our
production processes is waste water, which is treated in compliance with the
applicable PRC environmental laws and regulations. To ensure the operation of
HBF Jewellery is in compliance with the applicable environmental law on an
ongoing basis, we have entered into a waste water treatment agreement with
a qualified water treatment company which is responsible for collecting the
waste water in the production process.

HBF Jewellery has been compliant with all relevant PRC environmental related
laws and regulations in all material respects during the year ended 31 March
2021.

Further discussion on the Group's environmental issues and policies will be
contained in the Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2021 which will be published in due course.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 66 of this annual report. The Board
does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2021,

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company'’s net reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Law (2020 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands, as at 31 March 2021 amounted to HK$588,000 (2020: HK$37,533,000),
which represented the retained earnings/accumulated losses and share
premium.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 46
to 49 of this annual report, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreements during the year ended 31 March 2021.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note
28 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the Group s set out on page 200.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Alex
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lee Kin Keung

Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny (appointed on 30 September 2020)
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic (appointed on 30 September 2020)
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen (resigned on 30 September 2020)

Mr. Leung Ka Kui, Johnny (resigned on 30 September 2020)

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Leung Alex shall retire
and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles, Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny and
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic who were appointed as an independent non-executive
Directors as an addition to the Board, shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company. Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny
and Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under Article 164(1) of the Articles, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed
duty, in their respective offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attached to any
of them. Such permitted indemnity provision is currently in force and was in
force throughout the year end 31 March 2021.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance policy throughout the year, which indemnifies against costs, charges,
losses, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by the Directors in the
execution and discharge of their duties.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 23 to 25.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements, no other
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its
holding companies was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company has been entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2021.

COMPETING BUSINESSES

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors have any interests in a
business which competes or may compete with the business of the Group or
have any other conflict of interests with the Group during the year ended 31
March 2021.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
on 17 October 2014. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme (the “Options”) shall not in aggregate exceed
16,969,496 shares, being 10% of the total number of shares in issue at the date
of approval of the refreshed scheme mandate limit at the annual general
meeting of the Company on 28 September 2018 and taken in the effect of the
Share Consolidation. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to
grant an option to any of the directors, officers, employees (including, without
limitation, those employed for a fixed term) and contract consultants (including
executive and non-executive consultants) of any member of the Group as
determined by the Board. The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all Options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes adopted by the Company
(and to which the provisions of chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable)
must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
No Options may be granted under any schemes of the Company if this will
result in the limit being exceeded. The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Options granted to each eligible participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding Options) under the Share
Option Scheme in any 12 month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue.
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The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to the
eligible participants to contribute to the Group and to enable the Group to
recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract resources that are
valuable to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion, grant Options to the
eligible participants to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an exercise
price and subject to the other terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the adoption of the Share Option Scheme. Subject to certain
restrictions contained in the Share Option Scheme, Options may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the terms of
grant thereof at any time during the applicable option period, which is not
more than 10 years from the date of grant of Options. There is no general
requirement on the minimum period for which Options must be held or the
performance targets which must be achieved before Options can be exercised
under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at the time of granting
any Option, the Board may, on a case by case basis, make such grant subject to
such conditions, restrictions or limitations including (without limitation) those
in relation to the minimum period of the Options to be held and/or the
performance targets to be achieved as the Board may determine in its absolute
discretion.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 7,669,600 Options lapsed and no
Options were granted, exercised or cancelled. As at the date of this report, the
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of Options yet
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 2,266,400, representing
approximately 0.85% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company (i.e.
266,376,964 shares).
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The movements in the Options granted under the Share Option Scheme 22021463 A31 B IH4EE - RSB REST 2

during the year ended 31 March 2021 are shown below: B 7 ERESE N TR ¢
Number of Options
BREHA
Adjusted
At Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed during At Exercise
Name or category of 1 April during during during during the Year 31March Date of grant Validity period price of
participants 2020 the Year the Year the Year the Year (Note) 2021 of Options of Options Options
120205 FREAR #2021 % BhRE
SREZHEZRER 4818 FRERE FREMTE FREEH FREXM (=) 3318 RUBREAE BRESYH e
HKS
B
per share
Bk
(Note)
(M)
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr.Leung Alex 1,000,000 - - - - (900,000 100000 29-10-2018 291020190 1340
REBSAE WI8FI0ANA 2810203
19F10A9BF
03F10/288
1,000,000 - - - - (900,000) 100000 29-10-2018 291020200 1340
WI8F10A9H 28102003
00F10A9BZE
03F10/288
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming 8484000 - - - - (7,635,600) 848400 29-10-2018 291020190 1340
ReHTE WIBEI0AVR 28102023
019F10A298Z
03F10/288
8484000 - - - - (7,635,600) 848400 29-10-2018 291020200 1340
WI8F10A9H 28102003
00F10A9BZE
03F10/288
Independent non-executive
directors
BUEHTES
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen 848,000 - - - (84,800) (763,200 - 29-10-2018 291020190 1340
PRk WIBEI0AVR 28102023
019F10A98Z
03F10/288
848,000 - - - (842800) (763,200) - 29-10-2018 29-10-2020 to 1340
WI8F10A9H 28102003
00F10A9BZE
03F10/288
Mr.Lee Kin Keung 848,000 - - - - (763,200 84800 29-10-2018 291020190 1340
s WIBEI0AVR 28102023
019F10A98Z
03F10/288
848,000 - - - - (763,200) 84800 29-10-2018 291020200 1340
WI8FI0A9R 28102003
00F10A9BZE
03F10/288
Sub-total 22,360,000 - - - (169,600) (20,124000) 2,066,400
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Number of Options
BREHE
Adjusted
At Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed during At Exercise
Name or category of 1 April during during during during the Year 31March Date of grant Validity period price of
participants 2020 the Year the Year the Year the Year (Note) 2021 of Options of Options Options
#2020% FRERAE K201 BRE
SREZHERER 4818 ERERY  FREAR  FABEE  FREAN (iE3) 3A31R RUBRERE BRESYWH Tt
HKS
AT
per share
&k
(Note)
GEd
Others
Eft
Employees 4,250,000 - - - (3,750,000) (450,000) 50000 29-10-2018 29-10-2019t0 1340
& 018F10A9F  2810-2023
019610890
203510A 288
4,250,000 - - - (3,750,000) (450,000) 50000 29-10-2018 29-10-2020to 1340
WIBFI0A29E  2810-203
200510890
203510A 288
500,000 - - - - (450,000) 50000 13-12-2018 13-12-2019t0 1200
018F12A13A 12-12-2023
W09F1A13EE
035128128
500,000 - - - - (450,000) 50000 13-12-2018 13-12-2020t0 1200
018F12A13A 12-12-2023
005128130
035128128
Sub-total 9,500,000 - - - (7,500,000) (1,800,000) 200000
Nt
Total 31,860,000 - - - (7,669,600) (21,924,000) 2,266,400
st

Note:  Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the exercise prices of the Options and the

number of shares to be allotted and issued upon full exercise of the subscription rights

attaching to the outstanding Options were adjusted with effect from the Share Consolidation

became effective on 7 September 2020.

T -

HAMRER -

RIBIE AR ST Bl RSR BB ARRE RO T (2 (B K i AR 1T
152 B 8 [ 48 P BRS 10 22 B R R AR T T 6 9 9 A 3 T
THERNEBECHE  YERDAHR2020%F9A7

49



50

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited $E#ER AR A 7

Report of the Directors
o5

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware and save as disclosed in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” on pages 46 to 49 of this report, as at 31 March 2021,
none of the Directors or chief executives and their respective associates had
any interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) (i) which will be required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register kept by the
Company, or (i) which will be required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 46 to
49 of this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2021 were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended
31 March 2021 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements
and did not constitute connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions of the Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2021, so far as the Directors are aware, the persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company), who directly or indirectly, had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company,
which are required to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:
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MR2021F3A31 8 IBESA - RAQFK
BREERGPEEXEEREEEREGES
N ERE GBI ) 28 XVEB SR 2 K 399 BRAESCF A
B RIRE(EF RS D] 5 336 (R B2 AZ
Rt E R MOERIARMALT(RARFE
EREBITHMABRINGAT

Number of Percentage of
ordinary shares the issued
Name of substantial of HK$0.002 Long/short share capital
shareholder Capacity each held position of the Company
FrEAEEREE RN
0.002 87T 2 BRITRA
IERRER MR =27) EER#AE /%R Aok
(note 3)
(Hf3E3)
Pacific Wish Limited (Note) Beneficial owner 84,088,691 Long position 31.57%
BERARA A (HE) BEREAA e
Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing (Note) Interest in a controlled corporation 84,088,691 Long position 31.57%
PR B 5 A (BT3E) REEEEER e
Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily (Note) Interest in a controlled corporation 84,088,691 Long position 31.57%

FrEe L (fE) R EEER
Note:  These 84,088,691 shares were directly owned by Pacific Wish Limited, which was legally and

beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing as to 50% and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily as to
50%. As at 31 March 2021, the board of directors of Pacific Wish Limited comprised Mr. Chan
Vincent Wing Sing and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, there was no other person or
entity had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed the independence of all the
independent non-executive Directors and is satisfied of their independence.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of
the Director are set out below:

Name of Director Details of Changes

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming Appointed as independent non-executive directors
of Ocean Line Port Development Limited (stock
code: 8502) on 6 November 2020 and Great Wall
Belt & Road Holdings Limited (stock code: 524) on
12 March 2021 respectively.

Save for the above changes, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, which comprises 3 independent non-executive
Directors, has reviewed with the management the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the internal control, risk
management and financial reporting matters including the review of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended 31 March 2021
contributed by the Group’s major suppliers and customers respectively are as
follows:

Purchases

—  the largest supplier 29%
— five largest suppliers combined 72%
Sales

—  the largest customer 58%
— five largest customers combined 76%

None of the Directors, their associates or substantial Shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) were interested, at any time during the year, in the Group’'s five largest
customers or suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers, business associates and the
local community are key stakeholders of the Group’s success. The Group strives
to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging employees, providing
quality services to customers and collaborating with business associates
(including suppliers and contractors) to deliver sustainable products and
services and support the local community.

For more detailed information, please refer to the Company's Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31 March 2021, which will be
published in due course.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board, having regard to the
Company's operating results, individual qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibility, performance and comparable market statistics.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float as at the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws of
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
March 2021,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March, 2021 were
audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited. A resolution will be submitted to the
annual general meeting to re-appoint Moore Stephens CPA Limited as the
independent auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2021

AV L a Y

REARFAREGZ ARHERER  AREE
EAE  MARERH - ARB—EHERR
W RNBITIE o

15 ot J e

MR EREAPIYEBERNERELTEER
ZIGEI - REARR RSB RBR B BRI
IRRZ2F D -

i B~ I A b R

AR B s EATA M B R R B E 2021 3
A3 BIEFEANBE HEsELOAQGIT
Al ETHES o

e S gl

ARBEREAFRCFBEARANFRERXE

G
A Wil

HZE2021F3 A3 HIEFEZGAPBRERE
MAZESHBESHMEHBAERARERZ - A
ARBRBREAFASIEE —THRZEER  LE
BAESHRESTMEFSMERARALTAT
LERVR 3 T

EHEEZMm
¥R 7 EX
FE

& 20216 A30H



Annual Report 2021 &R

Independent Auditor’s Report

K| MOORE

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
Affluent Partners Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Affluent Partners
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
set out on pages 66 to 199, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
"Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) I3 ok it 0 (A)

Expected credit loss assessment of trade receivables FEW S sk 2z THE S B PR

(Please refer to Notes 5, 6(b) and 21(a) to the consolidated financial (FBLHGEPEHRERMFES » 6(b) & 21@))
statements)

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BTt EE RPN BFNAEEEREE

As at 31 March 2021, the gross trade receivables of the Group  Our key procedures to address the matter included:
amounted to approximately HK$31,751,000 and its related R FIRIEEHEE 2 BRIETEIE
allowance for expected credit loss amounted to approximately

HK$26,271,000. —  obtained an understanding of the Group’s provision policy

M2021F3A318 - EEBEEREFRBRRELA31,751,000 on trade receivables, the key controls and procedures for

BT R B TE R E EEEREL R 26,271,000 87T managing and monitoring the credit risk, and validated the
control effectiveness;

The management of the Company performed periodic — T# BEEZEWNERBEBREERREEERE

assessment on the recoverability of the trade receivables and EEERR s FEEGIERBIIER - WHRETHZES

the sufficiency of the allowance for expected credit loss. The ;d( 15

management of the Company estimated the amount of

expected credit loss based on provision matrix through —  obtained the ageing analysis of the trade receivables and

grouping of various customers that have similar loss patterns, discussed with the management of the Company about

after considering the credit profile of respective customers, their evaluation of the background and financial capability of

ageing analysis, geographical areas, historical settlement the debtors and their credit assessment that the amounts

records, subsequent settlement status and on-going trading were recoverable;

relationships with the relevant customers. The management of ~— BRERWERZERDN - WE BERRERENR

the Company also considered the forward-looking information TEZTrE@%TE%AZ%%&ET%%%ZEH% VA % 152 55 %

that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding Al El &R E BT

balances as to estimate the expected credit loss.

ERREEBHEKRER 2 TEE RTEREEEEREE —  tested the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, on a

ZIHEBHETESRNMG . BERAFEEEKEREEARR sample basis, to the underlying financial records and post

ZIEEIBR - RO - E - BEENRKES - HEBERN year-end settlements to bank receipts;

MAKRERBAEF 2 HEESMIE  REBEBERERS — HREBEMBIHEMERIRBKERZREDIT - ik

BABRUEBRERA 2 ZRERPMAGTRREEBES RITUIR AR R F AR E T

e BRARERENMEFEHEESFEZERARTE

BEPEERAREBERE N ZATEEER - — inquired the management for the status of each of the

material trade receivables past due as at the year ended and
corroborated explanations from the management with
supporting evidence, such as understanding on-going
business relationship with customers based on the trade
records, checked historical and subsequent settlement
records of and other correspondence with the customers;

— HHEEEEERFHABEAHISEERERER
ZIERWIAZ FBRE (NIRIBE HA08k T REE P 2 #
BEBHRR RETPZBERAEBENLHAKE
BEREZHEMBR) REERE #E
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Expected credit loss assessment of trade receivables

(Continued)

(Please refer to Notes 5, 6(b) and 21(a) to the consolidated financial

statements) (Continued)

Key audit matter

RRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMnETNAEERREEE

We have identified the management’s assessment of the
recoverability of the trade receivables and estimation of
expected credit loss as a key audit matter because the amounts
involved were significant and the assessment required
significant management judgement and involved high level of
estimation uncertainty.

M ASE IR E st e TR AT W B M 17 2 A7k R FE RS
EERZATRESERENFR  REASMISHBE
A BRVAEHEEEBIEHERHE LS NS E T HEE 1T
flst e

Our key procedures to address the matter included: (Continued)

HMRIEEMERBRIZFEYE - (B)

reviewed credit related information of a sample of debtors
which were compiled by the management of the Company
as part of their assessment on the recoverability of the trade
receivables;

R BEAREERBRECEBAEERBER
EREREH LK ERAIRE 2 —& 5

assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit loss
provision methodology including the identification of credit
impaired trade receivables, the reasonableness of the
grouping of trade receivables into different categories in the
provision matrix and the basis of estimated loss rates
adopted in each category; and
AMEEREEERRBIENGEL - BEERIEE
BERKER  REBEREAKERERYERTR
BhRlZz B RBERIRM 2 AT ERR 2 L &

examined the key data inputs, on a sample basis, to assess
the accuracy and completeness, and challenged the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-looking
information, used to determine the expected credit loss.
HMERE FEHABIBUTAEEREMTEN - I
ERARETEREEEBBNRR (BEE L RATE T
BH) -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) 38 i 7 it =5 0 (4
Provision for inventories ey Eid]
(Please refer to Notes 5 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements) (B2 E M WwERMES & 20)

Key audit matter

BREEEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETONEEREEE

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s inventories amounted to
approximately HK$24,827,000 and the provision for impairment
losses on inventories of approximately HK$9,995,000 was
recognised by the Group in the consolidated profit or loss for
the year.

20213 A31H - EEEZFELXR248270008 7T

BEEREEEREEL995008TH BEEERAFE

A BT RER -

The management of the Company assessed the provision for
obsolete or slow-moving inventories taking into consideration
of inventory ageing, condition of inventories, historical and
current sales information, as well as different market factors
impacting the selling price of these inventories. In addition, the
management of the Company considered the changes in
prevailing market condition, expected market trends and
customer demands.
ERRERENERESFHTFEEE  UREEFER
HFEMR BEREANHEEN  URFEZEEH
EEZTEMSEE - WIN ERREBEEZERRIT
TR RS BEREFPFRZEH -

We have identified the management’s impairment assessment
of the provision for obsolete or slow moving inventories as a
key audit matter because the amounts of inventories were
significant and the assessment required significant
management judgement and involved high level of estimation
uncertainty.
HAESEREEHRESFHTERBET ORMEN L’
ERBARETER RERFESEBEAXN - B
FEEREFELERAEB LS RS E AT HE

Our key procedures to address the matter included:

BMEEARSRECARREF e

— obtained understanding of, and evaluated, the Group's
provision policy on inventories;

—  TEREFHE EREZEFEBEERE

—  reviewed and assessed the management’s process of the
identification of obsolete or out-dated inventories and
estimation of the net realisable value of these inventories;

— BIRIHEEEHNRENAMTEE 2R REZ
EHEEAFIREEHET

—  tested the purchase cost, selling price and margins of aged
and obsolete inventories, on sample basis, to the supporting
documents; and

— MEBAXGHERABRAEREFECRKBRE - &
ERME: &

—  reviewed and evaluated net realisable value of inventories,
on sample basis, with reference to subsequent sales
information, the external price data and estimated costs to
be incurred to make the sale and performed testing, on a
sample basis, by tracing to the supporting documents.

— WMERFREEFEZAIERFE(K2RERIEER
K SNEREAE SR 1T 85 & P EE R BV (A RTRCAR) 3
3BIBMAE FA ST HARAROR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) R 4 3 = 0 (4
Expected credit loss assessment of other receivables JH Al WSO ok < TR A B e 1 T4
(Please refer to Notes 5 and 21 (b)(i) to the consolidated financial (B2 B E M WERMTES R 210)))

statements)

Key audit matter

BREEEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETONEEREEE

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's gross other receivables
amounted to approximately HK$33,973,000 and its related
allowance for expected credit loss amounted to approximately
HK$289,000.

R20213A31H EEBZHEMEREREROR
33,973,000 7T - AR TR HA{E B B R B 4078 289,000 78
I o

The management of the Company performed periodic
assessment on the recoverability of the other receivables and
the sufficiency of the allowance for expected credit loss. The
management of the Company estimated the amount of
expected credit loss based on the future conditions and
debtors’ creditworthiness (e.g. the likelihood of default by
debtors). The management of the Company believes that they
have considered reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost and effort for this
purpose. Such assessment has taken the quantitative and
qualitative historical information and also, the forward-looking
analysis.

BERREEET RS A tEK RN AT E M RFEREE
ERBEENTRILETHE o ERREEERBARNRK
T REHBANEE(MEBAELQNA ML) M RHE
EFEeRE - EAREEERE RECERMUAERA
BESNHBZN AN HEAREHEEREGREE
¥t BRARHAE st ME BT ME L ERIA KBRS o

Our key procedures to address the matter included:

BMEEARSRECARREF e

— examined the relevant investment contracts for the key
terms and the relevant contractual rights and obligations of
the holders of these receivables and assessed the underlying
business substance;

— BERMERERZEIZEREZFRWERRTE A 2B
BRI MNETUHEBIRESRSETRE - XA HA
BEBAE

—  obtained an understanding of the valuation methodologies
and the processes performed by the management and the
independent qualified valuer and the management's review
process of the work of the independent qualified valuer;

— THEEFTEREEEBNBELAERMGEMETZIZ
Fr AREREBERMBLSERGEMIIEZRER

—  obtained the valuation reports and assessed the competence
and independence of the qualified valuer, and their
experience in conducting valuation of similar financial
instruments;

— EEMERENTHEERMGEM N EB L
RE#ETEUSR TR 2 ME &R

—  evaluated the appropriateness of the methodologies and
valuation techniques used by the management for financial
instruments and assessed the reasonableness and relevance
of key assumptions based on industry knowledge and the
prevailing economic indicators; and

— FHEREREeMIAMAZAERMERMZEE
M WREBEITERS  BOILEERTHEEERR
BIEMERAERMN &
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) IR i = 0 (4)

Expected credit loss assessment of other receivables JH Al O WSOHR ok < TR A Bl 1R R4 ()
(Continued)

(Please refer to Notes 5 and 21 (b)(i) to the consolidated financial (FBLREGA T HRERMTES X 210)0) (&)

statements) (Continued)

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

HRENEHE BRMUNENMAREESEHESE

We have identified the management’s assessment of the —  evaluated the appropriateness of the key inputs by checking
recoverability of the other receivables and estimation of to the external data or by evaluating the rationale of the
expected credit loss as a key audit matter because the amounts management’s judgement on the key inputs by considering
involved were significant and the assessment required the publicly available information and other available
significant management judgement and estimation uncertainty. information from related external parties to evaluate the
BAIE 16 E 12 2 0 H b B L BR SR AT i [l 14 B0 R4 % 39 T8 HR magnitude of their impact on the valuation, where
EEFBRNAARERBRENEFE  REARMPLHEE appropriate.

EX BARNMEFSETERBFELERME LS RMAEFTT — BREINFBERSES  HEBERLAFHAFSER LK
HEEIE - BEBIRALZEMASENMAGEREEH 2

WARE 2 HE 2 2E - HAENREZZERE (W
A A EERARBZREE -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2021 of the Group other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The audit committee of the Company assists the directors of the Company in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.
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Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZBRER A A

Independent Auditor’s Report
TSI AZ T

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung Yu Ngong
Practising Certificate Number: P06734

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZBRER A A

Consolidated Income Statement

TRELVE e

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

2021 2020
2021 F 2020
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
M5 FET FETT
Revenue WA 7 43,324 111,978
Cost of sales SHE A (51,947) (83,429)
Gross (loss)/profit E18),F (8,623) 28,549
Other gains/(losses), net Hiplezs/(BE) - 38 9 4,305 (19,508)
Fair value loss on convertible loan notes AR EREE 2
NEEEE 19 (4,168) (1,365)
Fair value loss on unlisted property fund FELTWEES Y
NEEEE 26 (4,710) (33,590)
Share of loss on investments DIEREEERNTF 2
in associates &2 EE 18 - (28614)
Impairment losses on investments REERRIZIREZ
in associates VEREY Ei! 18 - (147,391)
Provision for allowance for expected FHREWERZEHEE
credit losses ("ECL”") on trade EE([FEHREEEE])
receivables, net BiE - FR 21(a) (12,905) (309)
Provision for allowance for ECL on STIREMEWRRZ
other receivables TEHEE S ERE 21(b) (289) -
Selling expenses SHERS (582) (4,225)
Administrative expenses THRAX (20,667) (65,771)
Operating loss ZIEEE (47,639) (272,224)
Finance income B s W 2 29 7 371
Finance costs EURID RN 29 (4,445) (8,549)
Finance costs, net BATSEAS - JF 58 (4,438) (8,178)
Loss before income tax BRATB R AIEE 10 (52,077) (280,402)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiiEe, (F) 12 292 (1,420)
Loss for the year attributable to AERARARRELFEESR
equity holders of the Company (51,785) (281,822)
Loss per share BREE (Restated)
(ieE5)
Basic and diluted HEARKL#E 13 HK$(0.23) & T HKS(1.55) % 7T
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

o =] iﬁqﬁﬁﬁi%

For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HILFE

2021 2020
20214 2020 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Loss for the year AFEEIE (51,785) (281,822)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hibh2m(EE) M
Item that may be reclassified to AR EF P E B 2 HE
profit or loss
— Exchange difference on translation of — MBS INERI B REK 2
financial statements of foreign M H ZRE
operations (1,140) 175
Other comprehensive (loss)/income AEEHMSE (HR) W -
for the year, net of tax FRELFEE (1,140) 175

Total comprehensive loss for the year REFERDTRREMN
attributable to equity holders of 2HEBEAE
the Company (52,925) (281,647)
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Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZBRER A A

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Fi o B AR DL AR

Asat 31 March 2021 7202143 H31H

2021 2020
2021 F 2020
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
M5 F#&xT FETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMKRE 15 533 1,874
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 1,216 8,626
Investments in associates REEL QAR E 18 = -
Financial asset at fair value through BAFEFAEMZE
other comprehensive income W= emERE 30 = -
Unlisted property fund FEEMYEES 26 - 4,710
Prepayments TEfTRIA 21 = 1,491
1,749 16,701
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 20 24,827 34,102
Trade and other receivables, deposits FEMCE S B A FEUR AR X
and prepayments e RIBRFRIE 21 40,765 41,371
Convertible loan notes AR EREE 19 = 31,992
Cash and cash equivalents RERFERRE 22 24,424 34,491
90,016 141,956
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables, contract FERNE R R EMER AR
liabilities and accruals AHBEEREFER 23 13,922 32,547
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 1,271 2,856
Other borrowings HAb B 25 30,000 30,734
Amounts due to director/former director FEESE BIEERIE 27 - 848
Amount due to immediate FE E BT R FIFE
holding company 27 339 339
45,532 67,324
Net current assets REBEEFE 44,484 74,632
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBERS 46,233 91,333
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

i o B AR DL AR

As at 31 March 2021

202193 H318

2021 2020
2021 % 2020
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
M5 FET FHIT
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 288 5,909
Deferred tax liabilities FREFIEAE 17 = 292
288 6,201
Net assets EEFE 45,945 85,132
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity AARRRELER
holders of the Company
Share capital [N 28 5,328 3,700
Reserves B 40,617 81,432
Total equity B 45,945 85,132
These consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 199 were approved  F 662 19B HE v 2 S8 BHExEO R

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2021 and were
signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Chi Kin
BT

Chairman and Executive Director

FTERHITEE

2021 F6 A30REEESHERTETE - I
AT EEREEE

Cheung Sze Ming
REFFH
Executive Director

HITEF
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Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZBRER A A

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

oMl A

LIES

For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
v ONCES 2
Share
Share Share Translation option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
(&N RADEE EifEE BRERR RitEE oy
(Note 28) (Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d)
(Bft % 28) GED) (PEED) (P&E ) GED)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it T Fit7 it Tt it
Balances at 1 April 2019 20196 4R 18
2 fEER 3394 410,810 (1,739) 8,552 (223,039) 197,978
Loss for the year REEEE - - - - (281,822) (281,822)
Other comprehensive income;  E fth 2 E Uz -
Exchange difference on BEFINERI T
translation of financial BRzERER
statements of foreign
operations - - 175 - - 175
Total comprehensive loss AFEE2HEBBE
for the year - - 175 - (281,822) (281,647)
Issue of consideration shares  FAUR BB ESE & A BB E1T
upon acquisition of RERH (K5 18)
associates (Note 18) 306 165,699 - - - 166,005
Equity-settled share-based PRIELEE AR D AER
payments (Note 31) ESCEE]D) - - - 2,79 - 2,79
Balances at 31 March 2020 202043 A31H
2B 3,700 576,509 (1,564) 11,348 (504,861) 85,132
Balances at 1 April 2020 M2020F4 818
KR 3,700 576,509 (1,564) 11,348 (504,861) 85,132
Loss for the year AEEEE = = - - (51,785) (51,785)
Other comprehensive loss: Hit2EHE
Exchange difference on BEIZINETS LT
translation of financial BRCERES
statements of foreign
operations - - (1,140) = = (1,140)
Total comprehensive loss AEEL2HEEEE
for the year - - (1,140) = (51,785) (52,925)
Equity-settled share-based BiEEE RN BER
payments (Note 31) ESGEED) - - - 30 - 30
Lapse of share options SRR AL
(Note 31) (Mi%E31) - - - (1,917) 1,917 =
Placing of new shares MRGOEE
(Note 28(b)) (P +E 28(0)) 1,628 12,080 - - - 13,708
Balances at31 March2021 20213 A31H
ZEEER 5,328 588,589 (2,704) 9,461 (554,729) 45,945




Notes:
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Share premium account of the Company represents the excess of the proceeds received over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued.

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of certain subsidiaries whose functional currencies are different from
that of presentation currency.

Share option reserve represents the portion of grant date fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options of the Company.

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") laws and regulations require companies registered
in the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to be appropriated from the net
profit (after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in their respective
statutory financial statements, before profit distributions to equity holders. All statutory
reserves are created for specific purposes. PRC company is required to appropriate 10% of
statutory net profits to statutory surplus reserves, and before distribution of its post-tax profits
of the current year. A company may discontinue the contribution when the aggregate sum of
the statutory surplus reserve is more than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory surplus
reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the companies, to expand the companies’
production operations, or to increase the capital of the companies. In addition, a company
may make further discretional contribution to the surplus reserve using its post-tax profits in
accordance with resolutions of the board of directors. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, no
statutory surplus reserves is provided as the PRC subsidiaries continued to make losses in their
operations.
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Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZBRER A A

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Bl iR

For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

2021 2020
2021 % 20204
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FiET
Cash flows from operating activities REEBEECHERE
Loss before income tax BRETISHIRTEE (52,077) (280,402)
Adjustments for: B THEIBVET 2 %
Finance income B g e 29 (7) 371
Finance costs BTG RN 29 4,445 8,549
Depreciation of property, ME - HEREHBTE
plant and equipment 10 528 2376
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESEITE 10 1,651 1,361
Fair value loss on unlisted property fund EEMYEESZ
NEEER 26 4,710 33,590
Fair value loss on convertible ABMBEEREEZ
loan notes NEEERE 19 4,168 1,365
(Gain)/loss on disposals of property, HEVE  BEX
plant and equipment =tz (W), BiE 9 (156) 17,678
(Gain)/loss on early termination of REKIEHEYHE .
lease premises (W), B8 9 (33) 233
Share of loss on investrments DIERBEE AT 2
in associates "EZEE 18 = 28,614
Impairment loss on investments REFENR 2 "E 2
in associates BIEEE 18 = 147,391
Provision for allowance for ECL on EHREMWE SR 2 TEHA
trade receivables, net EEEEEE  F5 10 12,905 309
Provision for allowance for ECL on FHEHE A W AR 2
other receivables TER (BB EEE 10 289 -
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment =R (B E) 18R
loss on inventories, net BEEEE  FE 10 9,995 (33,363)
Impairment loss on property, ME - BRE REER
plant and equipment and FRAREERERBE
right-of-use assets 9 378 -
Equity-settled share-based payments fe e E AR D
RETFR 11 30 2,796
Written off of property, WY - WEREE
plant and equipment 9 888 477
Written off of prepayments W EH TR I8 10 1,491 1,026
Operating cash flows before working & E&$# BT~
capital changes BREHSHRE (10,795) (68,371)
Changes in working capital: BEECE):
Inventories FE (1,247) 59,131
Trade and other receivables, JE M SR K E A FE U
deposits and prepayments R e RFBERFKIE 14,910 5953
Trade and other payables, FE & R B At A
contract liabilities and accruals BH - aHBER
fE+E A (19,050) 5619
Net cash (used in)/generated mexk(FER),EBEE
from operating activities ZEEFE (16,182) 2,332
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HE2021F3 831 B IEFE

2021 2020
2021 2020 4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FHET FH&TT
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEEZEESHRE
Purchase of property, EEMZE  WEKEE
plant and equipment 15 (25) (3,620)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE « FEMRE
plant and equipment Z TS E0E 34(a) 156 53,007
Acquisition of associates g BE R & N A) 18 = (6,000)
Interests received 2HFE 29 7 371
Purchase of convertible loan notes BEMRERZEE 19 = ®11)
Purchase of unlisted property fund BEIFLMYEES 26 - (3,800)
Net cash generated from RETHEE RS TE
investing activities 138 39,147
Cash flows from financing activities RMETBEEZHESRE
Placing of new shares fic & AR {9 14,398 -
Share issue expenses from placing REREZRHFEITHRE (690)
Interest paid to other borrowings HifE B 22 RHE 34(b) (4,193) (7,330)
Interest paid to lease liabilities HEBG EHHE 34(b) (204) (158)
Payment for principal portion of HEaBAREHD 2T
lease liabilities 34(b) (1,246) (1,455)
Proceeds from borrowings EEMENE 34(b) 28,000 27,650
Repayments of borrowings BEEE 34(b) (28,734) (49,416)
(Repayment to)/advance (BRT),/ 838
from director/former director 2E FiEE 34(b) (559) 848
Repayments to immediate BRTEEZERAA
holding company - (5,361)
Net cash generated from/(used in) MEITBEE(FER)
financing activities ZIREFEE 6,772 (35,222)
Net (decrease)/increase in fi%&%ﬁﬁ%
cash and cash equivalents W), iR (9,272) 6,257
Cash and cash equivalents at FzReMERRS
beginning of the year 34,491 28,443
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes YNEFE RS B) 2 g & (795) (209)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRZBASRERRS
the year, represented by bank (BARTEBREEREESRTR)
balances and cash 24,424 34,491

7
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Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZBRER A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ok o1 B B R T

For the year ended 31 March 2021

1.

HE2021F3A831HIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (the “Company”, collectively with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13
May 2014 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Laws 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The Company’s principal place of business is located at Office A, 6/F,
Valiant Commercial Building, 22-24 Prat Avenue, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in (i) the purchasing, processing, designing,
production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery products
and (ii) the operation of strategic investment and financial services
segment, with the objective to include investments in real estate agency
business and real estate investment funds and other potential
investment opportunities.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the ultimate holding company and the ultimate controlling
parties of the Company were Pacific Wish Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, and Mr. Chan Vincent
Wing Sing and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily, respectively.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 17 October 2014.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"). The
consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
("Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical
cost basis except for certain financial instruments which are measured at
fair values at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKS$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company. All
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
stated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions have
been used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are set
out in Note 5 Critical accounting estimates and judgements.

ADOPTION OF AMENDED HKFRSs

Amended HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted, for the first time, the
following amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which are effective for
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the accounting period
beginning on 1 April 2020.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material

HKAS 8

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018

Revised Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or the disclosure set out in
the consolidated financial statements.
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3.

HE2021F3A31BILEFE

ADOPTION OF AMENDED HKFRSs

(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

At the date of this report, the Group has not early adopted any of the
following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet

effective, in these consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17

Amendment to AG 5

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments®

Accounting Guideline 5 Merger
Accounting for Common Control
Combinations (Revised)®

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions?

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
Beyond 30 June 2021*
Reference to the Conceptual Framework®

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2°

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture'

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use®

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract®

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020°
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ADOPTION OF AMENDED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the related impact
of adopting the above new and revised HKFRSs. So far, it has concluded
that the above new and revised HKFRSs will be adopted at the respective
effective dates and the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on these consolidated financial statements of the Group.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently adopted to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or the present
ownership interests proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another

measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquirers date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from
such re-measurement are recognised in the consolidated

profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(U]

(i)

Consolidation (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquire over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in
the consolidated income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Profits and losses resulting from intercompany transactions
that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes directly attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investees net assets
including goodwill.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(iii) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the
date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

(b) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or
decreased to recognise the investors share of the profit or loss of
the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group's investments
in associated entities includes goodwill identified on acquisition.
Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and the Group's
share of the net fair value of the associates identifiable assets and

liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is

reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Associates (Continued)

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of
the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to share of profit of investments accounted for using
equity method in the consolidated income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised
in the Group's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investors interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates of
interests are recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Foreign currency translation

(U]

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the functional currency). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

At the end of the year, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. W K& BORME (4)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(©) HMNIEHE S ()

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(@)  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

(b)  income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(©)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated income statement
during the year in which they are incurred.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses over their estimated useful lives from the date
on which they are available for use and after taking into account
of their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method,

at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold property

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

An assets carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the assets carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount. The assets residual values and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of

each reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within

other losses net in the consolidated income statement.

(e) Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the assets carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an assets fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment

at each reporting date.

25% to 33%
20% to 25%

20% to 25%
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised in the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the financial assets.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
(other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") are added to the fair value of the financial assets, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets at amortised cost

All recognised financial assets of the Group are measured at
amortised cost on the basis of the Group's business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVOCI:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVPL,
except that at the date of initial adoption/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income (“OCI") if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combination adopted.

Financial assets at FVOCI are stated at fair value, with any gains or
losses arising on remeasurement recognised in OCI. Fair value is
determined in the manner described in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVPL when the financial asset is
(i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as
part of a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held
for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term;

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that are the Group;

manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVOCI
as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at FVPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or
losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. Fair
value is determined in the manner described in Notes 19 and 26
to the consolidated financial statements.

Debt instruments at amortised cost

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents).

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12 months ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for significant
balances or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
grouping based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference
to past default experience and current past due exposure of the
debtors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12 months ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL

should be recognised is based on significant increases in the

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a
low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

4. HEAREETBORBE ()

()

ERMEERE ()

(i)

FEEEREZEE N ()

BERAREXENER
STRHBERI

SRR AR ESE
N K IE TREER
IN TN VPR
O ER AEMEAT

b e R AR
;?é.\,iﬁﬁmﬁﬂﬁthEl
rEEREEERBRE VD
HERAKCBEZEEM - BRIk
RNEEEAERARENE
BRI IEL, -

BELEXAE  HEBT
ARHmEAHREERES
EEERR AAKERR
ZEBTRAZEERRET
2 HE R A SR P R R IR A0
BB TERUTERKEE

REABEREERR ) HE
AEREBE: NERARAE
BANBENREIANEBEITES
HAReREEME: Rii) &H
REBARR 2 TR EBER
B S Al gE B~ — R EE
HTABRTEAGHNBR S RER
Eze - MEBTEHR

I EFRARERIR
BRER/IREMRA] - A
AEERRZEBLAASR
EEERR -

AEEBETHERANETE
ERRERBEEZIEMAIEE
BB - WRIEE RETT
185 AIBIRZFIZ2ERE S
REIEEE 2 BT R E B R
PrEa L o



Annual Report 2021 F R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ok o B 5 R M

For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit- impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater
for cases where evidence of significant increases in credit
risk at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade
and other receivables are each assessed as a separate
group);

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors;

Nature of collaterals for the receivables; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each separate group continues
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12 months ECL at the current reporting
date.

The Group recognises an impairment loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or when
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received

and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
(g) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at FVPL, loans and borrowing at amortised cost, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective

hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value.

The Group's financial liabilities comprise mainly trade and other
payables and accruals, other borrowings, lease liabilities and
amounts due to director/former director/immediate holding

company.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on

their classification as follows:

Non-derivative financial liabilities measurement

Non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair
value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(8

(h)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group
or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where applicable,
cost of conversion and other costs that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, is
calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated selling expenses.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

@

\)

(k)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions
are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are
measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as finance cost.

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement, except to
the extent it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

(i) Current tax

The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to
the tax authorities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Current and deferred tax (Continued)

(ii)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except in respect of taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences, the carried forward
of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, the carried forward
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Current and deferred tax (Continued)

4. HEAREETBORBE ()

(k) BRI RS A0 (4]

(ii) Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

(iii) Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.

(1) Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(Z2021F3A31 B IFFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. W K& BORME (4)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

(m) %A (50

(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Sale of goods

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of pearls and jewellery
product is generally recognised at a point in time when control of
the goods has been transferred, being when the goods have been
shipped to the specific location (upon delivery of goods) and the
customer acceptance has been obtained, being when the
customer has the ability to direct the use of these products and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of these products.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n) Retirement benefits scheme

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave
as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of

reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not

recognised until the time of leave.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC
based employees of the Group participate in various defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by the relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the PRC under which
the Group and the PRC based employees are required to make
monthly contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage

of the employees’ salaries.

These plans are a state-managed retirement benefits scheme
being operated by the local PRC government. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute 6% to 20% (2020: 10% to 15%) of the
average basic salary to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired
PRC based employees payable under the plans described above.
Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has no further
obligation for the payment of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans are
held separately from those of the Group in independently

administered funds managed by the PRC government.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n) Retirement benefits scheme (Continued)

(0)

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the rules
and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (“MPF Scheme"), which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all employees in Hong Kong. The
contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on minimum
statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’
relevant aggregate income subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per
month, effective from 1 June 2014. The assets of this pension
scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution retirement
schemes are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a share option scheme for remuneration of its
employees (including the directors).

All services received in exchange for the grant of any share options
are measured at their fair value. These are indirectly determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted. Their value is
appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets).

ok o B 5 R M

HE2021F3A31HILFE

4. HEAREETBORBE ()

(n) BARFEAFHE ()

(0)

REBTREBEARSMERESETE
(BB THE DO 2B 2R
Bl AEZRESREER L TEME
FORREETE - BESFEIHEFE
BHEEWNEERBIBABRESY 2
SEEEHFTEEEL - HRER
BER15008 7T B2014F6H1
AREM - ZENREFTEICEER
BUEBASKHE UHRAKEZ
BESFESE -

AR ERE R FURKE B Z #3K
REARE S8 o

DAy 2 BB Ak

AEEREER (BRES) 25 M
LEBBERE -

P A R EUR TR B A #0 IR 75
TRERNVEFE - WHSEMRE
TREEATFEMEEETE - 2B
EREH B BT E I BERR A RS
RIFMIGRINEE G (Pl &
MEENRHERRAR)NTE -

101



102 Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZBRER A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EE o s R Bk

For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. HAEGFHEORBEE (4)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(0) Share-based payments (Continued) (0)  PAB:A 2 REBRE AT 3k ()
All services received is ultimately recognised as an expense in HEBGHER BB AR
profit or loss over the vesting period if vesting conditions apply, or BN EEHERNERERZAER
recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the share Yoo IR RERD S R
options granted vest immediately unless the expense qualifies for B AR EEEHH28ERAR
recognition as asset, with a corresponding increase in “Share Y MW BEERT A ERERRA
option reserve’ within equity. If service or non-market BERIRIN WEHERANZ [
performance conditions apply, the expense is recognised over the RS | FAEIZ I - (HARFS S 3E
vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the TERBIGHEER @ BB
number of share options expected to vest. Non-market B2 BB 2 HEMET RS
performance and service conditions are included in assumptions BANTERAS - siIE R B B
about the number of share options that are expected to vest. EHBELBEER Bt RIETS
Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication that KRIBEREIEM - WBERPr %8
the number of share options expected to vest differs from RNTEERERE C BB EH B A RN G
previous estimates. The impact of the revision of the original FEst  BREBESIEET - 85
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the J?ﬁfﬁ AHEE(NE) NIEBEEE
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a R B FERAIRB&EE A
corresponding adjustment to share option reserve. 5t WARME AR R AR o
Where a grant of share options is cancelled, it is treated as if it had % B 2 AR a8 - AR RE
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet A EHEASRE - M A A IR
recognised for the grant is recognised immediately. This includes HHERZEMEY - el
any grant where non-vesting conditions within the control of oo B IEIERE B IR EARERE K
either the Group or the employee are not met. 1 B 12 I &0 B 018 18 R AR 2 (1A
£ Qe

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount RITEREARAERS - B IR i
previously recognised in share option reserve and the proceeds EERAZ BB WE Z {5 RIE
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the (FBRERBEEEORZKA &
nominal value of the share issued are reallocated to share capital ZAEDERTROEE) SEHHE
with any excess being recorded as share premium. When the ERA - MEMBLESBEARAR
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 1818 o fRiEARIE R 57 B B B R 1Y
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in SR A B BRI i R 1T - BB
share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses. ARBREREER BB ER

ERFER -
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4., WAREGFIBORBEE (4)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases (p) ME&
Definition of a lease HENES=

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand- alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements
would not differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of premises that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight- line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. HAEGFHEORBEE (4)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases (Continued) (p) (%)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases (Continued)

(6]

The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as
receivables at commencement date at amounts equal to net
investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate implicit
in the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than those
incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included in the
initial measurement of the net investments in the leases. Interest
income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a
constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group's and the Company's financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company's shareholders or directors, where appropriate.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(r)

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive directors, which are the Group’s chief
operating decision-maker for their decisions about resources
allocation to the Group’s business components and for their
review of the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported to the
executive directors are determined following the Group’s major
product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable and operating
segments: (i) sales of pearls and jewellery and (ii) strategic
investment and financial services. Each of these operating
segments is managed separately as each of the product and
service lines requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches.

All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.
The measurement policies the Group use for reporting segment
results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial
statements prepared under HKFRSs. Segment results represents
the loss incurred by each segment and hence is arrived at without
allocation of certain income and expenses (including finance
costs, corporate income and expense and income tax expense).
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s) Related parties

(@) Aperson ora close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

0]

(i)

(iif)

as control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company's parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply: (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures the fair value of its convertible loan notes
and unlisted property fund at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

®

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participants ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to these fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 ~— based on Inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices)

or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)

Level 3 — based on Inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data (that is

unobservable inputs)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(u) Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.
Government grants are recognised in the consolidated income
statement on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in consolidated income statement and
presented as “other gains/(losses), net” in the year in which they
become receivable.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the
directors of the Company to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the adoption of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

5.

HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables

The management estimates the amount of loss allowance based on the
credit risk of the customers, the Group then uses provision matrix to
calculate ECL for the trade receivables. The provision rates are based on
internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that have similar
credit risk characteristic. The provision matrix is based on the Group's
historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable, and available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observable
default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward looking
information are considered. In addition, certain balances of trade
receivables and those credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.
The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.

The above assessment requires management judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying amount of
receivables and credit loss allowance/reversal in the period in which the
estimate has been changed.

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 March 2021, the net carrying amount of trade receivables
was approximately HKS$5,480,000 (2020: HK$26,496,000). The
management of the Company determined that net provision for
allowance for ECL on trade receivables on trade receivables were
recognised in consolidated profit or loss amounting to approximately
HK$12,905,000 (2020: HK$309,000) for the year ended 31 March 2021
(Note 21(a)).

Allowance for ECL on other receivables

The management estimates the amount of loss allowance based on the
credit risk of the debtors, the Group then assesses the loss rate of the
debtors by referencing to the default rates from international credit
rating agencies, adjusted for forward-looking futures specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

The above assessment requires management judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying amount of
receivables and credit loss allowance in the period in which the estimate
has been changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Allowance for ECL on other receivables (Continued)

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 March 2021, the net carrying amount of other
receivables was approximately HK$33,684,000 (2020: HK$7,846,000). The
management of the Company determined that provision for allowance
for ECL on other receivables were recognised in consolidated profit or
loss amounting to approximately HK$289,000 (2020: Nil) for the year
ended 31 March 2021 (Note 21(b)).

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated selling expense. The Group would evaluate
ageing analysis as to identify the slow-moving inventories. The Group
would also estimate the net realisable value of inventories based
primarily on the latest market price, current market conditions and
subsequent selling price, and make allowance for slow-moving
inventories when the Group identified items of inventories which have a
net realisable value that is lower than its carrying amount. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste and
competitors actions in response to severe industry cycles, such
differences will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision
charge/reverse in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 March 2021, the net carrying amount of inventories was
approximately HK$24,827,000 (2020: HKS$34,102,000). The management
of the Company determined that net provision for impairment losses on
inventories was recognised in consolidated profit or loss amounting to
approximately HK$9,995,000 (2020: reversal of approximately
HK$33,363,000) for the year ended 31 March 2021 (Note 20).
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

5.

HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates

Determining the equity interest held by the Group in associates and
estimating its value in use requires the management judgements and
involved high level of estimation uncertainty. Should the estimates and
the underlying factors be changed, there would be material changes in
the equity interest in associates and the estimated impairment provision
made.

Detailed information in relation to investments in associates are set out
in Note 18.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for
all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

Fair value of financial instruments

The Group selects appropriate valuation techniques for convertible loan
notes and unlisted property fund which are classified as Level 3
investments in accordance with the Group's accounting policies.
Valuation techniques commonly used by market practitioners are
applied. Binomial option pricing model is used for valuation of the
components which involves several key assumptions and estimates. As
at 31 March 2020, the fair value of convertible loan notes and unlisted
property fund were approximately HK$31,992,000 and HK$4,710,000
respectively.

Related disclosure about the fair value change of convertible loan notes
and unlisted property fund are included in Notes 19 and 26, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in different jurisdictions. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in
the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences are
recognised when management considers it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised. When the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and taxation charges in the period in which such
estimate is changed.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include unlisted property fund,
convertible loan notes, trade and other receivables and deposits, cash
and cash equivalents, other borrowings, trade and other payables and
accruals, lease liabilities and amounts due to director/former director/
immediate holding company. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments, which include market risk (foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk, and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Save for credit risk, the
Group does not have written risk management policies and guidelines.
However, the board of directors (the “Board”) meets periodically to
analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group’s exposure to
different risks arising from the use of financial instruments. Generally, the
Group employs conservative strategies regarding its risk management.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk

(U]

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk refers to the risk that the fair value of
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC, the
United States of America (the “USA”), the United Kingdom
(the "UK") and Europe (the "EUR") with most of the
transactions denominated and settled in HKS, United States
dollars ("US$"), European dollars (“Euro”), British pound
sterling (“GBP”) and Renminbi ("RMB”). No foreign currency
risk has been identified for the financial assets and financial
liabilities denominated in RMB, which is the functional
currencies of the subsidiaries in the PRC to which these
transactions relate. The Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk primarily arises from certain financial
instruments including convertible loan notes, trade and
other receivables and deposits, cash and cash equivalents
and trade payables which are denominated in USS, RMB,
GBP and Euro. During the years, the Group did not have
foreign currency hedging policy but management
continuously monitors the foreign exchange exposure.

As USS is pegged to HKS, the Group does not expect any
significant movements in the US$/HKS exchange rates. No
sensitivity analysis in respect of the Group'’ s financial assets
and liabilities denominated in USS$ is disclosed as in the
opinion of directors, such sensitivity analysis does not give
additional value in view of insignificant movement in the
USS/HKS exchange rates as at reporting date.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BAWs ks A PR H OB R BUR ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) T EBE (%)
()  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SMERE(E)
The following table summarises the Group’s major financial TERBINHREBHARE
assets and financial liabilities denominated in currencies NEEBRRIZINEEE LA
other than the functional currencies of the respective group INZEEHEZEESHE
companies at the reporting date. ERcHREE-
Expressed in HK$'000
NFBTE5
2021 2020
2021 F 2020
RMB Euro GBP RMB Euro GBP
AR¥ BT W ARE BT it
Convertible loan notes HRRESRER - - - - - 31992
Trade receivables JEER - = = 85 - -
Deposits and other e R EM KRR
receivables 12 - 33,394 1 - 4627
Cashand cash equivalents  R& RZERRE 2,262 275 95 925 342 95
Trade payables FEER (1,073) )] - (754) (47) -
Overall net exposure B kRFE 1,201 273 33,489 267 295 36,714
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HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. S E b A B H B R BOR (4])
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) i bE (%)
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SIERRE(E)
The following table indicates the approximate change in TRERAER ZEEEHRE
the Group's loss for the year and equity in response to RiERZZBMAES) %
reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates B FEINEE R 2 5B A 88
to which the Group has significant exposure at the reporting & EE(AEBRHEHPRE
date. ARERRER)
2021 2020
2021 % 20205
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
inforeign  Effecton in foreign Effect on
exchange loss for Effect  exchange loss for Effect
rates theyear  on equity rates theyear  onequity
HEER H SN B E3)
R/ FEFE HEzZ /. FEFE  HEsz
(T F&) ZEE E% (TB&) LR vE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET THET
RMB ARE +10% 120 120 +10% 27 27
-10% (120) (120) -10% 27) 27)
Euro Bt +10% 27 27 +10% 30 30
-10% (27) (27) -10% (30) (30)
GBP R +10% 3,349 3,349 +10% 3671 3671
-10% (3,349) (3,349) -10% (3671) (3671)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
reporting dates and that all other variables remain constant.

The stated changes represent management's assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over
the period until the next annual reporting date. A positive
figure represents a decrease in loss or increase in equity and
vice versa for figures in brackets.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are considered
to be effective.

BURE AT TH R RO [ R
""""" BEE RS A HH%"E&F)T
BEMATBERRETE
EETE ©

ME IR E IR E AT (MR
ETEEZT*MEJ*#&E‘E
HEABE 2 &2 Al se &
8RR ERR X*Eﬁﬁié
e mESEA 2 BFAER -

REBERINE RS 2 BUR
BEERLF wﬂ'rﬁ?‘ﬁﬂl
BHM -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Bank balances at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk while
the convertible loan notes and other borrowings carried at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 March 2021, if interest rates on bank balances had
been 25 basis points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$21,000 (2020: HK$16,000) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income on bank
balances.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been followed
by the Group since prior years are considered to be
effective.

HE2021F3 831 B IEFE

6. A FEE B H R X BOR (4)

(a) T EBE (%)

(ii)

FRmEk

A = b BT 35 N R B 8
HeMIARATEXRER
EXEKBNERBR - L
EEFEZRITEBRERE
@@%ﬂﬁim%ﬂﬂﬂ

i AR E R R R LI EE
MEAEZ HMEEREARSE
B A T EN R E R o A
S WER i‘“%ﬁ’%mui
RE DX IS R
2 .

AN B B A8 R R R
Ko A BEEEBEEENE
R UHRBEREEEZE
EHMEAN XM

B2021F3 8318 HRTT
A2 ME T TR 2518
A mprAH M #AER
BrE . AFERFEER
1558 D/ 18 A1 #921,0007 7T
(20204F : 16000587T) » T B
MR IRTITA & 2 F B U A 38
nEd e

AEBEEEFEER 2 BUR
BEEMEZF  UTRAEBK
KA -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

S 5 Dl B A B R B BB ()

(b) Credit risk (b) 15 & )m\ B

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fall to discharge its obligation under the terms
of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group.

Credit risk mainly arises from trade and other receivables and
deposits, convertible loan notes and cash and cash equivalents.

Trade receivables

Most of the Group's customers do not have independent credit
rating. Trade receivables are continuously monitored by assessing
the credit quality of the customers, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors. Credit limits of
customers are reviewed periodically. In order to minimise the
credit risk, the management of the Company has to comply with
the credit and risk management policies approved by the Board of
the Company, established credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up actions are taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount for each individual trade receivables including
reviewing the credit history, settlement patterns, subsequent
settlement and ageing analysis in determining the allowance for
doubtful debts and ascertain that the adequate allowance for
doubtful debts are made for irrecoverable amount at the reporting
date. In this regard, the board of directors considers that the
Group's credit risk is effectively controlled and significantly
reduced.

The Group adopted the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit loss which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for trade receivables.

Management assessed the expected loss on the trade receivable
with significant balances individually by estimation based on the
historical credit loss experience, general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date.

EERRESRTAHF T RER
EMTAZIRKEITEME  BHA
SESBHBEBERZER

EERREERNEREREE M
MR R LIRS  ATREERRE
ARRERERRE -

BB E K

AEBRED FPHEEEMN
e BRREFBBIZEPEER
g BRAMBL  BELR R
HiHE - MEREESR - AR 7
EHBHEPZEERE - RAE
EERE  ARRERECSETHE
AprREFeHEZ EERARE
BHREK - FIFEERE - FEFEL
REAMEEEIRT - AMREREUR #
TTENBYBERETS - tHD - AEH
RS B HIE R & IR 8 5l W E %
ZAWE S BREENEERE
e ENER - RREMNMRED
I ABETE RERBME - WHERE LD
AJ U (O] & B8 1 fE 4 2R B B 1R R
eptmE  BEFERA - A%
Bz EERRDEEBIES KA

AEBRMBCIDEAELIERE
EEBERE  ZBETERFTE
WERERE2HMEREEERE
g o

EREREBELEEBERLER &
A ETT R — RGN R i
& HHIHE A RIRAAOR T A E
BIFHE A EAERBRAERE KK
BHIEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In addition, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that
there has been no default occurred in respect of certain largest
customers past due 90 days or more and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable due to long term and on-going
business relationship and good repayment record from these
customers. As such, the directors of the Company considered that
the presumption of default could be rebutted for certain largest
customers.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group uses
geographical areas to assess the impairment for its remaining
customers because these remaining customers consist of a large
number of small customers with common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms. The Group's trade
receivables are grouped under a provision matrix based on shared
credit risk characteristics by reference to geographical area, past
default experience and current past due exposure of the debtors.
These rates are adjusted to reflect the differences between the
economic conditions during the period over which the historical
data has been collected and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the credit risk characteristics of the debtors. Such
forward-looking information is used by management of the
Company to assess both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management of the Company to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

S 5 Dl B A B R B BB ()

(b) 15 EemE b (45)

e &K ()

BEAN - RABESRA - FLEH 0
BN L2 ETHRAEPME @ I
BERLENAARNERARFERS
RN ZER PO RIFERCE
ZEEARIBPAR R EHKED -
- RRABEERR/UETRAR
Fms  EOKEANTRE -

ERAEEEERRERN &
o AEERAMETEERTE
FoEE  REASZEHRTERPE
EREAAFRRBRSHN/NEE
B mMZzERRFEEARRERS
RIE B BRI A B B AR
BES - REBMEWERTIZ2E M
B BEENLRREF AR
HiE R RIEE N K REE R R
B EERE D E - R RTIEHR
BRI B 1 SR IR B 8
R EAEEHEHAEERRE
BOEERANERZENER -
ARBERERRAZEAMELEER
AHER S B H 2 IR AR R TR
RRTTE - DETIRARFERE
EHIRE - WEREFEREEE
BAZBBRER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BAWS b A B H B R BUR ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) f&E B (%)
Trade receivables (Continued) ERER(E)
The following table shows the Group’s expected loss rates (shown TRVIRF 2021 F K& 20204 3 A 31
on a weighted average basis) adopted to the ageing analysis of B AEEYHEKEZBREDEA
trade receivables, based on due dates, as at 31 March 2021 and CEEBONMEMZBHREBEXR (IR
2020: IR ERESR) ¢
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
BHEBERE IREAE ERRE REFEE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FTET FAET
At 31 March 2021 M202153H31H

Ageing based on the due date  1RIEFIEAE ~ BR#k

Not overdue R HA 0.26% 384 (1) 383
Overdue by: B

110 30 days 12300 0.22% 4,179 (9) 4,170
3110 90 days 31E90H 0.90% 446 (4) 442
91 to 180 days 91E 180 H 62.08% 1,279 (794) 485
181 10 365 days 1812365 H 100% 12,095 (12,095) =
Over 365 days #818365 B 100% 13,368 (13,368) -

31,751 (26,271) 5,480
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(Z2021F3A31 B IFFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

S 5 Dl B A B R B BB ()

(b) 15 &b (%)

Trade receivables (Continued) ERER(E)
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
TRHIEIE X REeE ity REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET FET
At 31 March 2020 202063 H31H
Ageing based on the due date 1R IEZIHI B Z Bk
Not overdue PN 3.5% 13,780 (487) 13,293
Overdue by: B
1to 30 days 1%&30H 11.9% 3,207 (382) 2,825
3110 90 days 31290 H 13.2% 6,549 (866) 5,683
91 to 180 days 912 180H 32.6% 2,339 (763) 1,576
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 27.9% 4,325 (1,206) 3,119
Over 365 days Bim365 H 100.0% 13,394 (13,394) -
43,594 (17,098) 26,496

Relevant information with regard to the exposure of credit risk and
expected credit losses of trade receivables as at 31 March 2021 are
set out in Note 21(a).

As at 31 March 2021, the largest and the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 74% and 84% (2020: 14% and 87%)
of the Group's trade receivables balance respectively. The directors
of the Company considered the credit risk from this concentration
was not significant as these counterparties were sizeable and well-
established companies in the jewellery industry with sound
financial position, one of which is a company listed in Hong Kong.
All of these counterparties have retail stores in Hong Kong and
elsewhere in the world.

BRARBWEFN2021F3A3182
FERBEEHREESEZEEE
BEFRKITE2160) ©

R2021FE3A31H ' ZFARRAAR
EFoplthAEBE R EREHY
74% K 849% (2020 F 1 14% K 87%) °
RRREERABELEBNEEF 2
FEERBRIYTELN  RREAZEY
FHAERKRETENABRT B
Mz EREREER T AR H
F-MAREBLMZAR - TE
ZEHFHYREBREREMM
REETEL -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

S 5 Dl B A B R B BB ()

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Deposits and other receivables

The Group uses historical default experience, past experience, and
also available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information, as appropriate, to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. As disclosed in
Note 21(b)(i), certain other receivables of HK$33,394,000 are due
from the debtor and its wholly owned-subsidiary are well-
established multi-national companies in the realty agency industry
in the UK, the directors of the Company assessed the default rate
of the debtor and the recovery rate by referencing the
international credit rating firm after considering the updated
financial information of the debtor, the progress of the debt and
financing arrangements of the debtor as well as the expected GDP
growth rate. In view of such, the directors of the Company have
provided the expected credit loss on other receivables for the
interest receivable of approximately HK$289,000 (2020: Nil) for the
year and no further expected credit loss of convertible loan notes
receivables was provided as at 31 March 2021 as the credit risk
does not have significant change between the date of
reclassification and year ended.

Cash and cash equivalents

In respect of cash and cash equivalents, the Group placed them in
banks and financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies. Management of the
Company considers the bank balances are short-term in nature
and the probability of default is negligible on the basis of high-
credit-rating issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.

(b) & mEbE (%)

7&K H At B WORK

AEBFEABTENES  BAELK
BRABSZAERBRERELE
B (nEA) FFEEERR B VPR
MMX LEEEEN - Mk
OFTHE - BETERSmEAMD
EEEH&ZEE%K 33,394,000 LK B #% (&
BAREZ2ENBARAEREL
ERETERELEKANBEERA
A ARBEELEREFANR
M IEERBRBEBRSERBREEF
WAE - EEAEFLRBELZEED
EE UREHBRRNEERERER
% DAFHAER AR ELBEE KUK
Bl - It - KRR EZERAF
575 B IR UL B 2 At FE U AR 5R Y
T8 A {5 & B3 18 51 42 #1549 289,000
770 (20204F + #8) + MA 2021 4F 3
A318 AR EERRREFHE
AHEFAHBREYESE KE (L
M B TR B S R IR R TR
HEEEBE —Pat iR -

RERERRE

PRERFRREMT - NEEH
HEERERRERFREETT
RRERERZRIT R B
ARREEEBRRIRITHEBRAED
HE - BRREERMRBIETA
BABIRAI T2 - Eit - BIaR
BARBTERX -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Convertible loan notes

For the convertible loan notes as at 31 March 2020, the issuer and
its wholly owned-subsidiary are well-established multi-national
companies in the realty agency industry in the UK and the board
of directors consider the credit risk was not high.

On 9 November 2020, the convertible loan notes expired and full
redemption was required by the Group. As at 31 March 2021, the
outstanding principal amount was yet settled and reclassified as
other receivable. The board of directors consider the other
receivable reclassified from convertible loan notes as credit-
impaired and detail credit risk assessment is included in the
"deposit and other receivables” as above.

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group's
financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment:

o 1 B A P

HE2021F3 831 B IEFE

6. Vs L b A BE H AR R BUK (4)

(b)

5 B b (4
THRRERE

?‘fﬁAzozo¢3ﬂ31 HH) Al AR B 3K
EREMmMs FTARERZENEBER
Y AR l%m?ﬁﬁ TEZBE
RIFERNT  BEEERAEE
J—USMT:E °

R2020F11 AoH » AR ERE
BRI AEEATHED E(‘
2021 F3A31H  MABEEASHE
MR W EH 5B AH AR
HoEBEZERE BAIERERE
BENOE s EMERERRTIRE

ERE -

FHRENEERRFAER

EX e REMRKERR] -

T%?ﬁlJ//\LTT%Hﬂ{ZTEETEfﬂﬁ
MASEEREEZEER

External 12 month or Gross carrying
2021 credit rating lifetime ECL amount
20215 MBEEFTR NREARZPEABEEERSE REAE
HK$’000
FTHER
Financial assets at amortised costs
RBHERATECERMEE
Trade receivables (provision matrix) N/A Lifetime ECL 5494
JRE s R (AR ) A3 B > HTEAE BB
Lifetime credit-impaired 26,257
EHEERE
Deposits and other receivables N/A 12 month ECL 829
Be MHE M ERERK ANiE B R2EAEREERBE
Convertible loan notes and Caa-C Lifetime credit-impaired 33,683
interest receivables included in
other receivables
FT AH A B AR R AT AR B R R IR Caa-C 2HEERE
Ko e W 2,
Bank balances High credit-rating 12 month ECL 24,424
(See above)
HRITAEER =15 B 1218 AR A E B &R

e
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

()

HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. A FEE B H R X BOR (4)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) & mEbE (%)
External 12 month or Gross carrying
2020 credit rating lifetime ECL amount
2020%F SNERIEERTAR 1n2MERSkEHEBREEER BREAE
HK$'000
THET
Financial assets at amortised costs
REBFHRATTECERMEE
Trade receivables (provision matrix) N/A Lifetime ECL 28,863
e & R (BB ) AN B S HIRHEERER
Lifetime credit-impaired 14,731
2HEERE
Deposits and other receivables N/A 12 month ECL 12,017
e MHE M EWERK TE R 1218 AR HEEEE
Bank balances High credit-rating 12 month ECL 34,491
(See above)
IRITREER == ER 1218 BEEE B &R
(B30
The credit policies have been followed by the Group since prior REEZEEHREERS T - I
years and are considered to have been effective in limiting the RREABREBERBASEEEE
Group's exposure to credit risk to a desirable level. {*Eﬂ 2 PR Fll FE IR ABUK S -
Liquidity risk (c) WBE &b
Liquidity risk related to the risk that the Group will not able to MBE &R EAREEREREITE
meet its obligation associated with its financial liabilities. In the FlemaEzETNRERER -
management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and EEERBERRRIH - AEE

maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows in the short and long term.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to have been effective in managing
liquidity risk.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at
the balance sheet date of the Group's trade and other payables
and accruals, other borrowings, lease liabilities and amounts due
to director/former director/immediate holding company based on
undiscounted cash flows (include interest payments computed
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
balance sheet date) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.

ERREREEERSRANES
RERREKF  RAKEZZE
REES MEERESRERH MK
RSz HE -

AEEZRPECHRRCERS
FUIRREABREREERY
BTRE -

TRETREE A REERNER
REMEMNERR R EFER - Eb
B8 HEEERENESR FE
£/ EEBRARRBZATAL
MR - WWRREBREIRBESR
E(BRERAOMERY (HAFS
ME)RBEER ZHRFAEZHE
H‘)&$EITWKIE@ZE
B HHEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

S 5 Dl B A B R B BB ()

(¢) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) TBE 4k (4)

The Group's financial liabilities have contractual maturities as

AEEERMABZAMNIHA W

follows: T
On demand Between Between
or less than 1and 2 2and5
1 year years years Total
RERD
PR—F —ZWmE MERSF st
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T THIT T FHET
At 31 March 2021 72021563 H31H
Trade and other payables FERTE TR Bt e
and other accruals R R E M ERTE A 13,200 - - 13,200
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,320 254 42 1,616
Other borrowings (Note) HEEE (M) 30,000 - - 30,000
Amount due to immediate FEREEIZER AT
holding company A 339 - - 339
44,859 254 42 45,155
At 31 March 2020 202063 A31H
Trade and other payables FERTE R R B E R
and other accruals R EMERTE A 19,239 - - 19,239
Lease liabilities HEAE 3276 2,860 3,439 9,575
Other borrowings (Note) HuEE (M) 30,734 - - 30,734
Amounts due to director/ ENES AIES
former director WIE 848 - - 848
Amount due to immediate EREEER AR
holding company A 339 - - 339
54,436 2,860 3,439 60,735
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HE2021F3A31BILEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(¢) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Note:

Certain other borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “on demand or less than 1 year” time band in the above maturity
analysis. As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate carrying amounts of these other
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$28,000,000 (2020: HK$2,000,000).
Taking into account of the Group's financial position, the directors of the
Company do not believe that it is probable that the borrower and the lender
will exercise the discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
directors of the Company believe that such other borrowings will be repaid
within two (2020: one) years after the end of the reporting period in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements. At that time, the undiscounted cash outflows amount to
approximately HK$34,300,000 (2020: HK$2,240,000) at 31 March 2021.

(d) Fair value estimation

(U]

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other payables and accruals,
other borrowings and amounts due to director/former
director/immediate holding company. The directors of the
Company consider that the carrying amounts of these
financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values at
31 March 2021 and 2020.

6.

S 5 Dl B A B R B BB ()

(o) LB & EkR (4)

MEE -

(d)

(M

BEERERERIGR2E THAME
BEREMEEHBES T ATRE
RFOR—E |47 - B 2021F3 A
3NH ZEHMEEZEREAED
328,000,000 7% 7T (2020 F : 2,000,000
BT o KEET RAEE Z BB -
AABEBFWTHEEERARER
ABATREITERIEEZRAIRE
B ARRESME ZSHEME
ERREERBEME 2 ETER
BEIR RS SR B M (20206 « —
F)NEERE - RER - R2021F3 A
BSIHZ RBRBEREN R
34,300,000 7T (2020 4F © 2,240,000
BT °

AR

YHEAFEFABEZEMT
=

WHEREAFEFEZSRT
ERFEREEER e kH
HEMER ReRERR
& ENEREKEMENSEK
HEEFER HMEER
ENEEFIEE EHEE
AR RRAEEFR
BZEsMEERABEZE
T {8 B2 H 722021 £ [2 2020 4F
3A3BZ AT EMRS -



Annual Report 2021 F R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R

For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(Z2021F3A31 B IFFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets
are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into
three levels based on the relative reliability of significant
inputs used in measuring the fair value of these financial
assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

6. A FEE B H R X BOR (4)

(@) 2A°PAathE ()

(ii)

ROATVEFEZEMTA

B 5 1R R AR AR B IR 1R 0V B
MBMESEBEZEREEN
BEZRAFEELIZ2EDS

HREBREAELSEME
ERBEZATFEEMER
ME 28 ABIRNEYE A 5
BE HemEEMABES
DRZEAR - 2 FERE
DRATER

HREENAEETR
B Z B (CREFHE)
(B18)

BREERF1EZRE
h BESABEZATEH
REE (BMER) sk
(BIR B B) @ A BUK
(F28) »

WIRIE R B T 5 8L
EmMETCEENAR
PN 87 Q- IRIR 3
BABUR) (F34) -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Continued)

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the
financial assets is categorised in its entirety is based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. The financial assets measured at fair value in
the consolidated statement of financial position are
grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

6. Vs L b A BE H AR R BUK (4)

(d)

AP R ()

(i) BAFEFEZEMIA
(&)

EeMEEZNEY  AF
BERZKFERE A FE
AEREAREZEEBA
BUBRIKF - RERA MISAOR
KARDNFEFAEZERE
EDEDRIATHATES

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1HR H28 E3IR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Financial assets SREE FET F#&xT FET FH&xT
At 31 March 2021 R202163A31H
Financial assets at FVPL: BAFEAEEE
L EBEE
— Unlisted property fund —EETMMEES - - - -
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEFAREMEER
Wz SBEE ¢
— Interest in Campfire Group  — B2 Campfire £[& 2
(defined in Note 18) Em(EERR
Bi5E18) - = = =
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE18 EDF FE3M wEt
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Financial assets SREE FHET T T FHEIT
At 31 March 2020 71202063 A31H
Financial assets at FVPL: BAFERFABRER
LERMEE
— Unlisted property fund —IELTEES - - 4,710 4,710
— Convertible loan notes — A BRREREE - - 31,992 31,992

- 36,702 36,702




6.

Annual Report 2021 F R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ok o B 5 R M

For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. I E B A P H R R EOR (4)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(d) Fair value estimation (Continued) (d) AP ()

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within level

RAFESREIBIRZATFE

3 of fair value hierarchy: FrEHER
Interestin Unlisted
Campfire Convertible property
Group loan notes fund Total
i
Campfire AR kL
SEzER BEREE MEES st
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FHET FH&T
Carrying amounts as at R2019F 48182
1 April 2019 IREE - 32,546 34,500 67,046
Additions N - 811 3,800 4611
Fair value loss recognised in RIFEERERZ
consolidated profit or loss N EEE - (1,365) (33,590) (34,955)
Carrying amounts as at M2020F3 H31 B &
31 March 2020 and 2020F4 12
1 April 2020 REE - 31,992 4,710 36,702
Fair value loss recognised in RIFEERERZ
consolidated profit or loss N EEE - (4,168) (4,710) (8,878)
Exchange differences EHER - 2,083 - 2,083
Reclassification EFHBE(RWE 18
(see Notes 18 and 19) X19) - (29,907) - (29,907)

Carrying amounts as at
31 March 2021

M2021F3A31HZ
BREE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

S 5 Dl B A B R B BB ()

AP R ()

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued) (d

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of
measuring fair values are unchanged compared to the previous
reporting periods.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfer between levels of fair
value hierarchy as of the date of the events or change in
circumstances that cause the transfer. There have been no
significant transfers between the levels in the reporting periods.

The Group's financial assets classified in Level 3 use valuation
technique based on significant inputs that are not based on
observable market data.

Information about level 3 fair value measurement

As at 31 March 2020, the convertible loan notes in its entirety was
measured as FVPL and the fair values are determined using
binomial option pricing model and the significant unobservable
input used in the fair value measurement is (i) expected volatility
and (i) present value of contractually determined stream of future
cash flows discounted at the required yield for receivable
component. The fair value measurement is positively correlated to
the expected volatility. As at 31 March 2020, it is estimated that
with all other variables held constant, an increase in the expected
volatility by 5% would have decreased the Group’s loss by
approximately GBP15,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$144,000) while a decrease in the expected volatility by 5%
would have increased the Group’s loss by approximately
GBP13,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$125,000) for
convertible loan notes.

For the significant inputs for the convertible loan notes applied for
year ended 31 March 2020, please refer to Note 19.

EAATREHELE R BAT
68 7R 2 773 T A 8 A 3
@JO

AEBZBRRBNSIBEEZEMH
HERAEERBARTFESERZ
FEﬂZiﬁ}%vzf ° EQ%E%/HHFE?%%&ZFE‘?I
BEREE -

AEBOBRFEIRZEREER
RERBEAE AZE(LIFERA
BEmIS8IR) 2 MESIM -

BHAFEIMAFETEZES

R2020F3 318 AJRERE
BEEARATFEFABRZRE
2 MAFEDFERZBEXAEE
BENET  MAFETEER
R E AT A B AU A () TEHB
R R (i) UK BR RN EE D 2 & HIFEE
KRB RELRAMT WS EEIHE 2
REETE - AFE 2 LTEEEIE
ZIFABBR - K2020F3 8318 ¢
WM SR=ERTE 5
AMBREREEMS @ [HErTEHR
18 = F 5% 7% 38 B A 55 [ 5 18R
#715,000 % £ (18 & 5 %7 144,000 %
JC) T TE HA R 08 T P& 5% A% 8 B
£ B E B IN413000 K8 (HE
H#I12500087T) °

BRBEHZE 2020063 A31BILFEE
AR E R EEMNEREH AR
1 - 52819
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

S 5 Dl B A B R B BB ()

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued) A PAEA ()

(d)

Information about level 3 fair value measurement
(Continued)

As disclosed in Note 26, the Group determined to suspend the
investment in the properties in the UK through the unlisted
property fund and all deposits amount was forfeited. As at 31
March 2021, the fair value of unlisted property fund is assessed to
be zero.

As at 31 March 2020, the fair value of unlisted property fund was
determined using binomial option pricing model and the
significant unobservable input used in the fair value measurement
was the expected Hong Kong risk free rate. The fair value
measurement was positively correlated to the expected Hong
Kong risk free rate. As at 31 March 2020, it was estimated that with
all other variables held constant, an increase in the expected Hong
Kong risk free rate by 50% would have decreased the Group’s loss
by approximately HK$357,000 while a decrease in the expected
Hong Kong risk free rate by 50% would have increased the Group's
loss by approximately HK$359,000.

For the significant inputs and fair value measurement for unlisted
property fund, please refer to Note 26.

As at 31 March 2021, the fair value of investment in Campfire
Group is determined by reference to the latest financial position
and performance of the Campfire Group and the current
operating situation under co-working spaces industry, please refer
to Note 30 for the management assessment.

FRFIRDFEFEZEN(E)

AN EE 26 TR R - ANEBAEY
FBEBEIELTYEESHREFMH
EETRE  fTEEseBEYE R
e 7202138318 FELETY
EESHWAFEFEAT -

R2020F3A31H - JELETEE
2 AFETERZIBHREEER
NET @ MAFEFEMEANE
AT EBRGABIEATEREAE
BRFIR - AFEFEEEHEE
mEFEZ2EMRBEER - 722020
F3R318 - WA EMA] B EE
HREILE  BEAEAERRFE L
FH50% 1% BB A & B B ER 2 4
357,0008 7T - M TEHA A 6 3 e A
TR 50% 6 28 BUAR S B ES 1R N
#9359,00078 7T °

BRAFLTMERESZERBAH
BERATHERE - F2RHME26

2021438318 ¥ Campfire &
BB R FETIZE Campfire 52
EOSIMSMRR REEARLE
THEEMITEBRMEEMRNE
E - BEAEEIEE2 MM -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. B b A B H AR R BOK (4])
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(e) Financial instruments by category (e) FBUNH 43 0y 4 ik T H
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of e MBAARERP 2 2 BREER
financial position relate to the following categories of financial UTemEERERABBEENE
assets and financial liabilities: g :
2021 2020
20214 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Financial assets as per consolidated FEMBRRRFIEHEE

statement of financial position

Financial assets at FVPL BATFEFAEBRRZCREE
— Convertible loan notes (Note 19) — AR EREE (F5E19) - 31,992
— Unlisted property fund (Note 26) — FEETWEES (H5E26) - 4,710
Financial assets at FVOC! BATEFAEMEERRZEZ
CREE
— Interest in Campfire Group (Note 30) — WA Campfire 528 2 25
(B3 30) = -

Financial assets measured at
amortised cost
— Trade and other receivables

WEBIERAGTEZ S REE

— FEUCE SRR B U R R e

and deposits (Note 21) e (MisE21) 39,703 38,513
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) —ReRERRE (F:E22) 24,424 34,491
Total st 64,127 109,706
Financial liabilities as per consolidated %A M KEMRR KT ERAE
statement of financial position
Financial liability measured at REHENAHECeHAE
amortised costs
— Trade and other payables and — EBNERREMERERER R
other accruals (Note 23) HihpEst & A (MisE23) 13,200 19,239
— Lease liabilities (Note 24) —HEBE (HFE24) 1,559 8,765
— Other borrowings (Note 25) — HAb B & (f3E25) 30,000 30,734
— Amounts due to director/ —ENES RIEEHE
former director - 848
— Amount due to immediate — R EEER A RIFKIE
holding company 339 339
Total st 45,098 59,925




Annual Report 2021 F R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ok o B 5 R M

For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HILFE

REVENUE 7.

Revenue from sales of pearls and jewellery represents the amounts
received and receivable from customers in respect of goods sold less
returns and allowances.

Interest income on financial assets is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable.

WA

HERREKRBEZWAEREMmE KRR
FEW B P 2 RIRRERE MATH -

SREE Y FBIMATIES % Mk (8
A% R A A SRR R 2 e B
5o

The Group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows: FRNEEDRZAEBERALNT :
2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&TT
Sales of pearls and jewellery from contracts NS ER T BEMBRE
with customers within the scope of ZERE 15 REBRN 2 HEL IR
HKFRS 15 recognised at a point in time RREEF & WA 41,244 109,791
— Sales of pearls —HEEI 1,987 26,092
— Design and sales jewellery products — R MHEEREES. 39,257 83,699
Revenue from other sources outside the BB HREERE 15 EIN
scope of HKFRS 15 2 H AR 2 WA
Interest income from strategic investment AR E R TS RS L2 A
and financial services 2,080 2,187
43,324 111,978

The Group has adopted the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of
HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for pearls and jewellery products such
that information about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when
it satisfies the remaining unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) performance
obligations under the contracts for all contracts that had an original
expected duration of one year or less is not disclosed.

AEBME BB B BERELERE155E
VB2 BERERE T ERMNEE IR IR
EEMZHEEAY  BRREATERE
HAE—FRUTZHEEOME @ W&
BPEEBRASEEEXNANBTZHT
MAREK (S D ER) BHEERFE
UER Z WA Z B R}
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments have been determined based on the
information reported to the executive directors, being the chief

operating decision maker of the Group, that are used for performance
assessment and to make strategic decisions. The Group’s operating
businesses are structured and managed separately according to the
nature of their operations and the products and services they provide.
Each of the Group's operating segments represents a strategic business
unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of other operating segments. The
Group currently has two operating segments:

(@)  Sales of pearls and
jewellery products

Design and sales of jewellery
products, and sales of pearls

(b)  Strategic investment Real estate financial assets

and financial services investments and investments

in associates

The executive directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of segment results. This measurement
basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure and of corporate
expenses from the operating segments. Other information provided to
the executive directors is measured in a manner consistent with that in
the consolidated financial statements.

i WEEORY

AREBZEEDMERBANTES (A
FEEXTBEERRN)BREZEHNE
o BRERTAEFERRELFELR
BEIMERE - ARBZEEEBIIRER
EBHEERARE CERMRBERZR
BUEE - AREEEEDHIEREE
an KBRS 2 REGER TS EALL - HE R K
EIHRENNEMEED B - NREBERE
BmEZLEDH

(@ HEBKE RALHEEKRE
KEEM Em o URIHE
B232N
b FKEKRER FHESBMEERE
B H5 BR %5 MRBE QT2
BE

PITEFIRIES PR BT EEE
SUER - B BEETQEEESE
ZIHERMEL RO EM L2 HE - R
BT HITE 2 E R R A TS
BE—HZ PR E -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. &R ()
An analysis of the Group's reportable segment revenue, results, assets, NEFIRKEE S EE| 5 2 0] 2 3o Rk
liabilities and other selected financial information by operating segments A HE BE BELEMETEE
are as follows: BERZATIT
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEYHE KBRER
KREER B 7 AR A% et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HZE2021E3A31BILEE

Segment revenue 2 EBWA 41,244 2,080 43,324

Segment loss 7 EbEsIE (39,664) (2,600) (42,264)
Finance income g alEay 7

Finance costs BTSN (4,445)
Equity-settled share-based payments A # 45 E LARS 19 A B RS 30 (30)
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBERS (5,345)
Loss before income tax BRETISBIRTBE (52,077)

For the year ended 31 March2020 EH Z2020F3A31HILFE

Segment revenue Bk 1 ON 109,791 2,187 111,978
Segment loss o EBES1E (25,240) (211,855) (237,095)
Finance income g e 371
Finance costs B 7 A 2R (8,549)
Equity-settled share-based payments  BR#E4E E AR (9 A EHE R (2,796)
Unallocated corporate expenses AOEERE (32,333)
Loss before income tax BRETSHIRIIGE (280,402)
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from EXERzHHWMAEREINEFPELE

external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the years. ZWas o MEFEIED SEHEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. HEbER (#)
Segment results represent loss incurred by each segment without DEHEBESOBELAZEE  HEIWE
allocation of central administrative expenses including directors’ PP RITHEFES  BREEEWE L
emoluments and salaries and other operating expenses incurred by the SURARR A MREERARIEFZH
Company and the investment holding companies, certain other gains/ By - BT HMKE (BB &
(losses) and finance income and costs. This is the measure reported to B RS ZE RN o it Tk o B R 2 5
the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource O EREMRAETERLLERETAZH
allocation and assessment of segment performance. =
Segment assets and liabilities o3 ¥R e M AU
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of assets and TXEINEREEKENEMRSE D 2
liabilities analysed by the geographical area of operations of the Group: EENBEBEZREES T
At 31 March 2021 72021538318
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEYHRR HEBRRER
BKEEM B 75 R 7% st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THET FHET
Segment assets DEEE
— Hong Kong — &E 52,468 60 52,528
— The UK — R - 33,394 33,394
— The PRC — 3,227 - 3,227
55,695 33,454 89,149
Unallocated corporate assets RO EEE 2,616
Total assets BEEBE 91,765
Segment liabilities PEHEME
— Hong Kong —&E (4,138) (1,536) (5,674)
— The PRC — (1,013) = (1,013)
(5,151) (1,536) (6,687)
Unallocated corporate liabilities FAOBREEEE (39,133)
Total liabilities =R (45,820)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(Z2021F3A31 B IFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. &R ()
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) SrERE R M A (5)
At 31 March 2020 202063 A31H
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HELHKE HBERAR
KRB Em BT RS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T THBT
Segment assets DEEE
— Hong Kong — &8 102,576 865 103,441
— The UK — EH - 41329 41329
— The PRC — 13,871 - 13,871
116,447 42,194 158,641
Unallocated corporate assets AP EEE 16
Total assets BEMBE 158,657
Segment liabilities SEEE
— Hong Kong — B (9,936) (5,132) (15,068)
— The PRC — (17,876) - (17,876)
(27,812) (5,132) (32,944)
Unallocated corporate liabilities RoBEEAE (40,581)

Total liabilities BERE (73,525)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain
property, plant and equipment, certain deposits and prepayments,
and certain cash and cash equivalents that are not attributable to
individual segments.

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain
accruals and other payables, amounts due to director/former
director/immediate holding company and other borrowings that
are not attributable to individual segments.

8. iR (#)
gyl M AR ()

REFENBRAMND BRI EER :

BRETYE BEERE FTE
ENMENTIE  WRETRENME
RERE N ABR D EIN - FAEE
ENDRERLENE -

fRE TR BB R E MR RR -
ENEE HES EEERQA
IR R E AR B G AE R 2 B
S FRERESBDEEEENE -
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 March 2021
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8. iR (#)

FoAth 43 5 R

HZE2021¥3A31HILEE

Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEYKRR FBRRER
KREER B 7% AR 5 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Amounts included in the AESHERARSHEE
measure of segment loss and st Az &8
segment assets
Additions to property, RNEWE - BEREE
plant and equipment 25 - 25
Depreciation of property, M - WERBEITE
plant and equipment (466) (62) (528)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREEEZINE (1,236) (415) (1,651)
Gain on disposals of property, HEWE - BFE K& HE
plant and equipment W 156 - 156
Fair value loss on convertible @R ERER 2 A TE
loan notes E518 - (4,168) (4,168)
Fair value loss on unlisted FLEmYEESZRTFE
property fund B8 - (4,710) (4,710)
Written off of prepayments W SE TR FRIE (1,491) - (1,491)
Provision for allowance for ECL SHEEWER ZFEHEE
on trade receivables, net E1EEHE - FEE (12,905) - (12,905)
Provision for allowance for ECL FT 12 E At FE W BR 3R 2 TR AR
on other receivables EEEBERE - (289) (289)
Provision for impairment losses FHRGFEREEERE -
on inventories, net EER (9,995) - (9,995)
Impairment loss on property, W~ BB REE R AR
plant and equipment and BEREEE
right-of-use assets - (378) (378)
Written off of property, MEEME - WE k&G
plant and equipment (888) - (888)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

8.

HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

g iR e (4)
FoAt 43 Bk (4)

HZE2020F3A31HILEE

Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEPHRE  REERKRAER
KREEM B 7% A 7% et
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FHT FHT
Amounts included in the FESBERRSBEE
measure of segment loss and st Az &5
segment assets
Additions to property, RNEYE  BERE
plant and equipment 928 100 1,028
Depreciation of property, M - WEREBBEITE
plant and equipment (1,048) (64) (1,112)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE (427) (934) (1,361)
Loss on disposals of property, HEME  WERREZ
plant and equipment g (39) ) (41)
Fair value loss on convertible AR ERER 2 A TE
loan notes [izgi] - (1,365) (1,365)
Fair value loss on unlisted FLEmYEES 2 RTFE
property fund B8 - (33,590) (33,590)
Share of loss on investment DIERBERAZIRE 2
in associates g - (28,614) (28,614)
Impairment losses on investment REERRZIRE 2 RBE
in associates 1B - (147,391) (147,391)
Written off of prepayments e NN - (1,026) (1,026)
Provision for allowance for ECL FHRERER CEHEE
on trade receivables, net iR - R (309) - (309)
Reversal of impairment losses FEREBERD - 358
on inventories, net 33,363 - 33,363
Written off of property, WY - HERE
plant and equipment (161) (253) 414)
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1 March 2021 #EZE20219F3A31HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. n#bEr(4)

Geographical information Hb [ Rt

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA, the UK and AEEBEEREE PE - EFH - HEH
Europe. The Group's revenue from external customers based on the KRN & o AN BIR & & FTE i 8l
locations of operations and information about its non-current assets by ZREBEHIINERE NS RIRZEBEE Y

geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

wEED ZIFRBDEEZERFIIT

transactions with one individual customer, which is located in the USA, amounted to
approximately HK$25,336,000 (2020: HK$39,312,000) which represented
approximately 58% (2020: 35%) of total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021.

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets*
REHIEFZWE FRBEE*
2021 2020 2021 2020
2021 F 20205 20214 20204F
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FH&T
North America* b=
— The USA —% 30,098 62,281 - -
— Others — Hfh 37 327 - -
Europe BOM
— Germany — EH - 8,705 - -
— Italy — BAF - 18 = -
— The UK — B 2,329 2,187 - -
— Others — HAth 1,328 3,003 - -
Hong Kong B 6,786 20,355 1,098 3,073
Asian countries EEVLIETER
— PRC —
(excluding Hong Kong) (‘TEEERS) 966 828 651 7427
— Japan — B 84 10,167 - -
— Others — HAth 22 841 - -
Others Hi 1,674 3,266 - -
43,324 111,978 1,749 10,500
* Non-current assets included property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets * FERBEEEBREYE  BWENMREARE
only. FIRATE -
# Included in the sales of pearls and jewellery products segment, revenue from the # WERULKEER D SBEEEZE20214F3

A3BLSFE  #B—FNREBZERNES
T 5 2 WA 4 5253360007 JT (20204 -
39,312,000 7T ) + 15 7 & B 8 W A 4958%
(20204 = 35%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

9. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 9. JfttMedi (#H) » H#
2021 2020
20214 2020 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Exchange gain/(loss), net B (BR) 38 6,331 (1,526)
Gain/(loss) on disposals of property, HEWE  BEMREZ
plant and equipment (Note 34(a)) Wzs, (E58) (M 3% 34()) 156 (17,678)
Written off of property, plant and WsEYZE - BB KRR (MRt 15)
equipment (Note 15) (888) (477)
Impairment loss on property, plant and M WEREEREAEEE
equipment and right-of-use assets RIEEE (378) -
Gain/(loss) on early termination of REKR THEEWE W (BE)
lease premises 33 (233)
Compensation of early termination of leases* 12 4% |- TB & 7 i {E (1,840) -
Government grants* S HEEh 381 -
Others EHAth 510 406
4,305 (19,508)
* During the year, the Group has negotiated with certain landlords for terminating * FER - AEFDEETFEIERRIEPEBK
certain lease agreements for the operation of factories in the PRC and office in Hong EREANAELENETHERZ -OF
Kong. The compensation of early termination of leases of approximately EX S MERRIETEE 2 18 471,840,000 7%
HK$1,840,000 was paid to landlords and recognised as other loss in the consolidated T YRGS B RERAEMES -

profit or loss.

4 The government grants were mainly consisted of the sum received from the relevant ' BT B) = EmFE 1 AR B 2P W B bA 2
authorities of the PRC to support enterprise against the negative brought by the BEERBCOVD-19ORBERERNEEMTE
COVID-19 pandemic. As at 31 March 2021, there were no unfulfilled conditions or RS- R2021F3A31H  ZS5/BE

contingencies relating to these grants. RIERK IS SR AR -
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10. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

For the year ended 31 March 2021

o 1 B A P

HE2021F3 831 B IEFE

10. B P13 B il i 18

2021 2020
2021 2020 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ET FHEIT
Costs of inventories sold, BEREFERA - s/ (BE)17F
excluding provision for/(reversal) BRI ERE
of impairment on inventories 38,362 101,725
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss HE/(BR) 78 2 RERE
on inventories, net BiE - FE 9,995 (33,363)
Employee benefit expenses (including EEBNAX (BREEHT)
directors’ emoluments) (Note 11) (PfFEE11) 16,003 49,085
Auditor's remuneration = EREM N &
— Audit services — BIZRS
— current year — REE 550 700
— overprovided in prior years — BAFEEERE - (200)
— Non-audit services — FEZIRTE 10 238
Depreciation of property, VI - BB MR EITE (M5E15)
plant and equipment (Note 15) 528 2,376
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16)  {# FIEEEITE (M 16) 1,651 1361
Written off of prepayments WSH TR SRIE 1,491 1,026
Provision for allowance for ECL on trade TR ER Z EHEEEE
receivables, net (Note 21(a)) B FE(E210) 12,905 309
Provision for allowance for ECL on sHEEMEWRZ 2 B EEE
other receivables (Note 21(b)) B (HEE210) 289 -
Short-term leases payments, gross (Note 16) 2 ERFHE 2k - 4278 (ME16) 174 11,308
Less: operating lease income on Ve ﬁ%%zi‘“%fﬂ SWA
sub-premises = (3,009)
Short-term leases payments, net EEMEENR  FE 174 8,299
Exhibition expenses EBEHRY 96 2,742
Commission expenses Mex 53 185
¢ ZeBEOAGREBE ZHERAR ©

# The amount was included in the cost of sales in the consolidated profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R A B R Pk
For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 11. BEBAFZ (LHEEEHNE)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2021 2020
2021 2020
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ExT FHET
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEMET 15,669 43,042
Equity-settled share-based payments* & AE 45 B AR A B S 3R
(Note 31) (B&E31) 30 2,796
Pension costs defined contribution BEZeHATERRAGTE R
plans and social security costs LR RER A 304 3,247
16,003 49,085
* During the year ended 31 March 2021, certain directors resigned before the vesting * HBE2001FE3/8318IEFE ETEERNMHE
condition of the relevant share options were satisfied, the Group reversed the AERE BB EERET  AE®
corresponding equity-settled share-based payments recognised in prior years of ERGAESARONBEFEERR AR
approximately HK$ 1,359,000 (2020: HK$4,424,000) in the consolidated profit or loss. % W 45 B LA (D B EE R 5 B 49 1,359,000 78 7T
(20204F + 4,424,000 77T) °
Five highest paid individuals EIEA 3 1 NS
The five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for the FR - AEBREZEGESFHATEER
year include one (2020: one) existing director of the Company, whose NA—% (20205 —B)REEFE - ®
emoluments are set out in Note 37. The emolument of the remaining L2 FA KT EE37 o HE#0U % (2020
four (2020: four) individuals is as follows: F B AEZBenT
2021 2020
2021 2020
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAET
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IEREMETR 2,586 3,864
Equity-settled share-based payments i e 48 5 DA RR A7 72 BB AT 3R 132 2,168
Pension costs defined contribution BEEZEHANERRARGTE R
plans and social security costs HERER AR 71 71

2,789 6,103
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(Z2021F3A31 B IFFE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 11. 1@ B A B = (35 3% F &)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (%)
(CONTINUED)
Five highest paid individuals (Continued) hg AL ()
Except for the directors’ remuneration disclosed in Note 37, the number BRKIE7IREBEZEEZMEIN BRT
of the remaining four (2020: four) individuals whose remuneration fell 5 B i 2 2 EeAH & (20206 < PH &)
within the following bands is as follows: AT AEMAT

Number of employees

BEAZ

2021 2020

2021 % 20206

Nil to HK$1,000,000 % 1,000,000 % 7T 3 1

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 T E 1,500,000 7 7T 1 1

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /& 7T 2 2,000,000 & 7T - 1

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 BT E 2,500,00078 7T - 1
During the year ended 31 March 2021, no emoluments were paid by the RBE2021F3A3BIEFE - KK
Group to the five highest paid individuals, including directors, as TERALEESFMAL(REES)X
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for HERIB S - fF ARSI H AR A
loss of office (2020: Nil). 7N 55 B B 2 5% B ok B Bk 47 18 (2020 FF -

&) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 12. Bt (3K4), B 32

2021 2020
2021 20204
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&T FiET

Deferred tax; RIEFH IR

Net (credit)/charge for current year REE (Be)  FFE

(Note 17) (K¥sE17) (292) 1,420
Income tax (credit)/expense FTiSH (%), /B (292) 1,420

Hong Kong profits tax

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had
no estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
Nil). Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HKS2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of entity not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%.

PRC corporate income tax

In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income tax laws,
regulations and implementation guidance notes, subsidiaries in the PRC
are subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate at 25% of the estimated
assessable profits during the year (2020: 25%). No provision for PRC
corporate income tax have been made as the Company's subsidiaries in
the PRC have tax losses brought forward which are available for off-set
against the estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 March
2021 (2020: Nil).

Withholding tax on distributed/undistributed
profits

The PRC tax law imposes a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by a
tax treaty, for dividends distributed by PRC subsidiaries to its immediate
holding company outside the PRC for earnings generated beginning on
1 January 2008. No withholding tax on distributed/undistributed profits
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

U B

MR AREEREE2021F3 831 B IEE
B AL A RS R - MO Et F B
RIS R VER M (20205 « ) - IRIEFIG
B AE - & B E R 2 5 2000000%
T v M) #5152 8.25% S A + 1M 2,000,000 7 7T
LA £ 258 R 2 16.5% 847 - RT A B
RIBEF S B R RS FT T2 BB 2 m A i
PEEIRE) — T 16.5% BF -

o T

RIFEBEPBRCEMERIERE RO &
EiEiESIFE  FREMNBARAKRER
fir 5t B 38 B35 T 25% 2 B R (2020 4F -
25%) R R B FTS R o AR AR A
ZHBENBAREEANBIERKE 7
EEEE 2021 F3 A3 BILFE 2 HE
FERRFLH A (20204F « 42) - BRI E L P
B ZEATS R L B -

B4R, AR 4 IR A < B AL

B 20084 1 A1 HFAR @ BRIEBIBET K
BT LR A - BRI B FR 3R 5 P B
BRI AEERFmREFRERINEE
AR R Bk B B B AN 10% FEFNFL ©
HE2021F3A3BILEFE  AEBE
DR, AR IR i F I 48 18 30 B R (2020
Fm|m)o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HILFE

12. P GRS ), BH 32 (4)

(CONTINUED)
The amount of income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be KEEMEFRGRE),FZHEBRTE/R
reconciled to the loss before income tax as follows: BIEE 2 SR -
2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&T FHIT
Loss before income tax FRFTSTRIEE (52,077) (280,402)
Tax calculated at statutory income tax rate A EMBHRRRAE 2 FIE (8,592) (46,266)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBEEREE 2
operating in other jurisdictions WEBAR TRME 28 (639) (1,453)
Tax at the statutory tax rates on AT E T B EGE S AT
losses attributable to an associate E518 2 Bl 1R - 4,721
Tax effect of: Mg
Expenses that are not deductible TRAIHOF 2 2
for tax purpose 2,763 40,497
Income not subject to tax BAERZ WA - (38)
Temporary differences not recognised HMARRER Y B EE 1,990 1,312
Tax losses not recognised AR Z BiIEEE 4,903 2,689
Utilisation of tax losses not BRI ARTER < BIAEE
recognised previously (717) (42)
(292) 1,420

LOSS PER SHARE 13. HiER
FREAREBBZHTENRENART Y
BRI R EREERANFADEITER
R 2 INiEEHEGHE -

The calculation of the basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the
loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

2021 2020
20214 2020 F
Loss attributable to equity holders of ARa R ELEE (FTET)
the Company (HK$'000) (51,785) (281,822)
(Restated)
(F&&E7))
Weighted average number of ordinary M ESREAREEMAZ L BR
shares for the purpose of calculating IS (FAR)
basic loss per share (thousands) 224,317 181,432
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

13.

14.

HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year. The weighted average number
of shares used for the purpose of calculating basic loss per share for both
years has been adjusted for the issue of shares pursuant to the Share
Consolidation (Note 28 (a)) as if the Share Consolidation had occurred on
1 April 2019. Accordingly, the basic and diluted loss per share for the
year ended 31 March 2020 have been restated.

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares. The potential ordinary shares of the
Company are share options (Note 31). The calculation of dilutive effect of
share options is determined by the number of shares that could have
been acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market
share price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to the outstanding share options. The
number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share
options.

For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the assumed conversion
of potential ordinary shares in relation to the share option has an anti-
dilutive effect to the basic loss per share.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend any payment of dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

13.

14.

B 1R (4])

BREREBTIIZARNTREEES
BRIAFERE BT SRR 2 IEFEHEE
Ho ARTEMFEFAGREARNEBEN
miEFHRECHIBIBER DA M EHITH
A AR 31T B (P 5L 28()) - BANAR 1D &
HER2019F 41 BEE - A HZE
200F3 A3 BIEFEMNESRER L #
SEEBEEY -

BREEBRVEBABRETENZE
BENEFABE - UERERMAE
BEBELAR ARRZEEEARK
RIBRE (MEE31) - BREEETE 2
At ETIARE W RITEBEREN 2R
BRZERER JRATFEEEAXR
RABRGD 2 FH2FEmERN ER) KB
ZEMBBETE - B EMAEZRNDE
BEERITERBRERD BT ZRMDE
BT

HE2021F K2020FE38A31BIEEE
BREREAEREZ BELTBRES
RERGSEEAEREETE -

iz &

EETEEAREE2021F3A31HILEF
FEIRFHEAI BB (20204 « £E) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. W3 ~ Wb il

Furniture,
Plant fixtures
Leasehold Leasehold and and Motor
property improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
HEET Bl RKE
HENE e B R PEL e @it
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T 7 7 T T T
Year ended 31 March 2020 HZE20205F3831H
34
Opening net book amount FUREFE 69,343 465 1128 135 772 71843
Additions NE - 3038 435 147 - 3620
Disposals (Note 34(a)) & (B3 34a)) (68,548) (2,089) (39) 9 - (70685)
Depreciation (Note 10) e (H10) (795) (538) (304) (77) (662) (2,376)
Witten off* (Note 9) g (MzE9) - (414) - (63) - (477)
Exchange differences EHER - - (1) - - (51)
Closing net book amount FREEFE - 462 1,169 133 110 1874
At 31 March 2020 R2020F38318
Cost AR - 493 21,906 505 2986 25,890
Accumulated depreciation e - 31 (20,737) (372) (2876) (24016)
- 462 1,169 133 110 1874
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s T B R P
For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(Z2021F3 31 IEFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. P3€ ~ Wb B fs (48)

(CONTINUED)
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
HEETEE BEREE &M KERRE AE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FER Figx TiEn TEx
Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ202153A31ALEE
Opening net book amount FOREFE 462 1,169 133 110 1,874
Additions NE - 25 - - 25
Disposals (Note 34(a)) HE (M7 34) = - - - -
Depreciation (Note 10) & (Mzh0) (123) (233) (62) (110) (528)
Impairment loss REBE - - (66) = (66)
Witten off* (Note 9) fiisa (zE9) - (888) - - (888)
Exchange differences ERESR = 116 = = 116
Closing net book amount FREEFE 339 189 5 - 533
At 31 March 2021 R2021%3A318
Cost A 493 20,349 323 2,650 23,815
Accumulated depreciation ZitiHE (154) (20,160) (318) (2,650) (23,282)
339 189 5 - 533

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s plant and machinery with carrying
amount of approximately HK$888,000 was written off upon the closedown the
factory in the PRC. For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's leasehold
improvements and furniture, fixtures and equipment with carrying amount of
approximately HK$477,000 was written off upon the termination of certain leases of

Hong Kong office.

On 16 December 2019, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of the leasehold
property located in Hong Kong at cash consideration of HK$53,000,000.
The disposal transaction was completed on 16 January 2020. After the
disposal, no leasehold property had been pledged to secure the other
borrowings granted to the Group as at 31 March 2020.

* HZE021F3A31HILEFE  AEBEKEEE
#9/%888,000 8 T BV R 5 B 4 28 7O RE BA R B T
MRIETES - BLE2020F 3 A3 HILEFE &
EEEREEN B477000B T2 HEEFEE
REM - £BERIZECREIEEERAE
E TR -

MR2019F 12168 » AEBBEBIE=
FHEIM B E W - AR SR E 53,000,000
BTHEMRBEENHEEME - HEX
SBR2020%F1 B16 B MK - RHEEE
R2020F3A831 8 EAEMERE
AR TAREE 2 At EEEER -
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. L E

Premises
L/
HK$'000
FH&TT
Cost: AN :
At 1 April 2019 recognised upon the application R2019F 4 A1 BIERE B SHRE%ER
of HKFRS 16 165 R HERR 1,252
Additions NE 9,192
Early termination of lease RERE&RIEEE (1,252)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 20203 A31 B KX 2020F4H1 H 9,192
Additions VN=E 708
Early termination of lease RR&RIEEE (6,504)
At 31 March 2021 R202163 A31H 3,39
Accumulated depreciation: EEHITE
At 1 April 2019 recognised upon the application R2019F 4 A1 BEABBHISHREAER
of HKFRS 16 165 R HERR -
Charge for the year (Note 10) FRRAZ (FE10) 1,361
Early termination of lease RE&IEEE (795)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R2020F3 A31 B KX 2020F4 1 H 566
Charge for the year (Note 10) FARRAZ (FE10) 1,651
Impairment loss RERE 312
Early termination of lease RERILHEE (349)
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3H31H 2,180
Net carrying amount: SREEE :
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3H31H 1,216
At 31 March 2020 202063 A31H 8,626
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 16. S E ()

The right-of-use assets mainly represent the Group's rights to use
underlying leased premises as offices for its operations under operating
lease arrangements over the lease terms, which ranged from 1 to 3
(2020: 1 to 4) years, which are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the early termination of lease was
resulted from the closure of certain factories in the PRC.

The right-of-use assets have been recognised, on a lease-by-lease basis,
at the respective initial carrying amounts equal to that of the related
lease liabilities, which are determined based on the lease payments
discounting using respective subsidiaries’ incremental borrowing rates
of 5.1% to 15.0% (2020: 5.1% to 15.0%) as at the date of initial recognition
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

FREEETZEAAEBRELCLHE
ZHEREHR (N1 234) (20204 ¢
1 BEAF ) AR ELEFEHAABEEDE
ERANE ZREF| - ETIRK AR R 9T
ERZREBE(E)YE  THA
MEFTEHEAEERE -

HZE221F3A31BIEFE BRI
HETBRREFRHBEEET IR -

FREEECKEEZBEHEEENZSG
RAEEESNERAEa EVGER
B)BR - MzEREEREZE 2021 F3
A3 BEFEDNREBEFAEYISERA
Hrz&WBARIEEERFENF51%
Z15.0% (20204 : 5.1% & 15.0%) 8L 38 1
ENKET -

BRHEARENHEEEET 2 EREDS
S HE WY EEINERRE - HE
BETARIEEERER -

2021 2020

2021 % 2020

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT FET

Fixed payments (Note 34(b)) (& T 1~ 3% (T 5 34(0)) 1,450 1613
Expense relating to short-term leases D EATR E MR 2 M X (ffsE10)

(Note 10) 174 11,308

Total cash outflow for leases MEZHSRTDB% 1,624 12,921

During the year ended 31 March 2021, rental payment of HK$480,000
was not yet paid and recognised in the other payables in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021.

HE2001F3A3BIEEE - MAXA
72 € 480,0008 7T * W 2021F3 A31H
K41 & B TS AR O 2R B E Ath B 1< BR 51 P 7E

7
e
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HILFE

17. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

The followings are the major deferred income tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

. EIEBLIE (B &) Al

K‘%lﬁ/\éﬁz;‘%zoz FIANHILFERE
RZEIBREEMER(BE) BERE
'''''' HEMT o

Timing
differences
arising Unrealised
from tax profitin
depreciation inventories Total
REFEEE REH
ZEEER FEEA #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT T
1 April 2019 M2019F4 /1R (316) 812) (1,128)
Net charged to consolidated HamaiEmn s /58
profit or loss (Note 12) (FF5E12) 608 812 1,420
At 31 March 2020 and 7 20209F3 A 31 H &
1 April 2020 202054 A1 R 292 - 292
Net credited to consolidated FTASREERZFE
profit or loss (Note 12) (fFE12) (292) - (292)

At 31 March 2021 720213 H31H

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has unused tax losses and deductible
temporary differences relating to the allowance for ECL, all of which are
arose in Hong Kong have no expiry dates under the current tax
legislation of approximately HK$70,756,000 and HK$26,271,000 (2020:
HK$56,733,000 and HK$17,098,000) respectively. The Group has unused
tax losses arose in the PRC, which will be expired in 5 years, of
approximately HK$36,714,000 (2020: HK$11,877,000). Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these balances due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams.

As discussed in Note 12, withholding tax would be payable on the
unremitted retained earnings of certain PRC subsidiaries. The PRC
subsidiaries have been incurring losses since commencement of
operation and there were no distributable retained earnings as at 31
March 2021 (2020: Nil).

R2021F3A8318 AEEMBEREMATE
HEEBEERE 2 ABDAMEBE XA
MRERERINEBEE  RIBRE
R APt ERSHBE  E9R404
70,756,00078 7T 5 26,271,000/ 7T (2020 4F
56,733,000 7T £ 17,098,000 78 7T ) » N £
EFEENRTEEABRSFRNIEZ X
&) R A T8 B8 49 36,714,000 78 7T (2020 4F
11,877,000 70 ) ° AR RBETEET R K &=
FImE MU ERZELEHRERIELER
HEE °

B 12 PRl - A E TR BB
REIZ RGEERBEMNZSEINH - B
FtREELR - REIB AR —HESE
B 18 - #2021 43 A31 H I 0] 5k
REEF(20204F « £) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. A B A v R E

2021 2020
2021 2020 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FET

Share of fair value of net assets DML g BEFEATE
on acquisition - 4,865
Goodwill EES - 171,140
Share of post-acquisition profit or loss MUk EE1R 828 = (28,614)
- 147,391
Less: Impairment loss B OREEE - (147,391)

Campfire Group (as defined below)

On 10 June 2019, the Group and the two independent third parties
entered into the sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the
vendors have agreed to sell and the Group has conditionally agreed to
acquire the sale shares, representing 30% of the issued share capital of
Guardian City Limited (“Guardian City") at a total consideration of
approximately HK$176,005,000, of which is satisfied by cash as to
HK$10,000,000 and 153,000,000 shares issued by the Company at
HKS$1.085 per share (equivalent to HK$166,005,000) (Note 28). On 25 June
2019, the acquisition was completed. Upon the completion of the
transaction, Guardian City became an associate of the Company.
Guardian City is principally engaged in investment holding which holds
62.55% equity interest in Campfire Holdings Company Limited
(collectively as “Campfire Group”). Campfire Group is principally
engaged in operation of co-working spaces and co-living spaces in Hong
Kong and the UK. At the date of acquisition, Campfire Group operates a
total of 12 co-working/co-living spaces. Detail of the transaction were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 28 May 2019, 10
June 2019 and 25 June 2019.

Campfire £ M (7€ 3% 7 F30)

M2019F6 108 REEEMRZE L
FE=HEIUEEWHE Bt ZEFES
ERELE  mMAKBEDBEERZEK
B 84 B 19 (4B & 7 Guardian City Limited
([ Guardian City ]) 2 87T B2 A 2 30%) -
R AB 49 75176,00500078 7T & AR
% 110,000,000 7T B BARRIEE
1% A% 173 1.085 7 7T 8 17 153,000,000 A% A% 17
(FEE F 166,005,000 7T ) 2 77 = 2 A4 (B
5F28) e R2019F 6 A25H 0 WEEED
TERK © AR 5 FER & » Guardian City B /&
AR Z B AR ° Guardian City E Z1¢
F & B & R # A Campfire Holdings
Company Limited (4578 [ Campfire 5£H |)
Z26255% M HE - Campfie E B EERF
BRABRNREAZ TEEEMEEZERE
ZEfEEE - NIIBEIERH - Campfire &
EeBEs X NEAXETE HKEEEE
Me XSHFBEEBHAE2019F5 A28
B 201963108 Kk2019%F6H258
AR RIAEPHE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Campfire Group (Continued)

At the completion date, the fair value of net identifiable assets of
Campfire Group was amounting to approximately HK$25,926,000. The
management assessed the consideration by referencing to the valuation
of the fair value of 100% equity interests in the Campfire Group,
estimated by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Ltd (“CHFT"), an independent
firm of professional qualified valuer, based on market approach for the
starting-up business. In view of the future development potential of the
co-working spaces industry in Hong Kong, goodwill of approximately
HK$171,140,000 was recognised by the Group and presented included
in the investments in associates.

On 1 August 2019, the Group had entered into the loan facilities
agreement with the Campfire Group for granting the loan in the
principal amount up to HK$25,000,000 carried with interest rate at 15%
per annum to Campfire Group for the period of 12 months from the
drawdown date to the final repayment date subject to the terms and
conditions at the discretionary right of the Group. The loan facilities
agreement was expired on 31 July 2020 and no amount was utilised
during the facilities term.

In February 2021, Campfire Group was under the capital restructured by
transferring and allotting shares of Guardian City and Campfire Holdings
Company Limited among the shareholders. Upon the completion of the
capital restructuring and as at 31 March 2021, the Group no longer holds
any equity interests in Guardian City and has directly held 2.5% of
Campfire Holdings Company Limited. In view of such, the directors of
the Company have classified the investment of Campfire Group from
associate to financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income at the completion date as the purpose of the investment is for
long term investment (see Note 30).

Up to 31 March 2021, the Group paid partial cash consideration of
HK$6,000,000 to vendors for the acquisition and the outstanding balance
of HK$4,000,000 is recognised as other payables (Note 23) in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at that date.

18. R BHE A v E (4])

Campfire £ M (%)

WR5ER B HA - Campfire £ B 2 A #% 5I1°E E
SFEZ AN F{EY) 5259260008 7T B
EBE2EMBLEXEAERMGELRE
DA EERAR ([ ZEH D) RERR
MBI 2 M5 A a8 Campfire 52 &
100% K EN A FEGBEYREETT
G ENEERZTIEEMITEZRE
BRB N - ANEBREREE4171,140,000
BT WEI AT ARBE QB ZIRE -

201958 A1 H » A& [ B Campfire &
BRIV ERBE RS - IR RGNS
MET THRAEEBZHBERE M
Cmpfireres B R B A BEHZ B
25,000,000 7T 2 B 5K - L FF K 15% 5t
B HiRRBEHREERAEEBHAS
121E A - B FREVE W58 72 20205 7 A 31
HEE®m RREHRTESECES
)Eﬁ °

$ 202142 A + Campfire & BI@ B R
H 8 % K AP 2% Guardian City & Campfire
Holdings Company Limited B% {7 # 17 A% Z<
B ENIRAEHRE RN2021F3 A8
31 A - AEETHEEA Guardian City B
] fx # & & % ¥ B Campfire Holdings
Company Limited 892.5% > B A ik © A
RIEEEN D ARIKE  ARFES
7 78 X B HA 16 Campfire 52 [ 19 1% &/ B
ERADBEAL AT EFAREMETEI
Wl e REE (RMFE30) -

BHEX21F3A318 AEBRKHESE
HMZEE S X NE92 IR €K {E6,000,000
PE 7T oK B B #R 88 4,000,000 % 7T 2 A
ZEHRBAMBEHRARAERBEME
MERFR (MFE23) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Campfire Group (Continued)

Particulars of investments of associates as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 are

set forth below:

18. R BHE A v E (4])

Campfire £ M (%)

20214 B2020463 131 B 2 BB A
AZREHBERIIMT -

Proportion of ownership interest and
proportion of voting power

held by the Group
Place of AEBEHENREEERRLLG
incorporation/ RERELLA
Name of associates operation 2021 2020 Principal activities
- YN MR R 2021 F 2020F FEEK
Directly held
HERE
Guardian City* the British Virgin Islands N/A 30%  Investment holding
(the “BVI") TER REER
RERUHE
(RBEL#EE])
Indirectly held
EEEE
Campfire Holdings Hong Kong N/A 18.77%  Operation of co-working spaces
Company Limited* BB i H and co-living spaces
EERZTETHRK
HZEETH
" Not audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited or another member firm of Moore d WIBAAREFEEGANEHE AR AR K

global network.

The financial reporting dates of the above associates are not

coterminous with those of the Group, as they have financial years ending

31 December.

REBREHABMZ 5 —KEEBHHEZ -

TSN T 2 RS AR EE
FIXTHER REBZERAI 2T RE
EAEZ12A31 It -



Annual Report 2021 &R 159

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Lr o g R Bk
For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(Z2021F3A31 B IFFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 18. A BiE 2 vl (4)

Campfire Group (Continued) Campfire £ H (%)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in TREHBAB B Campfire £ @ 2 81 75 B
respect of Campfire Group adjusted for any differences in accounting BME . KABRIMETREREETHELE
policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated BUEHERZ REESER

financial statements:

HK$'000
FHIT
As at 31 March 2020 20203 A31H
Current assets MBNEE 36,028
Current liabilities neaE (114,652)
Non-current liabilities IERBEE (45,712)
Net liabilities BEFE (124,336)
For the period from 25 June 2019 20195 6 525 HZ 202043 31 HHMA
to 31 March 2020
Revenue WA 76,395

Loss for the period BAIEE (152,486)
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Campfire Group (Continued)

Impairment assessment

Since June 2019, the social movement has been dampening the
economic activities in Hong Kong. The business operating environment
in Hong Kong became uncertain and challenging, as well as weaker
consumer sentiment, decline of visitor arrivals from mainland China to
Hong Kong. Business of the clients of Campfire Group has been affected
significantly and it resulted in a decline in demand of co-working spaces
of Campfire Group. In addition, since the outbreak of novel coronavirus
(the “"COVID-19") in January 2020, travel restrictions, public health
measures and quarantine requirement of travelers imposed by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region ("HKSAR")
and other countries have adversely affected the operation of Campfire
Group, which has further result in a drop in demand of co-working
space, and the average rental income of co-working space. In order to
reduce losses and maintain the business of Campfire Group, the
management of the Campfire Group has downsized the co-working
space network in Hong Kong by closing down 9 out of the 13 sites in

Hong Kong.

At 31 March 2020, the management of the Group carried out impairment
assessment on the carrying amount of its interest in Campfire Group.
The management considered that it is not possible to measure fair value
less costs of disposal under current market conditions. Therefore, the
management of the Group used the interest in associates’ value in use as
its recoverable amount. In determining the value in use of the associates,
the directors of the Company estimated the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to arise from its share of the
present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be
generated by Campfire Group, including the cash flows from the
operations of Campfire Group and the proceeds from the ultimate
disposal of the investment in Campfire Group. Based on the assessment,
the recoverable amount is equal to zero. Accordingly, the Group has
recognised the impairment loss of investment in Campfire Group of
approximately HK$147,391,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020 based
on the above assessment. The key assumptions included no growth rate
and use of 15% to discount the cash flow projections to net present

value.

18. R BHE A v E (4])

Campfire % & (%)
B R A

H219F6 A H2EH—HHES
KEEEEKITE - BEEBRRES
THREENMTEMKE - AMHEEREFEOR
55 AR RKEDBEZAB TR
Campfire EERFHEK IR EATE
B Campfire EE X Z THETERNE
SKRBE o B4 - B 202091 BB B AL
B EE (12019 BRBFEH) AR - &
BEANTHR((EBEE]) BUT K EA
BIRE M HITRS - QL& EHEERIR
BIRERT B Campfire £ 8 2 &8 &
FRAFISE - B — DB H=TE

EENERRAZ T EEHNFHES
WA T o AR A B 18 & 4 35 Campfire
EBZER  Campfire EENEEEBD S
BB 3@ F B 5 T B 9E 5 Frifn 48
WA BEZ TIEEMMAEHNEE -

F2020F3A31H  AEBEEEEHHE
MR Campfire S B 2 = 2 REEETTR
B - ERERA  RBEIMATT

CRTEMREESEN A 2 ATE-
At - XEBEEEFERAREE RRE
FAEBECESIEAEATIKE©RE - NE
EHEATEREAER  ARARESE
{HETTE BR #§ B E 55 {h Campfire &5 [# 78 B
BTEE 2 RRBEREREFME
S7EEHARRBeRERE BF
Campfre R BKEEA RS RE M &

M ER Campfire £ B 2 18 & Z TS K
IE BIBEZT S JNESEERE -
At - RIE LGS AREERER
202043 A 31 B IE F E ## 7R 7 Campfire
EE21RE 2R EE B4 147,391,000 %
T FERB[VEEERERSEA15%
IR mETRRERAREFE -
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 18. A BiE 2 vl (4)

Dellos Group (as defined below) Dellos 5 M (€ #£ 74 T 30)
At 31 March 2021, the Group had hold 33% equity interests of Dellos
Group Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Dellos Group”), of which the
particulars of investments in associates are set forth below:

20213 A31H » A & B #F A Dellos
Group Limited } H [ff B 2 5] ([ Dellos &
B ) 233% 2 ERREERTN
WEFBEINOT -

Proportion of ownership
interest and proportion
of voting power

held by the Group
Place of rEERENRETEESR
incorporation/ H I R 32 R L B
Name of associates operation 2021 2020  Principal activities
BENRER MM, R 20215 00F TEEH
Directly held
EERE
Dellos Group Limited* the Cayman Islands 33% 33%  Investment holding
HERS REER
Indirectly held
BERE
Natural Spring Global Limited®* the BVI 33% 33%  Investment holding
EREUHS REER
Dellos F&B Co,, Ltd* Korea 33% 33%  Manufacturing, sale and distribution
('Dellos F&B") B2H of fruit juice and other beverage
products
BIE - HERDHRTR
HitfmEm
Dellos International Limited® Hong Kong 33% 33%  Trading of beverage products
55 BEESmEmM
# Not audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited or another member firm of Moore # VWIERAESHEESTMEHEAER AT H

global network.

The financial reporting dates of the above associates are not
coterminous with those of the Group, as they have financial years ending

31 December or 30 June.

AREFRBREHBE 2R —KEEBEMER -

FHBE N R 2 SRS H B AL E
FIWAER - REAABZERA 2V RE
EAEZ=12A31H36A30H1E -
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Dellos Group (Continued)

Investments in and loans to Dellos Group were fully written down during
the year ended 31 March 2018. The Group was informed by the
management of Dellos Group on 20 June 2018 that Dellos F&B had filed
an application for commencing rehabilitation proceedings (the
"Rehabilitation Proceedings”) with Seoul Rehabilitation Court (the
“Court”) on 13 February 2018 and the Court had approved the
commencement of the Rehabilitation Proceedings on 7 March 2018.

The rehabilitation plan (“Rehabilitation Plan”) involves, among other
matters, reduction or exemption of the outstanding debts owed by
Dellos F&B, conversion of all or part of the creditors’ claims into shares of
Dellos F&B and repayment plan for the remaining debts. The
Rehabilitation Plan was put forward for approval by the creditors and
shareholders of Dellos F&B and the Court.

Based on the advices from the Group's legal advisers, the Group
considered it was probable that the shareholding of the Group in Dellos
F&B would be diminished. Hence, the directors of the Company
considered that Dellos F&B had ceased to be an associate of the Group
since the date of filing of application for commencing the Rehabilitation
Proceedings and that as a result of the Rehabilitation Plan, there was no
significant value in the Group's equity interests in the Dellos Group as (i)
the main operating subsidiary in the Dellos Group prior to the date of
filing of application for commencing the Rehabilitation Proceedings is
Dellos F&B; (i) the shareholding of Dellos Group in Dellos F&B would
likely be very significantly diluted; (iii) the important decisions of Dellos
F&B would require the Courts approval; and (iv) there would be no
dividend payout during the rehabilitation period. It was considered
highly unlikely that Dellos Group would bring to the Group any future
economic benefits.

18.

T W A W B (A])

Dellos 45 [ (%)
HZE2018F3 A31 HILEE » R Dellos&
BRERMEFELZERE 2EHM

L o ARE B 2018 F 6 A 20 B 7% Dellos
EEZEEEBA - Dellos FRBE 742018
FoAHMBEBEREER([ERKR]) IR
REFERBERREF((EEREF]) - B
AR B 20184F 3 A7 AL ERB B EKIR
}_?o

BEFE(TERHE D SF R (H
B % 2k EA %2 Dellos FRBASE R HY R (BB &
% BEEANEISIOERELE
Dellos F&BHIA% 15 LA K 2 N EFS BV E R
2 o B BT IR Dellos FRBRIEE A
T B5 3R A RS B LA S SR E o

hERE)

BEAEEZEBEB I ER  AEER
A NEBE R Dellos F&B 2 A% HE# 1R Al 6
gHRL e Al RAREERS ' B
RRXEAFMBEEREF HHE  Dellos
REBETBARSE L R HEE
ST 2B AR & B 7 Dellos 5= [ 2 R fE 4%
ﬁﬁfﬂﬁ JRA & ()Dellos EE R IR R

BB ERREFAHICFELENE

A a) A& Dellos F&B : (i) Dellos £ & 72 Dellos
F&B 7 A S 1R P L FE T AR HEE ¢ (i)
Dellos F&BZ B AR BRI - K
VR ERBAE T2 EIKARE © Dellos
SEWRAFBA AR E BT RE
fA] R PRAC I FI 75 o
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Dellos Group (Continued)

According to the Rehabilitation Plan, the loans made by the Group to
Dellos F&B had been made part of the rehabilitation claims, with the
Group having been regarded as a rehabilitation creditor. Although the
Group, as a rehabilitation creditor, will be able to obtain recovery of the
loans in accordance with the terms of the Rehabilitation Plan, it is subject
to approval by the Court and also the economic conditions of Dellos
F&B. In addition, based on the latest financial information provided by
the management of Dellos F&B, the financial position of Dellos F&B is net
current liabilities. Furthermore, by reference to the published audited
financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2018 all the non-
financial assets of Dellos F&B were pledged to certain banks in Korea. The
directors of the Company considered that the likelihood of recovery of
the loans and interest receivables owed by Dellos Group to the Group
was low.

On 17 October 2018, the Court approved the Rehabilitation Plan and
under the Rehabilitation Plan, there will be yearly cash payment
instalments over a 10-year period (starting from 2020) in respect of the
30% of the outstanding debts and the remaining 70% of the outstanding
debts will be converted into the equity of Dellos F&B. However, based on
the latest financial information for the year ended 31 March 2019
provided by the management of Dellos F&B, its financial performance
continued to deteriorate and its financial position is still in net current
liabilities. In view of the diminished shareholding upon the conversion of
debts to equity and no reliable estimation of future economic benefits
derived, the directors of the Company considered that the above
investment cost and loans and interest receivables were still unlikely to
be recovered.

Based on the advices from the Group's legal advisers, the management
of Dellos F&B entered into the bankruptcy proceeding to the Korean
court on 16 July 2020. Once the bankruptcy proceedings confirmed, the
Rehabilitation Plan would no longer exist and the probability of the
Group getting back any of the outstanding debts is low. In view of this,
the directors of the Company considered that the investment cost and
loans and interest receivables are unlikely to be recovered to the date
when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

18. R BHE A v E (4])

Dellos 45 5] (%)
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2EFREAERREZ 5 mMA
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19. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

19. Wi Bk i

HK$'000
FAT
At 1 April 2019 75@20 9F4H1H 32,546
Subscriptions 811
Fair value loss recognised in consolidated N EEE
profit or loss (1,365)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 720204 3 A 31 El&zozo$4ﬁ 18 31,992
Fair value loss recognised in consolidated RE \/\T% ﬁnﬁﬁ RN TEEE
profit or loss (Note 6 (b)(ii)) (4,168)
Exchange difference 2,083
Reclassification (Note 21 (b)(i) Esﬁﬁ"*ﬁ (MHEE21(0)(0)) (29,907)

At 31 March 2021

7202138311

On 10 November 2017, the Group entered into the investment
agreement and subscribed for certain convertible loan notes issued by
Wonderland (UK) Holdings Limited ("Wonderland (UK)"). The principal
amount was GBP3,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$36,050,000)
which carried interest at 6% per annum and payable on the date on
which the convertible loan notes become payable or are redeemed. The
maturity date of the convertible loan notes was on 9 November 2020
and would be redeemed at 100% of the principal amount.

The convertible loan notes could be converted at any time from the date
the convertible loan notes are fully subscribed and paid up to the
maturity date. Upon the full conversion of the convertible loan notes, the
converted shares will represent 65% of the enlarged share capital of
Wonderland (UK) immediately after the completion of issuance of new
shares. At any time after the convertible loan notes are fully subscribed
by the Group, full conversion would be made automatically when the
pre-tax audited net profit of Wonderland (UK) exceeded GBP 1,000,000
for the financial year immediately prior to the maturity date. The
convertible loan notes would become immediately due and payable if
Wonderland (UK) ceased to be the exclusive licensee of a global real

estate brand in the UK.

017F 11 B108 » "EEFILILER
# I # B Wwonderland (UK) Holdings
Limited ([ Wonderland (UK) |) 37T 2 & T
AR E R ERE - N& 553,500,000 H
55 (FHE R #936,050,00087T) » EiRG4F
6B FRH B - WARIBKREREE
RARMNSER Z HH TS - Al
EREE 2 BB A A2020%11 A9R -
WL AR ST Z 100% fE D o

AR EREE B HERMRE LY
Bz HHEZDHBEERER - NEH
EMAIRRERERE - BERRH5H
HEREBETKBETTRMNDEZ
Wonderland (UK) &3 R JE R Z 65% © 7 A]
BRERERERNEBERERBREMA
B MR BEERBAR 2 MBRFEE
Wonderland (UK) 2 Fr B 51l 48 25 4% 40 5] 8
#1,000000 & &% - A B )T LAEERE
# o i Wonderland (UK) T~ 55 /& 5 B — (@
FIKEHEME 2 BRETIA Ak
AR E RIS BB B HR R FE A o
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19. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

The Group entered into the deeds of variation to the investment
agreement, pursuant to which the conversion rate of the convertible
loan notes was varied from 65% to 99.9%; and (i) the Group and the
existing legal and beneficial owner of Wonderland (UK) (the “Selling
Shareholder”) have the call option to acquire and put option to sell,
respectively, the two fully paid ordinary shares (representing the sale
shares held by the Selling Shareholder) at a consideration of GBP350
upon the fully subscription of convertible loan notes by the Group.

Pursuant to the investment agreement, the Group has subscribed for the
convertible loan notes upon the receipt of notice of drawdown issued
by Wonderland (UK). As at 31 March 2020, the Group has subscribed for
approximately GBP3,500,000 convertible loan notes, representing
approximately 100% of the total subscription amount.

Wonderland (UK) is a company incorporated and registered in England
and Wales with limited liability and it is the exclusive licensee of
Sotheby’s International Realty Limited (“SIRL") and is principally engaged
in the operation of realty agency business in the UK. In addition,
Wonderland (UK) holds the entire equity interest of SIRL which mainly
deals in residential sales, letting, development sales, investment and
international sales in England and Wales and it currently has
approximately 22,700 sales associates.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's convertible loan notes with carrying
amount amounting to approximately HK$31,992,000 has been pledged
to secure the other borrowings granted to the Group (Note 25(ii)).

The convertible loan notes were analysed for classification in its entirety
as the financial assets at FVPL.

19. Wl i Bk % (4])

AEBF U2 EHECBEERE - &
it AR E R R 2 EBERE H65%
BEE990% : R(VRAEBERERER
B EREE % - A% B HWonderland
UKNZBREBEEEREHEAAHER
R ) o Bl ¥EB SRS BRAE DA K 38 04 B
FELA D B MR 40 R A% (FEE N IHE R
RIEE2HERD) - REAR350HEE -

BRERERZ AEEZREE
Wonderland (UK) 8 H 7 H2 BB 5114 3R B8
AR ERER - R2020F3 8318
A BB R 43,500,000 H &8 7 Al A%
EREE - BERNEREEEL 100% °

Wonderland (UK) £ — fE] 72 52 #% 3 2 B AR
HaMRTRELZ2BRAR A
Sotheby’s International Realty Limited
([SIRL]) 2 BRERTA - BFERE
BHRELEFEHEREES - LI
Wonderland (UK) 35 & SRL (£ 2 A A%
FEBEEEEHEE - N MR
E - REREBRHEE BERNEBD
22,700 BIHEAE) 2 ERAR#E -
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319920008 T2 Al MR EREECHE
7 U ARASEER D 2 EmE R
AR (B 3E 25() ©

AMEERRRD EBERAFEFA
BRREMEEZ DD

165



166 Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZBRER A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ok o1 B B R T

For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

19. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

The fair value of the convertible loan notes was determined based on
the valuation provided by CHFT, independent professional qualified
valuer not connected with the Group.

The fair value of the convertible loan notes is level 3 fair value
measurement. There is no transfer under the fair value hierarchy
classification for the years ended 31 March 2020.

As at 31 March 2020, the convertible loan notes contained both

receivable component and derivative component which are not
separated out and are classified as financial asset at FVPL.

The methods and assumptions adopted for the valuation of the
convertible loan notes are as follows:
Valuation of convertible loan notes as a whole

The convertible loan notes was measured at fair value using the binomial
option pricing model and the key inputs into the model were as follows:

19. Wl i Bk % (4)

HMKREREE 2 A TFEDREBERE
B ERE B L ERBERMGERE
TR Z EEETE -

AR EREEZ A FEARFETE
B3 o NELE20206F3 A1 B IEFE
N EEFDSLETE I mEE A o

R2020F3A831H AIERERZES
SERWERIDRTET A WM&
RAIDH - W HEAEAFE AR
RIZERBEE -

AT E R E B G EMRA 2 TTER
(EESUNNE

CE: 3 v &5 Pa -3 Vil
AR EREE A B BEEE

BAZRTFENE MREAZETEEH
ABBWT

2020
20204F

Enterprise value of Wonderland (UK)

Conversion ratio IR R
Volatility R E

Time to maturity T EARRPR
Credit spread {ZE BE
Risk-free rate 4 B ) &

Note: The enterprise value of Wonderland (UK) was determined by applying the price to
sales revenue ratio analysis ("P/S ratio” of 1.09) based on a number of comparable
companies in similar business nature of Wonderland (UK) which are engaged in the
real estate agency business in the UK and their shares are listed on London Stock
Exchange and adjusted with the discount for lack of marketability of 20%.

Wonderland (UK) Z (S ¥/(B1E GBP

1,583,818 Zi

99.9%
69.8%

0.62 year
19.4%

11%

FMisE : Wonderland (UK) 2 1 3 8 B J5 1B #§ B2
Wonderland (UK) B 8L E 14 E 2 Z ]
BHBRAR(EREEREFEREES
RERORGHELZRZ S ET) EBER
MHEEIFT((HHEER1.09)  WHBRZT
BB MY R 20% M E ©
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19. CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES (CONTINUED)

Valuation of convertible loan notes as a whole
(Continued)

The key significant unobservable inputs to determine the fair value of
the derivative component are the enterprise value and expected
volatility. A higher enterprise value and expected volatility used in the
valuation would result in an increase in the fair value of the derivative
component, and vice versa.

The convertible loan notes are denominated in GBP at the end of
reporting period.

On 9 November 2020, all convertible loan notes expired and no
conversion option was exercised by the Group. The outstanding
principal amount of GBP3,500,000 and accrued interest of approximately
GBP571,000 were not yet settled. At the date of expiry, the directors of
the Company reassessed the business model for holding the convertible
loan notes. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group
opts for not converting any conversion option to convert the loan notes
to the ordinary share of Wonderland (UK) and the purpose of the Group
holds such receivables are for collecting contractual cash flows which
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, as such, the receivables are classified as financial asset
measured at amortised cost. Accordingly, the Group has reclassified the
convertible loan notes at fair value through profit or loss measurement
category into the amortised cost measurement category and its fair
value amount of approximately GBP2,930,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$29,907,000) becomes the gross carrying amount of
other receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position
upon its expiry (see Note 21(b)(i)).

19. Wl i Bk % (4)
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BEMETARIATFEZIEETEAT
BEREARBRCEXEBEERERRK
g MEANERzEEEERERKE
FABBHOTET AR 2 AT EE
M RZIRA »

RIEHR - AR EREBARE
=0

2020511 Ao - FrBE R EIAT R R E
RERREESDEREAERITE - WK
{E 18 7K & %A 3,500,000 55 &8 | fE 5T 71 8. 49
571,000 HEER LA - REIEEH - AR F]
EEEMTEBEURREREEMNE
BEX - ARFEERA AEEER
TR ERE - M gERERE
#a A Wonderland (UK) #) 3@ A% - R A&
EHEZERERKGIENENAKRIE L
ReR #BEARBNAEELASED
e MR B Al BRFESE
BIRBEHENATENSREE o WUt
AEBE IR AFEFABRSTE8R
AR EREEET DB ABHK A
=R EAFESFEAI2,930,000H
8 (B E 1 #729,907,00078 7T ) B BB #55K
BEAHBRRE T EMEKERERAR
RS (T 21000) °
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20. INVENTORIES 20. 78§
2021 2020
2021 F 2020 5
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Raw materials R4 E 20,475 7,159
Work in progress bk CNn 76 1,817
Finished goods 2URK T 4,276 25,126
24,827 34,102

The provision for impairment losses on inventories is generally made for
those inventories aged over 180 days with no subsequent sales while
the reversal of provision for impairment losses on inventories is only

recognised for those inventories which are sold subsequently with the

prices higher than the carrying amounts.

As at 31 March 2021, certain inventories with original cost which
amounted to approximately HK$65,581,000 (2020: HK$63,492,000) were
stated at net realisable value of approximately HK$5,600,000 (2020:

HK$13,506,000).

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

—MREERER 2180 B A E R B E R IHE
ZREFEELFERERRERRE M
FEREBRRERDERERRESRN
FREEZBRELZZEFERR -

B2021F3A8318 B F R K A4
65,581,000 7T (2020 4F : 63,492,000 77T )
2 17 & & 7] # IR )% {8 495,600,00078 JT
(2020 £F : 13,506,000 78 7T ) 71/BR °

21. WEWCR K B B A R BOIR sk~ R
Y3 tEpe]

2021 2020
2021 20204
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&T FHET
Trade receivables (Note (a)) FEMWEF (5T @) 5,480 26,496

Other receivables, deposits and H AR ~ e MBI RIE
prepayments (Note (b)) (B 5E (b)) 35,285 16,366
40,765 42,862

Less: Non-current portion A IERENE D

Prepayments (Note (b)) T RIE (B FE (b)) - (1,491)

40,765

41,371
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DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

Trade receivables

21. WEWCE sk B B fib R WROIR K ~ 2

Be P sk 3 (4])

BT -

(a)

Trade receivables, gross

Less: allowance for ECL on trade receivables

JEUE TR - 48
B BRE R REERERER

Trade receivables, net

EWE R
2021 2020
20215 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
31,751 43,594
(26,271) (17,098)
5,480 26,496

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for ECL, as at

the reporting date, based on invoice dates which approximate the respective

AT RERERCIRAERERBEREE) R
BEAHAREBEERZARH (R RAERA

revenue recognition dates: S ) 2 RE DI -
2021 2020
20215 20206
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FIT
0to 30 days 0%30H 4,501 10,504
31 to 90 days 312 90H 494 6,332
91 to 180 days 91 £ 180 H 485 4,280
181 to 365 days 1812365 H - 4,418
Over 365 days B 365 H - 962
5,480 26,496

The Group's retail sales to customers are mainly made in cash or through credit card

payments. The trade receivables arising from credit card sales are normally settled in

one to two business days in arrears. For the remaining customers, the Group generally

grants a credit period of 30 days to 120 days, according to industry practice together

with consideration of their credibility, repayment history and years of establishment.

A longer credit period may be granted to large or long-established customers with

good payment history.

AEERARFPZTEHELTEURSHER
ERRNREL - ERARHEEEZEKE
HATR—EMELEANGEHE - RIETE
BHNEEHEEZEE  ERRERKLF
7 AEB—RABKTEPRL0BE120
AZiEEH - BARFNREHZ KRB HE
SMARFAERERREES -
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

Trade receivables (Continued)

An ageing analysis of these trade receivables, net of allowance for ECL, as at the
reporting date, based on due dates, is as follows:

21. WEWCE sk B B fib R WROIR K ~ 2
Be P sk 3 (4])

GEE

(a)

()

FEWE K (&)

ZERWE R IR TABERERERE) R R
EHHBEIEE ZREATOT

2021 2020

20214 2020 £F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR FHT

Not overdue 7 45 380 B 383 13,293
Overdue by: B

1to 30 days 1230H 4,170 2,825

311090 days 31E90H 442 5,683

91 to 180 days 91% 180 H 485 1576

181 10 365 days 1812365 H = 3,119

5,480 26,496

The Group did not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements in
respect of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired.

The management of the Company makes reference to the historical repayment to
assess the impairment for individual debtors with significant balances while the
Group collectively assesses the impairment for its remaining customers using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings based on shared credit risk
characteristics of customers by reference to geographical area, past default
experience and current past due exposure and are adjusted for forward-looking
information (for example, the current and forecasted economic growth rates, export
data and default rate in respective regions, which reflect the general economic
conditions of the regions in which the debtors operate) that is available without
undue cost or effort.

The allowance for impairment are measured at lifetime ECL in accordance with
simplified approach. Included in the overdue balances of approximately HK$485,000
(2020: HK$4,695,000) has been overdue 90 days or more and the directors of the
Company consider these are not in default based on the expected subsequent and
historical repayment from certain largest customers and continuous business with
the Group.

AR L O A M RIBUE 2 BUE 3R FF
B E R R ER R sk H A 5 AR -

ARAEREL2EBERFAFHAEKRLE
BZERNEBAZRE MAEE2ZH
E - BEERERERFADRR  £HA
EREREPHAAGERBREHRZEESEZ
BBmEERTHESRTER, ZRE Wit
BARMNHBERANKE HANAFZAEIEE
BRI ES NS ERER 2 BEEHE
RIBZARR 2 \E RFEGEERE
HOBUR R AR E)(EHHE o

BB E A MERE IR BBEEES
B8 E - BB ER B0 A £
#9485,0007% 7T (2020 4F © 4,695,000 7T ) + M
BEETHRARPZAHHEERBAERR
BAREBZHFEES  ARAREERRZS
ER IR -
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

Trade receivables (Continued)

HE2021F3A31HILFE

21. WEWCE sk B B fib R WROIR K ~ 2
Be P sk 3 (4])

BaE - (&)

(a)

Movements in the allowance for ECL on trade receivables under HKFRS 9 are as

follows:

e E K ()

RIEEBMBMEERNE R 2 R EFHZ

BEHERERBEESNT

Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL —
credit impaired credit impaired Total
2HAMEEEE Z2HEANGEER
—BEERE —FERE st
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET
Asat 1 April 2019 R2019F4818 558 17,615 18,173
Changes in the loss allowance: BiERE 2T -
— Written off — s - (1,384) (1,384)
— Transferred to Lifetime ECL —HEZHEREEBE
— credit impaired —EERE (74) 74 -
— Charged/(credited) to consolidated — B Gt A) A 1828
profit or loss (Note 10) (PFF&E10) 1,883 (1,574) 309
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 72020563 A31H
&202064A1H 2,367 14,731 17,098
Changes in the loss allowance: EiERE 2T -
— Written off — A = (3,732) (3,732)
— Transferred to Lifetime ECL —HEEZHEREEBR
— credit impaired — ZERE (806) 806 -
— (Credited)/charged to consolidated — GTA)/HBatrsiEx
profit or loss (Note 10) (FF&E10) (1,547) 14,452 12,905
As at 31 March 2021 720213 A31A 14 26,257 26,271
Notes: B
(@ There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant (a) FARTEERE R 2 BIERERT

assumptions made during the year in assessing the loss allowance for the

trade receivables.

(b) As of 31 March 2021, trade receivables with gross carrying amount of (b)
approximately HK$26,257,000 (2020: HK$14,731,000) were fully impaired and

provided for those credit-impaired customers which are in unexpectedly

difficult economic situations.

BRBEETIERERBRR ©

HZ201F3A31H  EEAELNA
26,257,000 7T (2020 FF 14,731,000 7
L) ZERERE 2 EREREE

ZEEERERPERARER

FH2 EBERE -
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

21. WEWCE sk B B fib R WROIR K ~ 2
Be P sk 3 (4])

BaE - (&)

(b)

HtbEURR - BERBANRE

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Other receivables (Note (i)) H A FE U BRSR (B RE () 33,684 7,846
Deposits s 539 4171
Prepayments (Note (ii)) TE A (B 3E (i) 1,062 4349
35,285 16,366

Notes:

(ii)

As at 31 March 2020, other receivables included the amount of approximately
HK$4,627,000 interest receivables due from Wonderland (UK), as define in
Note 19, the issuer of convertible loan notes which carry interest at 6% per
annum and payable on the date on which the convertible loan notes
become payable or are redeemed (i.e. 9 November 2020) (Note 19).

As at 31 March 2021, as detailed in Note 19, the outstanding principal
amount of convertible loan notes of approximately GBP2,930,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$29,907,000) was recognised as receivables and included
in other receivables. As at 31 March 2021, gross carrying amount of the
outstanding principal and its accumulated interest receivables of
approximately GBP2,930,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,319,000)
and approximately GBP221,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,364,000)
were not yet settled and allowance for credit loss allowance of approximately
GBP27,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$289,000) was made. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the outstanding principal amount
and interest receivables will be settled by the end of year of 2021 and July
2021, respectively. The receivables are guaranteed by the shareholders of
Wonderland (UK) and pledged to the other borrowing of HK$28,000,000
(Note 25(i)).

As at 31 March 2020, balance included prepayments for the IT system
maintenance, onsite technical support and IT advisory services of
HK$1,491,000 which would be amortised over five years from
commencement in the year ended 31 March 2018. During the year, the
management revisited the usage of system and services after the closure of
certain factories in the PRC and considered it is appropriate to write off the
remaining balance of approximately HK$1,491,000 and recognised the loss in
the “administrative expenses” of the consolidated income statement.

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables approximate their fair values
as these financial assets, which are measured at amortised cost, are expected to be
received within one year.

(ii)

R20205E3 4318 HibEWERE
1 F& Yg Wonderland (UK) ( 7€ & & M 5%
19) (AR ERZIER 2 BITA - AR
BRERZRZEFeE TR -
7B AT R AR B SRS IR K R FE Bk P
Elzg R (B12020% 11 B9H) FUX
1) 2 FE.494,627,0008 7T (Bt3E19) ©

20213 A318 » aFE19fTRE ML
2,930,000 2% £ (48 & R #9 29,907,000 78
TC) HER A E MR IE R AT A H At RE LR
BRFX - M2021F3A31H » MAREE
AeBERERERFSHEDEE
A#72,930,000 2 £ (FHE 7 4931,319,00
BIT) R AI221000E E(HERD
23640004 7T ) M RN REHREE
BB B E 27000 E(HEERYD
2890008 7T) e RAREERA K
BEASERERFSEED RN
202V FEER 2021 E7 ARTEER » %
JE U 3R T8 B Wonderland (UK) &9 B% 51 4
R+ I 1E A H b {8 3228,000,0007 7T
FIHE IR (P 250)) ©

R20206F3 8318 Z2&BBREAE
E2018F3ANALEFERBAEFA
BN AR RS - ISR
R R E AR R R RS 2 TR FRIE
1,491,00087C « £A - EIEE N
FEEE T ITRE SR R5 R REH
&0 TR A BR EE Y 1,491,000 45 TT 1B
G RN RERERA 1T
TERESIE ©

JRE LS B R T L A R LR 5 2 AR T B
EAR%E - REAEMZ SR KA
SRBERR —FARUER

N
=
g

E’Z
Z
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HILFE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22. & RN 4
2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHBxT FET
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR MRS 24,424 34,491

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates.

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents approximate
their fair values.

As at 31 March 2021, bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB
amounted to approximately HK$2,262,000 (2020: HK$925,000). The
conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign currencies and
the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank balances
and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, CONTRACT
LIABILITIES AND ACCRUALS

23.

RITREBEBARITERMEZFEF
HERENF S,

RehFRAE2EEEEZEAFEM
% o

BR2021F3831H - AEBUARER
B Z R1T & 82 %) 52,262,000 7T (2020
F 1 925000/87T) ° ILAARBEFHEZ &
R H IR B INE I 1t FAINEHE Z IR
TEHRRECEDLFE  BETHBEIK
T FEINE & ) 8 0 2 FEREAR B &R B ©

WAk 4 sk B L fth W FF IR 3k ~ 5 40
1R R T R

2021 2020

20215 2020 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Trade payables FENER 2,453 3,376
Accrued payroll and employee benefits et e MEERA 722 13,308
Other payables and other accruals HAith eI AR S B B ST & A 10,747 15433
Contract liabilities EHBEE = 430
13,922 32,547
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, CONTRACT 23. JEf S R EMEMIES - 58

LIABILITIES AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED) R R s A (%)
An ageing analysis of trade payables, as at the reporting date, based on ReE B8 BENEFREBEEZHHZ
invoice dates, is as follows: BRE AT -
2021 2020
20215 20204F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
0 to 60 days 0% 60H 2,153 1,065
61 to 120 days 612120H 141 464
More than 120 days 1208 159 1,847
2,453 3,376
As at 31 March 2021, consideration payables for acquisition of associates R2021FE3A31TH  IWEBEATINE
and loan interest payables of HK$4,000,000 (2020: HK$4,000,000) (Note MRAE REMNSEZRFE D B A 4,000,000
18) and approximately HK$1,109,000 (2020: HK$1,061,000) (Note 34(b)) 7 7T (2020 FF : 4,000,000 75 ) (FM3E18)
were included in other payables, respectively. K2 #91,109,0007 7T (2020 FF : 1,061,000 78
TE) (3 3400) » B3O H A FE 14 R SR
E\E o
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables, contract liabilities and JENEFRREMEMNER  aHOBER
accruals approximate their fair values. FEtERAZ REEREAFERE -
24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24. MEAME
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET THBT
Within one year —FR 1,271 2,856
Within a period of more than one year REBA—FE TR AWM FHE A
but not more than two years 246 2,627
Within a period of more than two years FAEBAM BT B A R F HE A
but not more than five years 42 3,282
1,559 8,765
Less: portion classified as current liabilities B nBEAERSEEZHEY (1,271) (2,856)
Non-current liabilities FRBALE 288 5909




24. LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

25.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(Z2021F3A31 B IFFE

24. MEA1HE(4)

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the future minimum lease payments of
the net minimum lease payments are as follows:

R2021 FE 202038318 RIEHEE
NRFBZARFERENTOT

2021 2020
20215 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Within one year —FR 1,320 3,276
Within a period of more than one year BB — BB M B A
but not more than two years 254 2,860
Within a period of more than two years BB BT ERB h F HIEA
but not more than five years 42 3,439
Total lease payments HENREE 1,616 9,575
Less: Future finance charges W RKRREER (57) (810)
Total lease obligations MEEFRT 1,559 8,765
OTHER BORROWINGS 25. Hibfg &
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Other borrowings — secured HinfgE — BiEH
Within one year or on demand —FAHEE(HIE O & (i)
(Notes (i) and (ii) 28,000 25,650
Other borrowings — unsecured HmEE — &K
On demand (Note (iii)) & 22 5 (PR RE (i) 2,000 5,084
30,000 30,734
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A31BILEFE

25. OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(ii)

(iif)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's secured other borrowing with carrying amount of
HK$28,000,000 bear fixed interest rate at 15.0% per annum and is scheduled to be
repayable on 25 July 2022 with repayable demand clause. The borrowing is provided
by an independent third party of the Group. The other borrowing is secured by other
receivables (Note 21(b)(i)) with an aggregate borrowing amount of HK$28,000,000
and accrued interests, if any.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's secured other borrowing with carrying amount of
HK$25,650,000 bear fixed interest rate at 15.0% per annum. The borrowing is provided
by a company, of which Mr. Leung Alex is a common director. During the year ended
31 March 2021, the interest expense of approximately HK$3,147,000 (2020:
HK$3,064,000) (Note 33(b)) was recognised in the consolidated profit or loss. The
other borrowing was secured by convertible loan notes (Note 19) with an aggregate
borrowing amount of HK$25,650,000 and accrued interests, if any. Pursuant to the
supplemental deed, the Group shall remain as the registered holder of the
convertible loan notes and repay the outstanding amount when the convertible loan
notes redeemed. On 25 January 2021, the Group has fully repaid the borrowing.

An unsecured other borrowing with a carrying amount of HK$2,000,000 (2020:
HK$2,000,000) bear fixed interest rate at 12% per annum and repayable within 12
months from the date of 8 November 2019. The borrowing was due on 7 November
2020 and no repayment was made on due date. As at 31 March 2021, the borrowing
is repayable on demand with a fixed interest rate at 12% per annum. The borrowing
is provided by the Company’s beneficial owner, Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing. During
the year ended 31 March 2021, the interest expense of approximately HK$240,000
(2020: HK$109,000) (Note 33(b)) was recognised in the consolidated profit or loss.

As at 31 March 2020, unsecured other borrowings with carrying amount of
HK$3,084,000 carried fixed interest rate at 18.0% per annum. The balance was
overdue and under the litigation from the lender as at 31 March 2020 and fully settled
on 3 June 2020. A notice of discontinuance had been received to confirm the legal

proceedings closed.

GER

(ii)

(iii)

25. At 8 (4)

R221F3A318 A E B EREER
28,000,000 7 7T 2 A 4R E Ath f B2 & 7E A
E150%5 8 - WHEER20226F7 A25RER -
HABEREREERR - BRH—BEL
RAREBERE =71 - H &R EH e
I BRI S JEE TR 2 () (M EE2100)0) -
f& SN #BEA 4 28,000,000 B TT ©

M20209F3A31H AEEMEEEA
25,650,000/ 7T 2 A EAFE A S FTIRFF R A
150%:T 8 o (AR RER L ERERRAES
Z—HRRRE  HE201F3A3H LT
& - BERGRE 1B NIRRT EF X 43,147,000
778 (2020 4F : 3,064,000 75 ) (Ki&E33(b)) °
H AR FRA TR AR E R IR (M5 19) 1E B IK
1 - & AR EE 5 25,650,00078 70 M FETF 2. (10
B) o RBWAEE - NEBERS RIIRR
BERERZERFAA - WHRER AT RARE
FREEREESSE - R2021F1 /258 -
AEEDRYEEER -

8 TH 184 2,000,000 7 7T (2020 4F : 2,000,000 75
TC) Z IR E 18 SR E R F R R 12% 5T
B WAKR2019% 11 As AR 2@ ARE
B BN 2020F 11 A7 EREHA
WEEFK - R2021F3A31H  EHARE
KEE BEFENEE12%  ZERBARA
Al BB AR LA R - B = 2021
FIANHIEFE - TR 42400008 7T
(20204F : 109,000 78 7T) (B E33(b)) ARG 1R

202093 A31 8 - BRE A 53,084,000/ 7T
2 EARARE A B IR E R F I E 18.0% 5T ©
R2020F3A31 8 ZEHREAPRERE
RARERFA - W 2020 6 A 3 ABEEET ©
BAE KB IEBA - RERRTAR -
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26. UNLISTED PROPERTY FUND

6. JE bR &

HK$'000

FH&T

As at 1 April 2019 20194 818 34,500

Subscription i 3,800
Fair value loss recognised in consolidated RiraBERER 2 AT EEE

profit or loss (33,590)

As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 PR2020F3 A31 B X 2020F 41 H 4,710
Fair value loss recognised in consolidated RirEBERER AT EEE

profit or loss (4,710)

As at 31 March 2021

720213 H31H

On 23 February 2018, the Group acquired 3,800 non-redeemable, non-
voting participating shares (“Fund Shares") which represents 50% of an
unlisted property fund (the “Fund”) incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group further subscribed 380
Fund Shares at a consideration of HK$3,800,000.

The investment objective of the Fund is to achieve capital appreciation
through investing its assets available for investment in residential real
estate projects in the UK.

The investment is unlisted and the Group has no power to govern or
participate the financial and operating policies of the investee so as to
obtain benefits from its activities and the Fund was mandatorily classified
and measured as financial assets at FVPL.

PR2018F 28238 AEBWEBERHES
HedMirsEEmEES([E
£ 1)3800 % AT IE D - MmRRAEE 2 26
H((EEBRHB) HERES 2
50% ° &% 20204 3 A 31 ElJtEf &
Ei#E—REBOBRESRNL  REA
3,800,000 7T ©

Ao ZREBGERABE/EIHRKREZ
BERENRBEEEFMERE » AE
BENIEE

RERIFLT MAKBELEENEE
HESEFRERR M B REEBE
NBEEEXRBHESH L - MES R
DELFER/EATFEMARERZE
MEE -
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26. UNLISTED PROPERTY FUND (CONTINUED)  26. 3k F it 4 (4)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the uncertainty of Brexit and the
outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic have profound impact on the
property market of the UK. The directors of the Company noted that the
property market has been adversely affected in a wide array of aspects,
including for instance, pricing of properties and financing. It could be
observed that prices of properties in London have slid in 2020. Despite
that Brexit happened on 31 January 2020, its related uncertainties over
regulatory, labour and trade relationships with the European Union
continue to affect businesses and investment sentiment. Brexit and the
Covid-19 pandemic continue to represent major uncertainties to the
economy of the UK, and Covid-19 mutated strains and further
coronavirus wave and Brexit could further stall the economic recovery
following a pandemic-induced recession. The Group considered that,
should the major uncertainties linger, there is a risk that property prices
will see a major downturn in the UK.

Given the circumstances surrounding the property market of the UK as
described above, the Group considers that it provides an opportunity of
the Group to be released and discharged from its onerous obligations of
making further payments in the aggregate amount of approximately
HK$34,200,000 (Note 32) for a property project with major risks and
uncertainties associated with it. Furthermore, taking into account the
financial position and business strategy of the Group, the Group
considers that the such release would have the effect of freeing up
capital and enhancing liquidity of the Group. The Group would then be
able to enjoy increased flexibility in utilising and reallocating its
resources, including making investments in other appropriate
investment projects. The Group will further use its resources as a listed
company to add value for viable and profitable acquisition projects with
reasonable certainty, so as to increase its profitability and return. Details
of the transaction were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 14 May 2021.

In view of such, the directors of the Company determined to suspend
the investment in the properties in the UK through the Fund and all
deposits amount was forfeited and assessed the fair value of the Fund
approximates to zero and, therefore, the fair value loss of approximately
HK$4,710,000 was recognised during the year.
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UNLISTED PROPERTY FUND (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2020, the fair value of the Fund at initial recognition and
the end of the reporting period was determined based on the valuation
provided by CHFT, independent professional qualified valuer not
connected with the Group.

The fair value of the Fund is level 3 fair value measurement. There is no
transfer under the fair value hierarchy classification for the years ended
31 March 2021 and 2020.

The Fund was measured at fair value using the binomial option pricing
model, at initial recognition and at the end of the subsequent reporting
period. Key inputs into the model were as follows:

26.
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FE i PSR & (4])

R2020F3A31H 2L RVFHER
WMEHRZ AT EHIREEAEB Y &
BErBUEESERHEMERIRE
ZIHEMERE -

HEEZ N FEAEFEIRATEFNZ - HE
2021 FE K 2020F3 A3TBIEEE - A
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AR - BmAREEERARTIAHRE
RENERRERRBRAFEHE - @
BREAZERNAT

2020

2020

Market value of the project HE MSEE GBP

58,000,000 45

Expected volatility TE AR IR 6.2%

Time to maturity B HRRF IR 0.75 year %
Risk-free rate L A R

— Hong Kong — B 0.617%

— The UK — 0.089%

As at 31 March 2020, the unlisted property fund is denominated in Hong
Kong dollar.

AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTOR/FORMER
DIRECTOR/IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY

The balances were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

27.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. A
Number Share
of shares capital
RO E [} &S
‘000 HKS$'000
F iz FHET
Authorised: JERE ¢

At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and R 201964 818 - 20204

1 April 2020, ordinary shares of 3H31HK20206F4H18 -

HK$0.002 each FREE0002B T2 LMk 5,000,000 10,000
Effect of Share Consolidation IRl 28 (F & R )

(defined in Note (a)) (4,500,000) -
At 31 March 2021, ordinary shares of 2021538318 - BREE

HK$0.02 each 0028702 ik 500,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITRERE
At 1 April 2019 201964 A 1H 1,696,950 3,394
Issuance of consideration share upon RUTEE L N BRI TR B D

acquisition of associates (Note 18) (fFzE18) 153,000 306
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 MR2020F3A31B K

2020F4 A1 H 1,849,950 3,700
Placing of new shares before Share Bty & Bf B BC & #TAR 19 (B3 (b))

Consolidation (Note (b)) 369,900 740
Effect of Share Consolidation (Note (a)) A& ¥Rl 2 522 (FiYsE a) (1,997,865) -
Placing of new shares after Share B 1D & BHEBLE FTAR D (BT 5E (b))

Consolidation (Note (b)) 44,392 888
At 31 March 2021 A 2021%F3H31H 266,377 5,328
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3 September 2020, a
share consolidation was approved with effect from 7 September 2020 in which every
ten shares issued and unissued ordinary share of HK$0.002 each in the share capital
of the Company was consolidated into one consolidated share having a par value of
HK$0.02 per consolidated share (“Share Consolidation”). Immediately upon the
Share Consolidation becoming effective, the authorised share capital of the Company
of HK$10,000,000 was divided into 500,000,000 consolidated shares, of which
221,984,964 consolidated shares were issued and fully paid. Details of the Share
Consolidation was disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 10 August 2020.

Placing before Share Consolidation

On 14 May 2020, the Company entered into the placing agreement with the placing
agent pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place, through
the placing agent on a best efforts basis, up to 369,900,000 placing shares at the
placing price of HK$0.025 per placing share to certain independent placees. The net
proceeds (after deducting the placing commission and other related expenses and
professional fees of approximately HK$461,000) from the placing has been used for
general working capital for the Group including the settlement of the writ of
summons as detailed in the Company’s announcement dated 17 March 2020.
Accordingly, the Group's share capital increased by approximately HK$740,000 and
the remaining balance of approximately HK$8,047,000 was credited to the share

premium account.

Placing after Share Consolidation

On 7 January 2021, the Company entered into the placing agreement with the
placing agent pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place,
through the placing agent on a best efforts basis, up to 44,392,000 placing shares at
the placing price of HK$0.116 per placing share to certain independent placees. The
net proceeds (after deducting the placing commission and other related expenses
and professional fees of approximately HK$229,000) from the placing has been used
for general working capital for the Group including the partial repayment of the
Group's loan and accrued interests due on 12 January 2021. Accordingly, the Group's
share capital increased by approximately HK$888,000 and the remaining balance of
approximately HK$4,033,000 was credited to the share premium account.

ok o B 5 R M
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28. JBEA (%)

GER

(a)

(b)
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29. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

29. W AR K AR

2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHEIT
Finance income B s W e
Interest income on short-term RERITFER 2B YA
bank deposits 7 371
Finance costs U ID RN
Interest expenses on other borrowings EmEEZRBMRAX
(Note 34(b)) (P 5% 34(0)) (4,241) (8391)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBBEIMEMX
(Note 34(b)) (BftE 34(b)) (204) (158)
(4,445) (8,549)

30. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

As disclosed in Note 18, the Group has derecognised the investment in
Campfire Group as investment in associate and recognised the
investment as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

As at 31 March 2021, the fair value of the investment was determined
based on the latest financial position and performance of the Campfire
Group. In addition, in view of the COVID-19 pandemic since early 2020
and ongoing travel restrictions which has caused adverse impact on co-
working spaces industry, the directors of the Company estimated the fair
value of the investment approximates to zero as at 31 March 2021,
Accordingly, no fair value change is recognised for the year ended 31
March 2021.

30. 22 VAL wE A Al 2 i W 4R Y
il

FANK R8T EE - AN B BUR R
Campfire R E R E RN E R AWK
BERBREERBBRAFEFARLMLE
[EI G

PR2021F3A31H - WENAFERE
Campfre R BN &M B R AR KRE
TF oo A - B B 2020 F FIFI A Y 2019
TR SRR B R E R 1T PR B
ZTEEERITEERTANEZE  AQF
BEMERENRFER 202143 A 31
BEET - At BEEREZ 202143
A31BIEFERRA T EEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(Z2021F3A31 B IFFE

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 17
October 2014. Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 28 September 2018, the refreshment of the Scheme
has been approved and the terms are stated below.

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives to participants to
contribute to the Group and to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high caliber employees and attract those that are valuable to the Group.

Participants of the Scheme

The board of directors of the Company, may at its discretion, grant
options to the Group's directors, officers, employees (including, without
limitation, those employed for a fixed term) and contract consultants
(including executive and non-executive consultants) or any member of
the Group, to subscribe for shares of HK$0.02 each in the share capital of
the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme

Under the Scheme, subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders, the maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Scheme if the grant of such option will result in the limit being
exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under this Scheme and any other
share option of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of passing of the relevant resolution
adopting this Scheme.

31, A& S DAy 2 R BRE A5k sk
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
Options granted to each participant (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding Options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of Options to a participant which
would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
Options granted and to be granted to such participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding the limit
shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in advance with such
participant and his close associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to
approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on
the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of
HKS5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

Period within which the share must be taken up
under an option

The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors of the Company, save that such period shall not be more than
ten years from the date of the offer of the share options, subject to the
provisions for early termination as set out in the Scheme. Unless
otherwise determined by the directors at their absolute discretion, there
is no requirement of a minimum period for which an option must be
held before an option can be exercised. In addition, there is no
performance target which must be achieved before any of the options
can be exercised.
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Amount payable upon acceptance of the option and
the period within which the payment must be made

The nominal consideration of HK$1.00 shall be paid within 28 days from
the date of offer of the option.

Basis of determining the exercise price of the option

The subscription price for shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion and notified to the
participant in the offer and shall be no less than the higher of:

(1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(2)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant (provided
that in the event that any options is proposed to be granted
within a period of less than five business days after the trading of
the shares shall be used for the purpose of this paragraph; and

(3)  the nominal value of a share on the day of grant.
Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the
date of adoption (i.e. 26 September 2014 and ending on 25 September
2024), after which no further options will be granted but the provisions
of the Scheme shall remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect
to the exercise of any options granted or exercised prior to otherwise as
may be required in accordance with the provision of the Scheme.
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 3. B &5 5 DL Oy 2 RE B4 sk (4
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued) Al E 2 TR ()
Details of share options granted under the Scheme are as follows: BIEZrERE 2 EREFEFOT
29 October 13 December
2018 2018 Total
2018 % 2018 5
10H29H 12813 H e
Number of ordinary shares to be RITER S TEIT2
issued upon exercise: TRARER -
— Chairman — X% 16,968,000 - 16,968,000
— Directors —&5% 35,936,000 - 35,936,000
— Independent non-executive — BN IEMITESR
directors 3,392,000 - 3,392,000
— Employees —&E8 8,500,000 1,000,000 9,500,000
64,796,000 1,000,000 65,796,000

For all the share options granted, 50% of the share options granted to be
exercised by each grantee at any time after the expiration of 12 months
from the date of grant (the “first tranche”) and 50% of the share options
granted to be exercised by each grantee at any time after the expiration
of 24 months from the date of grant (the “second tranche’). In the
event the grantee ceases to be the participants, the share options
granted to the grantee shall lapse on the date which the grantee ceases
to be the participant.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, share-based payment expense of
approximately HK$30,000 (Note 11) (2020: HK$2,796,000) for the share
options granted and vested was recognised in the consolidated profit or
loss with a corresponding credit in share option reserve and the vesting
condition of first tranche was fulfilled.

In respect of the share options granted on 29 October 2018, they are
exercisable commencing from 29 October 2019 to 28 October 2023
(both dates inclusive) for the first tranche and from 29 October 2020 to
28 October 2023 (both dates inclusive) for the second tranche.

RAIRERAMABRENRNS  BTSE
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BlEmz A M FrTE(E—#t])
BB F & AR AN Z 50%ERERR LB
HARBET 2418 A JEim 2 E (B A] F71E
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued)

In respect of the share options granted on 13 December 2018, they are
exercisable commencing from 13 December 2019 to 12 December 2023
(both dates inclusive) for the first tranche and from 13 December 2020
to 12 December 2023 (both dates inclusive) for the second tranche.

Details of the exercise prices and the movement of number of share
options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 are
as follows.

ok o B 5 R M
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%t # Z g TR (41)

FR2018F 12 A3 AR EEREN S -
H 7] A2019F 12 813 H E2023F 12 A
NHE(BEEEMB) /] P17 (5B —H#h)
K 7220208 12 8138 £2023F 12812
B(BEEEMB) A T (EH) -

PA20214F ] 2020 3 A31 B Z 1T1E B R
MR AT R AT AT R AR B B B
To

Number of share options
BREZA

Adjustment

Exercise Lapsed/ Lapsed/ on share
price Asat forfeited At forfeited  consolidation At
per share 1 April during 31 March during during 31 March
(HKS) 2019 the year 2020 the year the period* 2021
BRITHEE R2019F  FRER/ K220 FRE¥  HRERG Raon &
(&) 4f1R Rl 3A31R RU AfthaE: 3A31R
29 October 2018 2018F10A29A 134 64,796,000 (33,936,000) 30,860,000 (7,669,600) (21,024,000) 2,166,400
13 December 2018 018%F 128136 120 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 - (900,000) 100,000
65,796,000 (33,936,000) 31,860,000 (7,669,600) (21,924,000) 2,266,400

* As a result of Share Consolidation, adjustments were made to the exercise price of * mARD A B 8202059 A7 B - Uikt

and the number of the outstanding share options under the Scheme with effect from
7 September 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 3,834,800 (2020: Nil) share options
lapsed whereas the vesting condition has been fulfilled. The
corresponding share option reserve of HK$1,917,000 (2020: Nil) was
transferred to accumulated losses.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, 3,834,800 (2020: 33,936,000) share
options lapsed whereas the vesting condition has not been fulfilled. The
corresponding reversal of the share-based payment expenses of
HKS$1,359,000 (2020: HK$4,424,000) incurred in the prior years was
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss.

BTN ARITEMNBRENTTEERBEET

B -

B E2021F3831H IFF E 3834800
19 (20204F « ) BARELRS - BHEBIK
HEEERK - RREM 1,917,000
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HEZ2021%F3A31H It F Z - 3834800
13 (2020 4F : 33,936,00017 ) B8 BX # & &
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued)

The fair values of employee services received in return for share options
granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at grant date. The fair value is determined by the directors of the
Company with reference to the valuation performed by an independent
valuer, CHFT using the binomial option pricing model and significant
inputs into the model were as follows:

31, el & S DA B Ay 2 L BE A sk (4)

%t # Z g TR (41)

ARIREE IR B AR T R Y (R B AR A%
MAFEI2EEREHNBRERE L
BERAFEFE - R FETIHAAF]
BExg2ZELAEMESRA AN
HEEERAET  MZEANTIEEH
UN ¢35 I

29 October 13 December

2018 2018

2018 F 2018 &

10H29H 12813 H

Expected volatility TR i 48.71% 50.07%
Expected option life T AR HE A g 4 B 5 years 5 years
54 54

Expected dividend yield TE AR AR B a2 0.00% 0.00%
Annual risk-free interest rate FEERRFIE 2.26% 2.1%
Fairvalue — First tranche NEE—F HK$0.389 HK$0.395
03898 7T 0.395 7T

— Second tranche — Bt HK$0.445 HK$0.454

04458 7T 0454 7T

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility of future trends, adjusted for any expected changes to future
volatility based on publicly available information, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other feature of the options was
incorporated into the measurement of the fair value.

The variables and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the
share options were the directors’ best estimates. Change in subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value.

The Group does not have a legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

T8 HOR 08 2 PR 2K 2R 25 1 48 1R R IR 2 1R
R WARE AR RS E R R RO 8 8
EAFEHEESELAE - HA R T —
EREBRER AV EAELE LB
Pl 2 ELAD R o

AR A 28 L7 5 P 0 52 R R
RAEENREML - BB ABRA
FHTEAUATFEELEAYE -

AEEYEERIEEETARSED
SKABTRBRHE -
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. EAKYE
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had commitment, which is R2021F M 2020F3 A31H AEEA
contracted but not provided and subject to fulfillment of condition DRI AVB R B 7 A EW B ER R
precedents for to make the remaining capital commitment to the EH-% . FR{EE - USIELmmEER
unlisted property fund of HK$34,200,000. Subsequent to the year ended & EH 8 T B A #HE 34,200,000 7T © &
31 March 2021, the capital commitment was released (Note 26). FXNF3ANHILFEER  BAREIE
E R (F3E26) o
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. MEA LR
(a) Key management compensation (a) FEEHMABZHM
2021 2020
20214 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FH&TT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 3,044 5,964
Equity settled share-based payments Pt 45 5 DA R AR R BRI K 1,257 5,052
Pension costs defined contribution plans B E &R FE M2 &
and social security costs HERERAR 54 72
4,355 11,088

Key management personnel include the directors of the Company
and other senior management of the Group. The remuneration of
key management personnel is determined by the management of
the Company having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

TREEABBEARREELRA
SEEMESREEE  TBEHEA
BNFHMA AR EREREEA
KRR TEBEETE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Save as disclosed elsewhere on the consolidated financial

34. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

statements, the Group entered into the following material related

party transactions. These transactions are made of terms mutually

agreed by the related parties.

33. BM

N2 5 (#)

(b) BEEVHERREMBOAEE

Sh - REBHETATEARRBEBEAL
Ry ZERXPIIREZEZEEA
T EMEWE 2 GRETL -

2021 2020
20215 20204
Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
BEALBE XHHE FHT THT
Beneficial owner Interest expense 240 109
BEREAA MBFX
Company with common executive director Interest expense 3,147 3,064
EREHBERNTESE 2 AA B

The Group rents one property as office from a related company,
which one of substantial shareholders of the Group has beneficial
interest, with a lease term of two years and monthly lease
payment of HK$40,000. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
lease payment was HK$480,000 (2020: HK$160,000). The leased
property was recognised as right-of-use assets with net carrying
amount, after provision of impairment, of approximately Nil (2020:
HKS$727,000) and respective lease liabilities of approximately
HK$343,000 (2020: HK$744,000). At 31 March 2021, the rental
payable included in other payables (Note 23) to the related

company is HK$640,000 (2020: HK$160,000).

CASH FLOWS

(@)

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from (a)
disposals of property, plant and equipment comprise:

AEERAASEEF —ZFERRE
HEEREaNEEARERA A
MEEARRAE  HEHAME
A% 400008 7T o PAEZ= 2021
FIRNBULEFE HESKAE
480,000 7T (20204F : 160,000 78
L) HEMERERREAEE
E - AEREFEGHRERER) OA
Z (20204 : 727,000 7T) » AAREHE
& B & #) 5343,000%8 7T (2020 4 :
744,000770) © FE2021F3A318 -
FTAE A FET RN (M 3T 23) M FE LT
838~ B F & 4 640,000 7T (2020
£ 1 160,000/87T) °

34. &G BlE iR R Wk

REFARERERT - HEWE
B M SR B

2021 2020

2021 20204F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FHIT

Net book value (Note 15) BREDFE (B 15) - 70,685

Gain/(loss) on disposals of property, HEWE - BER

plant and equipment (Note 9) s (B518) (H7E9) 156 (17,678)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE - BENBEBRETIB

plant and equipment 156 53,007
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HE2021F3A31HILFE

4. 56 Bl ()

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) &5 B E A 2 A R
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities from TRFUMAERKERETH A
financing activities, including both cash and non- cash changes. E28) pEEEMIERSEE -
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which RETHELAZEBABRSRED
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the R AKRIBEREBFNNER 7437
Group's consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from SHERERDPHIEARMETHE
financing activities. EZBReREZAIE -
Other
borrowing Amounts Total
interest dueto liabilities
included in director/ from
Lease Other other former financing
liabilities borrowings payables director activities
SAEAM
ENEHRZ EREE/ BARDEL
HEaE Hifg&  HUEENS AMESE L BfEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FEL
At 1 April 2019 M2019F4F1A - 52,500 - - 52,500
Fffect of adoption of HKFRS 16 BB EREER
EAI a7 1252 - - - 1252
At 1 April 2019 (restated) P2019%4 A1 R (BE5) 1252 52,500 - - 53,752
Changes from financing cashflows: ~ REREHELH
Proceeds from other borrowings HWEEZHETE - 27,650 - - 27,650
Repayment of other borrowings BREMEE - (49416) - - (49416)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE (1455) - - - (1455)
Payments for interests FSRZ (158) - (7330) - (7:488)
Advance from former director/ BIANES/£5
director - - - 848 848
Total changes from financing BERSRERHAE
cash flows (1613) (21,766) (7,330) 848 (29.861)
Other changes: Hip 2
Interest charges on other HufgE 2T
borrowings (Note 29) (BiE29) - - 8391 - 8391
Interest charges on lease liabilities HEaE ezl
(Note 29) GBS 158 - - - 158
New lease liabilties HHEAE 9192 - - - 9192
Early termination of lease RERIHE (224) - - - (24)
Total other changes Htn2aes 9,126 - 8391 - 17517
At 31 March 2020 R2020F3 74318 8,765 30,734 1,001 848 41408
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

34. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

HE2021F3 A3 HILFE

CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

34. LA Bl E L W EE (4)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) EEWE) AL AEER ()
financing activities (Continued)
Other
borrowing Amounts Total
interest dueto liabilities
included in director/ from
Lease Other other former financing
liabilities borrowings payables director activities
sTAEA
B iR Z EftEE/ REITHEL
HEaE HitEE  HMfEERS HESHE ZEEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TER TER
A1 Apr 2020 R200E4818 8,765 30,734 1,061 848 41,408
Changes from financing cash flows:  BER & RELH)
Proceeds from other borrowings HEEHEHE - 28,000 = - 28,000
Repayment of other borrowings BEEMES - (28,734) - - (28,734)
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEMERE (1,246) - - - (1,246)
Payments for interests FISRNE (204) = (4,193) = (4,397)
Repayment to former director/ DEIEEE £3:0
director - - - (559) (559)
Total changes from financing BERENEEDAT
cash flows (1,450) (734) (4,193) (559) (6,936)
Other changes: Higg
Interest charges on other HifE g 28
borrowings (Note 29) (PzE29) - - 4241 - 4241
Interest charges on lease liabilities HEGBZMEXH
(Note 29) (B3t 29) 204 - - - 204
New lease liabilities HEEERE 708 - - = 708
Early termination of lease RERIEE (6,188) - - - (6,188)
Lease payable (Note 16) JErIE S (it 16) (480) - - - (480)
Reclassification to other payables ENNBEEAMENRR - - - (289) (289)
Total other changes Hth#8ag (5,756) - 4,241 (289) (1,804)
At 31 March 2021 R0 E3A318 1,559 30,000 1,109 - 32,668
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35. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

35. EEMHE A F

Place of Percentage of
establishment/ Nominal value equity attributable
principal of issued to the Company
place of share capital/ AAREGEEADLL
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
JoavR:.1 BRAIRE/
WEARERE TELEHE EMEREE ¢ Mg TEER
Arcadia Jewellery Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of - 100%  Trading of jewellery products
EEUMHBR A 0 HK$500,000 BEEUREER
AR 500,000 7T
Man Sang Jewellery Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Trading of pearl products
(Hong Kong) Limited B LARIAT BEREEM
RERE (BE)BRAF
Hui Bao Feng Jewellery the PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Purchasing and processing
(Shenzhen) Limited il US$2,000,000 of pearls and assembling
EELHKE (R ERLA S 7K 2,000,000 5 7T of pearl jewellery
REEMIZHER
1587378751
Full Wealth Investment Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Financial assets investment
Hong Kong Limited BE LERIAT TREERE
EREERBRRAF

The English name of a subsidiary represents the best effort by the
management of the Company in translating its Chinese name as it does
not have official English name.

As at 31 March 2021, none of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities (2020: Nil).

—EfBARYEE T EX G HR
NEBHARRERBEREEABNBHE
P RTEREME -

R2021F3R8318  MENBARE %
ITHEERE S (202045 « ) o
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36. THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 36. AN HZ B E R

COMPANY
Statement of financial position S B R DL
2021 2020
20214 2020 4F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
P 5T T FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBARIZEKE 11,198 11,198
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU BN B A Rl FkE 57,684 93,901
68,882 105,099
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and other receivables FA R R E A R I BR R - 8
Cash and cash equivalents ReERFRBE® 2,562 1
2,562 9
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables Hoh ET AR SR 8,793 12,525
Other borrowings Hig g 30,000 27,650
Amounts due to director/former director  JEEE B E B N1E - 848
Amounts due to subsidiaries FESHT B A B F0E 25,196 21313
Amount due to immediate JES B IR A B 508
holding company 1,539 1,539
65,528 63,875
Net current liabilities REEEFE (62,966) (63,866)
Net assets EEFHE 5,916 41,233
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to equity RATBREGER
holders of the Company
Share capital A% X 28 5,328 3,700
Reserves ] (@ 588 37,533
Total equity R 5,916 41,233

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by

the Board of Directors on 30 June 2021 and was signed on its behalf.

ARRABBFBERARE R 2021F6 A30H
EEEeMETHUTESERREE -

Cheng Chi Kin Cheung Sze Ming
BT =2 REH
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director
FERNTEE HITEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

36. THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note:

(a)

36. KRR W ZMBE R (4])

Annual Report 2021 F

Statement of financial position (Continued) BABR LT (5F)
Bt sE
Reserves mov t of the Company (a) FATFEES
Share
Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RGEE B RERE A2FER @st
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FA&T FAExT FA&T FA&T
At 1 April 2019 H2019%F4 A1 H 410,810 8,552 (229,547) 189,815
Loss for the year AEEEE - - (320,777) (320,777)
Issue of consideration shares NG NGRS
upon acquisition of associates B (HisE18)
(Note 18) 165,699 - - 165,699
Equity-settled share-based PO 45 B AP AD AR LT
payments (Note 31) R (5 31) - 2,796 - 2,796
At 31 March 2020 and 20203 A31H K
1 April 2020 20204 A1 H 576,509 11,348 (550,324) 37,533
Loss for the year KEEEHE - - (49,055) (49,055)
Placing of new shares (Note 28(b)) it & ¥TR% 15 (i =k 28(b)) 12,080 - - 12,080
Equity-settled share-based AREEAEE LARR 1 R BT
payments (Note 31) R (B EE31) - 30 - 30
Lapse of share options (Note 31)  EERXAE L2 (FiH7E31) - (1,917) 1,917 -
At 31 March 2021 A2021%3A31H 588,589 9,461 (597,462) 588
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37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 37. #HH 45 S 4R

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) HFHM4
The remuneration of every director is set out below: BEER M AT
For the year ended 31 March 2021: BZ2021F3A31BLEFE:
Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors in HEREE(THRARRIIEME
respect of their services as directors, whether of the Company or RAEB) ZCRBENTESHE
its subsidiary undertaking ESy gk i
Employers
Equity contribution
settled toa
share- retirement
based benefit
Name of director Fees Salary payments scheme Total
R E AR EEHEHK
32 He §e ARERAREX BHNFEGER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Ti#x TR Ti#gn TiEx
Executive directors HiTE=R
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Chairman) BTREL (1) - 390 = 18 408
Mr. Leung Alex 2RERHE - 120 122 - 242
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming REFGEE - 914 1,032 18 1,964
- 1,424 1,154 36 2,614
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny HEEEE
(appointed on 30 September 20200 (202049 A 30 BEZ(T) 90 = = = 90
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic ERAAE
(appointed on 30 September 2020) (R 202049 A30 HEZR() 90 - - - 90
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen RRREE
(resigned on 30 Septerber 2020) (R 2020F9 A30BEE) 110 - - - 110
Mr. Lee Kin Keung TRkt 220 - 103 - 323
Mr. Leung Ka Kui Johnny Z2RMEE
(resigned on 30 Septernber 2020) (74202099 A30 BEHE) 110 = = = 110

620 = 103 = 723
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37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

37. #HHH a8 K hE i (4])

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

(@) FEHME (4)

BEERTRAER M2 5 H 10

out below: T

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set

For the year ended 31 March 2020: BIE2020F3A31HLLFE :

RERES(TwARAHENEB
RAEH) ZBRBEENTESTHE

Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors in
respect of their services as directors, whether of the company or

its subsidiary undertaking Ey g
Employers
Equity contribution
settled toa
share- retirement
based benefit
Name of director Fees Salary payments scheme Total
R E AR 1D ﬁi”ﬁk%
EENA ik ¢ BREARMFEZ BAEFENMR it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FAT TAL FAT FAT AL
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Archambaud-Chao Archambaud-Chao Percy
Percy Henry Junior Henry Junior £ 4
(resigned on 18 October 2019) (R2019F10A 18 BEHE) - 679 - 11 690
Mr. Leung Alex 2RERHE - 120 45 - 572
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming REFGEE - 1432 3834 18 5284
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Chairman) BTREE(TE)
(appointed on 27 September 2019) (R 20199 A 27 BEZR(E) - 184 - 9 193
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Yuen Ching Bor Stephen REREE
(resigned on 18 October 2019) (R2019F 10 18BEHT) 27 - - - 27
227 2415 4,286 38 6,966
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
directors
Mr. Lai Yat Yuen WEREE 220 - 383 - 603
Mr. Lee Kin Keung Flggks 20 - 383 - 603
Mr.Leung Ka Kui Johnny DREELE
(appointed on 23 January 2019) (20191 BB BEZT) 220 - - — 20
660 - 766 - 1426
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HE2021F3A31BILEFE

37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(@)

(b)

(©

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
non-executive director's emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as
directors of the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no directors agreed to waive their partial
emoluments voluntarily (2020: Nil).

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, there is no Chief Executive Officer
(the "CEO") of the Group employed. In the absence of the CEO, the duties of the CEO
have been to be collectively undertaken by all executive directors of the Company.

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits during the year (2020: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available directors’
services (2020: Nil).

37. #HHH a8 K hE i (4])

(@

(b)

(©

I ()
GEX

EXFrABTEEZ e T EMREEMAR
HEARBRAEEEHEE BRI
XA FRATESR S ERANWEE
RARRHEMBERREEMERZ RS -
EXFRBIERITER e T BRI R
SERARBERMEH R

REZE2021F3A3ALFE  BEZEER
EERERERS ZBHME (20206 : ) ©

HE2001FR2020F3A31AILFE  AE
BN AR A TR ([THRAR]) - =17
BAAHNHERAT  TRERNBEa AN
PRPITESHEFAE -

o 2 B AR A Ll A A

A E AR EE = YRS ER
EARR RS I ok B B4R A1 (2020 4
&) -

L 12 A3t 2 = RS T 1k SR =07
fefit 2 A

REE2021F3831BIEFE K
A BN A L SR A & R AR A T
A=A ZAARE (20204 : £) o
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37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other

(e)

dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there were no loans, quasi-
loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such
directors (2020: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in these consolidated financial statements, no
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Company’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2020: Nil).

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issued by the board of directors on 30 June 2021.

ok o B 5 R M

HE2021F3A31HILFE

37. #HHH a8 K hE i (4])

(d) FBD#ES - #FhZZrh sk

(e)

K~ MR AL 2R 5 2 B

REZE2021F3 A3 HLEFE  #
BEVAEERES 2 XIEGEE
LEEERBAXBAZENR £E
RREMIZ 5% (20206 « &) o

HHRERRZS  BPEGHTZ
LGN £

BRZESAVBREABEREIN
RAFEEREANFEREAIER -
RABWEET TS RARTZ
EBMALRZESEERHER
HPBAEABRZZEERS &
BERAH(20204F « ££) ©

38. bk B R

=l
ma

B BmRN2021F6 A30HEESE

SHUE R T -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021  #(ZE2021F3A31HIEFE

RESULTS e 31

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A31MALEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
2021 F 2020 20194 20184F 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T AT FET FHET FHETT
Revenue A 43,324 111,978 171,266 187,357 212,232
Loss before income tax BTSRRI EIE (52,077) (280,402) (43,220) (128,555) (24,282)
Income tax (expense)/credit TR (B ), R 292 (1,420) 404 (1,232) 396
Loss attributable to equity KR PR AL
holders of the Company FEBE
for the year (51,785) (281,822) (42,316) (129,787) (23,386)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES & Mk AafE
At 31 March
M3H31H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
2021 F 2020 20194 2018 2017 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET FHEIT
Total assets 4B 91,765 158,657 277,860 254,068 313,238
Total liabilities BEE 45,820 73,525 79,882 17,560 23,153
Equity attributable to equity ~ ZxA B A& E
holders of the Company FEL 45,945 85,132 197,978 236,508 290,085
Note: ffeE -

The financial figures were extracted from the consolidated financial statements in the annual report. B ES T IEE ER Y S MBEEHRE -
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